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CORPORATE PROFILE

LEaDiNG totaL soLutioN proviDEr of aDvaNcED mEtEriNG, 
aDvaNcED DistriButioN aND ENErGy EfficiENcy maNaGEmENt

Wasion group holdings limited (“Wasion group” or the “group”) is the leading total solution provider of advanced 
metering, advanced distribution and energy efficiency management in china, and is committed to becoming an “energy 
Metering and energy saving expert” in china and across the world. the group was listed on the Main Board of the 
stock exchange of hong kong limited (the “stock exchange”) in december 2005, which was the first professional 
syndicate engaged in energy metering and energy efficiency management in china listed overseas, as well as the first 
company in hunan Province listed on the Main Board overseas.

Wasion group has long been focusing on the research and development, production and sales of total solutions 
relating to energy metering and energy efficiency management, the products and services of which have been 
extensively applied in energy supply industries for electricity, water, gas and heat, and large energy-consuming units 
of large-scale public infrastructure, petroleum and chemical, transportation, machine manufacturing, metallurgical and 
chemical fields and residents.

the advanced smart metering business of the group mainly comprises of comprehensive smart meters, smart water 
meters, smart gas meters and ultrasonic calorimeters; various meters and power quality monitoring devices; 
comprehensive energy data collection terminals, load management terminals and user management devices; 
measurement automation systems and various application systems, services and energy data mining. the group, 
with more than 20% of the domestic market share of high-end metering products, has built up its leading position in 
china and is the only professional manufacturer in china which provides various advanced energy metering products, 
systems and services for electricity, water, gas and heat, as well as satisfies the demand of the whole process from 
energy production, transmission and distribution to consumers.

the advanced distribution and energy efficiency management business of the group comprises mainly of 
40.5kv/12kv comprehensive high voltage switchgear; 12kv smart switchgear; 35kv/10kv comprehensive circuit 
breakers; 10kv power distribution automation terminals; electrical and electronic devices for power quality control 
and smooth connection with new energy; smart distribution systems, engineering and services; energy-saving 
services, etc. the group is devoted to becoming the leading total solution provider for advanced distribution system 
in china.

amidst the substantial changes in energy production and energy consumption mode in china and the world, the 
material social responsibility and development opportunities arisen from energy saving and carbon reduction as well 
as the new demand of smart power grids, Wasion group will adhere to its corporate motto “energy Metering and 
energy saving expert” while upholding its core value “Perfect Work with Passion, and success achieved with 
integrity” by continuous innovation and improvement in order to become the pioneer in smart power grids and smart 
metering in china, one of the major international smart power grids and smart metering provider and a well-known 
international brand.

in the future, every city, every enterprise and every family will be benefited from the use of the technology, products 
and services of Wasion.
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QUALIFICATIONS
& AWARDS

JuNE 2016
With the “intelligent Plant Pilot demonstration of smart 
Power Management terminal” project, Wasion group 
became one of the 63 domestic enterprises in the 
intelligent manufacturing pilot demonstration project.

as one of the twelve demonstration enterprises of 
independent innovation in the region of changsha, 
Zhuzhou and Xiangtan, Wasion group was invited to 
participate in the scientific and technological innovation 
exhibition of the “12th five years Plans” jointly organized 
by Ministry of science and technology, national 
development and reform commission, Ministry of 
finance and the Ministry of equipment development of 
Military commission.

JuLy 2016
with the successful application for the “Wasion group’s 
experiences in the implementation of iPd + PlM Quality 
Management”, Wasion group was entitled the national 
“Quality Benchmarking enterprise” of 2016.

JaNuary 2016
the “key technology and complete sets of equipments 
for fault self-healing control of Power distribution 
system” project of Wasion group was rewarded with the 
first Prize of science and technology Progress award of 
hunan Province.

Wasion group became the designated supplier of 
changsha Water industry investment Management co., 
ltd. from 2015 to 2017 for smart remote water meter.

march 2016
the Ma2 high accuracy measurement gateway meter at 
0.2s level of Wasion group had defeated many 
international manufacturers and won the biddings of 
state grid companies in liaoning, Xinjiang and hunan as 
well as china southern Power grid corporations in 
guangdong and hainan.

may 20016
the application for the “new intelligent Manufacturing 
Model of energy Metering and control Products for 
Power equipments” project leading by Wasion group 
was approved and won the new model application 
project in the major projects of intelligent manufacturing.

January

June

June July
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octoBEr 2016
the academician expert workstation of Wasion group 
stood out from 3,247 provincial academician expert 
workstations all over the country and became one of the 
100 “national demonstration academician expert 
Workstations of 2016”.

NovEmBEr 2016
the science and technology project of “research and 
application of key technologies for centralized Power 
Meter reading Based on high-speed and stable 
communication links” jointly researched, developed and 
implemented by Wasion group and guizhou electric 
Power research institute for guizhou Power grid 
corporation was accepted by the experts from guizhou 
Power grid corporation, which was the largest domestic 
pilot project of bidirectional communication through 
power line carrier based on g3-Plc technical 
specification.

DEcEmBEr 2016 
vice Premier of the state council Ma kai visited Wasion 
group and encouraged us to persist in the innovation to 
drive the core competitiveness of enterprise. 

the 10.4MW distributed photovoltaic power plant 
project in Jiuhua, Xiangtan successfully joined the 
national power grid and obtained highly recognition from 
the owner and Xiangtan electric Power Bureau.

Wasion group was entitled the “Best employers of 
china” for the 8th successive year.

octoBer

deceMBer 

deceMBer deceMBer 



Ji Wei
Chairman

Wasion Group Holdings Limited12



 Annual Report 2016 13

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

during the year under review, the group recorded turnover of rMB2,607.5 million and the net profit amounted to 
rMB307.27 million, representing a decrease of 27% over 2015, mainly due to the decrease of sales revenue and the 
increase of financing cost. Basic earnings per share were rMB30 cents. the board of directors has proposed to pay 
a final dividend of hk$0.24 per share to show the confidence of the board of directors in the long-term development 
of the group and reward the shareholders for their continuous supports. during the year under review, the three 
major businesses of the group, including advanced Metering infrastructure (aMi), advanced distribution operations 
(ado) and smart Meter (sM), had achieved healthy development and continued to maintain our advantages in the 
market competition. on the other hand, the comprehensive gross margin had slightly increased by 1% due to the 
rigorous selection of purchase orders with reasonable returns and the strengthened cost control.

in view of various serious challenges in the macro environment throughout 2016, the group had persisted in the 
operating guideline of “seeking Progress in stability” to seize the future market opportunities, continued to respond 
positively and prudently to the risks and opportunities in all respects, and gradually developed the group’s businesses 
at a solid pace. Meanwhile, the group had actively optimized the customer structure and substantially increased the 
portion of overseas and non-grid customers during the year under review, which had become one of the important 
cornerstones for the healthy development of the group in the future.

to aLL sharEhoLDErs,

On behalf of the board of directors of Wasion 
Group Holdings Limited (the “Group”), I am 
pleased to present the operating results of the 
Group for the financial year ended 31 
December 2016.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CoNTINuEd)

in respect of sM business, the group won three contracts in the biddings of state grid at total amount of rMB600 
million, and two contracts in the centralized biddings of china southern Power grid at total amount of rMB330 
million, both of which had been ranked in the forefront with outstanding performances.

aMi business had been steadily developed as well. focusing on a new generation of power technology and a new 
generation of communication technology, the group had committed itself to the r&d of the next generation of smart 
meters for the whole aMi market to continuously lead the development of the industry. Meanwhile, the group had 
actively expanded the relevant business in the market opportunities of big data monitoring and analysis upon the 
micro-grid and electric power, making full use of our technologies in measurement, monitoring and supervising. in 
respect of fluid metering solutions, with the project experiences in changsha and Panjin, etc., the group had seized 
the opportunities in the national escalating pricing system and the “Water and gas supply & sewage and Waste 
treatment” policies, continued to improve the operating of being on a shortlist in the key markets, and increased the 
market share steadily.

in respect of overseas markets, the group had maintained the leading position in the markets of tanzania, 
Bangladesh and egypt, etc. with outstanding performances in self-support market under its competitiveness and 
brand. the access to emerging markets of Mexico, south africa and Brazil etc. had been obtained as well, through 
the cooperation with siemens. since europe had promoted smart grid transformation in the past two years with a 
huge market space, the group had actively seized the opportunity to enter the european and american markets and 
successfully signed a contract in austria in early March, 2017. austria has been a pioneer in the construction of a 
smart grid in europe, and the group believes that the entry into austria is an important step for the group to enter the 
european market. While continuously deepening the cooperation with siemens, the group had started the technical 
cooperation with some international giants, including itron, lsis, huawei and cisco etc. to actively promote the 
technical standards of china to go to international markets and further enhance the technical capacity of the group in 
systems and solutions, in order to lay the foundation for the future development in new markets.

ado business had been actively developed in the year of 2016 with satisfied growth rate. focusing on the industries 
of rail transit and data center, etc., the group had taken the initiatives to improve the cooperation with non-grid 
customers in the year, from which the revenue had been significantly increased. in respect of system integration, the 
solution containing cloud platform had been devised in the year to offer online and offline quality services for industrial 
and commercial customers and ensure the safety use and effective conservation of energy.

during the year under review, the group had combined the data collection terminal business and water, gas and heat 
metering business of existing aMi unit into the segment of “communication and fluid advanced Metering 
infrastructure”, whose spin-off for separate listing in a chinese stock exchange had been considered by the group, 
as disclosed in the announcement in september 2016. the remaining smart power metering business will be 
combined with sM unit to the segment of “Power advanced Metering infrastructure”, while ado unit will remain 
unchanged. the group believes that this will help to concentrate the resources to seize market development 
opportunities more accurately.

looking forward, the group really appreciates the trust and support from our customers and shareholders in the past 
year, with whom the group has been developing steadily and healthily. although the global economy is facing the 
increasing difficulties, and the economic growth of china is still exposed to many uncertainties, the energy market of 
china, supported and promoted by the country, will meet a great reform. We will seize the opportunity to transform 
ourselves from an equipment supplier to a comprehensive service provider of energy internet.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CoNTINuEd)

We will persist in technological innovation and continue to lead the upgrades of technologies and products in the 
industry. since aMi is the basis for the development of national smart grid, focusing on the overall market trends of 
aMi and being the major participant in the standards formulation of new generation of smart meters in state grid, the 
group has been committed to the r&d of new generation of smart meters and high-end gateway meters and 
prepared adequate technologies and products for the continuous leadership in the upgrades of aMi technologies and 
products.

in the field of communication solution, the group has acquired Zhuhai Zhonghui Microelectronics co., ltd. 
successfully, which has further improved the industrial chain of the group and enhanced the communication 
technological level in the strategic emerging industries, such as internet of things and energy internet, etc. to meet 
various market demands under the global regional differences and environmental differences and continuously 
improve the comprehensive technical strength and market competitiveness.

Meanwhile, the group will continue to increase its investment in water metering business. With the technical 
advantages of smart metering and the successful model of being on a shortlist of numerous water companies, the 
businesses of the group, including smart water system, automatic water control and distinguishing water supply, etc. 
will achieve rapid breakthrough and sustainable development. the group also believes that the gas supply and 
heating supply market of china will grow rapidly in the future with the supports from the escalating pricing policy and 
heating metering reform, which will benefit the long-term development of the group’s relating businesses.

in respect of ado business, the group has been actively participating in the pilot project of electricity market reform, 
represented by the incremental distribution pilot park, to explore new businesses including electricity sales, operation 
and maintenance services and comprehensive energy services. at the same time, the group will seize the investment 
opportunities in the constructions of the distribution grid, rail transit and distributed energy as well as the industrial 
energy conservation and emission reduction, improve the marketing by taking the advantages of existing customer 
resources in the power grid, promote the ado system solutions and engineering services, and be determined to 
become a leading integrated provider of ado.

in respect of overseas business, we will actively respond to the national strategy of “one Belt one road” and 
establish the strategic cooperation with the central enterprises to full play the general contracting capacity of the 
group in the metering construction and seize the large-scale transformation opportunities in power distribution, 
distribution network and water and gas supply in the countries along “one Belt one road”. on the one hand, the 
group will develop its own brand and marketing channel to further expand the businesses in traditional markets, 
transform from the power metering business to the coordinated development of water, electricity and gas business 
and system services business, and strengthen the promotion of products and technologies in africa, southeast asia, 
south asia and eurasian union (formerly known as cis countries), etc.; on the other hand, relying on the strategic 
cooperation with the international industry leaders, the group will improve the product technology, quality and brand 
capacity, and actively participate in the smart grid, water and gas engineering construction in eu, central and south 
america, etc..

the group’s innovative business will focus on the research and application of energy storage technology and inverter 
technology. in respect of energy storage technology, we will continue to deepen the r&d of liquid metal batteries and 
implement the research of power battery cascade utilization and Battery Management system (BMs). in respect of 
inverter technology, we will focus on the r&d of intelligent inverter based on micro-grid and virtual synchronous 
machine technology to provide the group with key technologies in micro-grid business and ensure the core 
competitiveness of the group in the new business areas.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CoNTINuEd)

summing up the year of 2016, in spite of various difficulties and challenges, we had operated the group carefully, 
faced the problems directly, overcame all the difficulties and marched forward persistently. looking forward, facing 
the infinite field of energy measurement and energy efficiency management, we will not forget our initial determination, 
and will uphold the mottos of operation which is “Perfect Work with Passion, and success achieved with integrity” to 
highly respond to market changes and customer requirements. We will also persist in the operation and management 
direction of “March forward through continuous innovation” to promote “technology and product innovation, market 
and sales innovation, operation and service innovation, management and mechanism innovation”, and realize our 
ambitious vision of “continual innovation contributing to Wasion’s centennial history”!

yours faithfully,
Ji Wei
Chairman

hong kong, 21 March 2017
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ManageMent Discussion anD analysis

fiNaNciaL rEviEW

financial highlights

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

revenue 2,607,504 2,969,033
gross profit 816,760 896,199
Profit attributable to owners of the company 307,265 423,533
total assets 7,493,091 7,223,094
equity attributable to owners of the company 4,148,619 4,101,160
Basic earnings per share (rMB) 0.30 0.42
diluted earnings per share (rMB) 0.30 0.42

Key financial figures

2016 2015

gross profit margin 31% 30%
operating profit margin 15% 17%
net profit margin 12% 14%
return on equity of the shareholders 7% 10%
current ratio 1.81 1.91
Quick ratio 1.68 1.78
inventory turnover period (days) 69 59
trade receivable turnover period (days) 374 284
trade payable turnover period (days) 396 279
gearing ratio (total borrowings divided by total assets) 15% 12%
interest coverage (Profit from operations divided by finance costs) 7.65 19.50

20%

19%
61%

14%

21%
65%

Revenue Breakdown by Business Segments

Power Advanced Metering Infrastructure
New Segment

Communication and 
Fluid Advanced Metering Infrastructure

Advanced Distribution Operations

2015 2016
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ManageMent Discussion anD analysis (continueD)

fivE yEars’ fiNaNciaL summary

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
rmB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000

revenue 2,607,504 2,969,033 2,811,871 2,412,343 2,452,297
Profit for the year attributable to owners of  

the company 307,265 423,533 482,439 401,125 323,149
total assets 7,493,091 7,223,094 5,618,550 4,741,215 4,265,893
total liabilities 3,315,377 3,083,522 2,312,309 1,868,015 1,669,216
equity attributable to owners of the company 4,148,619 4,101,160 3,245,509 2,872,800 2,596,277

20%

56% 24%

14%

57% 29%

Smart Meter
Old Segment

Advanced Metering Infrastructure

Advanced Distribution Operations

2015 2016
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ManageMent Discussion anD analysis (continueD)

fiNaNciaL rEviEW

turnover

during the year under review, turnover decreased by 12% to rMB2,607.5 million (2015: rMB2,969.03 million).

Gross profit margin

the group’s overall gross profit margin for the year ended 31 december 2016 is 31%, representing an increase of 1% 
as compared with 30% in 2015.

other income

the other income of the group amounted to rMB111.13 million (2015: rMB145.19 million) which was mainly 
comprised of interest income, dividend income, government grants and refund of value-added tax.

operating Expenses

in 2016, the group’s operating expenses amounted to rMB543.15 million (2015: rMB524.88 million) and accounted 
for 21% of the group’s turnover in 2016, representing an increase of 3% as compared with 18% in 2015.

finance costs

for the year ended 31 december 2016, the group’s finance costs amounted to rMB52.56 million (2015: rMB25.39 
million). the increase was attributable to the increase of rMB bank borrowings with higher lending interest rate during 
the year.

operating profit

earnings before finance costs and tax for the year ended 31 december 2016 amounted to rMB401.95 million (2015: 
rMB495.06 million), representing a decrease of 19% as compared with last year.
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ManageMent Discussion anD analysis (continueD)

profit attributable to Equity shareholders of the company

the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the company for the year ended 31 december 2016 decreased by 
27% to rMB307.27 million (2015: rMB423.53 million) as compared with last year.

Liquidity and financial resources

the group’s primary sources of working capital and long-term funding needs have been cash flows from operation 
and financing activities.

as at 31 december 2016, the group’s current assets amounted to approximately rMB4,941.07 million (2015: 
rMB4,760.47 million), with cash and cash equivalents totaling approximately rMB940.02 million (2015: 
rMB1,171.84 million).

as at 31 december 2016, the group’s total bank loans amounted to approximately rMB1,095.27 million (2015: 
rMB877.09 million), of which rMB532.97 million (2015: rMB300.84 million) will be due to repay within one year and 
the remaining rMB562.3 million (2015: rMB576.25 million) will be due after one year. in 2016, the interest rate for 
the group’s bank borrowings ranged from 2.02% to 4.35% per annum (2015: 1.44% to 4.35% per annum).

the gearing ratio (total borrowings divided by total assets) increased from 12% in 2015 to 15% in 2016.

Emolument policy

as at 31 december 2016, the group had 3,787 (2015: 4,189) staff members. the staff costs (including other benefits 
and contributions to defined contribution retirement plan) amounted to rMB272.66 million (2015: rMB279.24 million) 
in 2016. employee remuneration is determined on performance, experience and prevailing market conditions of the 
employees, with compensation policies being reviewed on a regular basis. the aggregate amount of the emoluments 
of the company’s directors was rMB4.45 million (2015: rMB4.07 million) in 2016.

the group’s employees in the Prc have enrolled in the mandatory central pension scheme operated by the state. 
the group also provides housing allowances and benefits for medicine, employment injury and retirement for its staff 
in the Prc in accordance with the relevant Prc rules and regulations. the directors of the company (the “directors”) 
confirm that the group has fulfilled its obligations under the relevant Prc employment laws. the group also set up 
the Mandatory Provident fund scheme for the employees in hong kong.

share option scheme

the company has adopted a new share option scheme on 16 May 2016 to recognise and acknowledge the 
contributions made or will be made to the group by the eligible participants. the purpose of the scheme is to 
encourage the eligible participants to continue their contribution. the eligible participants include any full-time or part-
time employees, executives, officers, directors (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive 
directors), advisers, consultants, suppliers and agents of the company or any of its subsidiaries or invested entities, 
and any person who, in the opinion of the board of directors of the company, will contribute to the group or have 
done so. 

share award scheme

the company has adopted a share award scheme on 3 May 2016 in which the eligible employees will be entitled to 
participate. the purposes of the share award plan are to recognise the contributions by certain employees and to 
provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the group and 
also to attract suitable personnel for further development of the group.
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ManageMent Discussion anD analysis (continueD)

Exchange rate risk

Most of the businesses of the group are settled in renminbi while businesses in foreign currencies are mainly settled 
in usd. the fluctuation of exchange rate of both currencies will have certain impact on the group’s business which 
are settled in foreign currencies. during the year, the group did not enter into any foreign exchange forward contracts 
or other hedging instruments to hedge against fluctuations.

charge on assets

as at 31 december 2016, the pledge deposits are denominated in renminbi and hong kong dollars and are pledged 
to banks as security for bills facilities granted to the group. in addition, the group’s land and buildings are pledged to 
banks as security for bank loans to the group.

capital commitments

as at 31 december 2016, the capital commitments in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and 
additions of construction in progress contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial information 
amounted to rMB22.78 million (2015: rMB70.63 million).

contingent Liabilities

as at 31 december 2016, the group had no material contingent liabilities.

marKEt rEviEW

the global economic development in 2016 (“year under review”) faced strong resistance. international issues such as 
the us presidential election, Brexit and devaluation of the renminbi were dragging down the trading, foreign 
exchange and financial markets. as the world’s second largest economy and the main driver of global economic 
growth, china recorded a 6.7% growth in gdP during the year under review, representing a continuing economic 
slowdown.

despite the economic fluctuation, chinese government has showed its determination in promoting energy reform, 
actively upgrading energy construction, and constructing a safe and efficient energy system. according to the 
statistics published by national energy administration (nea), in 2016, china’s major power enterprises have 
collectively invested rMB885.5 billion in power-related engineering construction, which included rMB342.9 billion in 
power supply engineering and rMB542.6 billion in power grid construction. since the issuance of “opinions on 
deepening the reform of electricity system” (《關於進一步深化電力體制改革的若干意見》) by the state council 
two years ago, 23 provinces have started their power system reform pilot programme, 33 power trading institutions 
were established, 31 provincial power grids have implemented full grid transmission and distribution price reform and 
6,400 electricity sales companies were established. the two major power grid companies have also been actively 
pushing forward the power reform progress. during the year under review, the state grid corporation of china 
(hereinafter referred to as “state grid”) completed a total investment of rMB497.7 billion, including rMB171.8 billion 
investment in upgrading rural grid and over rMB64 billion investment in new energy grid connection and transmission 
engineering. china southern Power grid co., ltd. (hereinafter referred to as “southern grid”) also completed a fixed 
assets investment of rMB102.2 billion. there is no doubt that, with the concerted efforts of the government, grid 
companies and the private sector, the preparatory work for the new power reform has been carried out and is 
gradually rewriting the traditional power market order.
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ManageMent Discussion anD analysis (continueD)

as another important infrastructure for national economic and social development, water reform was upgraded as a 
national strategy during the “12th five-year Plan” period. during which, the total investment in national water 
conservancy construction reached rMB2 trillion with an average annual investment of rMB400 billion. over the past 
year, many provinces and cities followed the pace of the central government to tighten their water resources 
management regulation and speed up water conservancy construction. however, other water related problems such 
as water shortage, water ecological damage, water pollution have become increasingly prominent. the national 
development and reform commission, in conjunction with the Ministry of Water resources and the Ministry of 
housing, urban and rural construction, therefore issued the “13th five-year Plan” for Water conservancy reform 
and development (《水利改革發展「十三五」規劃》) in december 2016, proposing the construction of a water-
saving society, acceleration of water conservancy infrastructure network improvement, and further consolidation of 
rural water conservancy foundation.

in the face of the challenges posed by the economic downturn and the opportunities brought by energy reform during 
the year under review, the group insisted on maintaining a steady business development and adjusted its business 
development strategy targeting future energy market. in 2016, the group recorded a turnover of rMB2,607.5 million 
(2015: rMB2,969.03 million), representing a decrease of 12% as compared to 2015; and a net profit of rMB307.27 
million (2015: rMB423.53 million), representing a decrease of 27% as compared to 2015. the slid in net profit was 
due to the unexpected shrinking of the tender size and the slowdown of delivery schedule by the group’s key client 
state grid, the significant increase in amortisation of intangible assets and finance costs, as well as the decrease in 
government subsidies.

in order to seize more opportunities in the capital market for the group’s long-term sustainable development, the 
group was exploring the possibility of spin-off and separately listing of part of the group’s businesses on a stock 
exchange in the People’s republic of china (“Prc”) during the year under review, pursuant to an official 
announcement made in september 2016.

BusiNEss rEviEW

during the year under review, management of the group has adjusted its reporting segments in accordance with the 
future development strategy of the group. as the power grid customers also require the group to have tailor-made 
adjustments on products procured in centralized bidding and in anticipation of the new generation of smart power 
meter to be introduced to the market in the near future, management of the group has reclassified the non-
standardised power metering business from advanced Metering infrastructure (“aMi”) segment and consolidated with 
the smart Meter (“sM”) segment to become a new segment namely Power advanced Metering infrastructure (“Power 
aMi”). the remaining business segment under aMi, including the data collection terminal and water, gas and heat 
metering business, will be renamed into communication and fluid advanced Metering infrastructure (“communication 
and fluid aMi”), which is also the business segment the group is considering to spin-off for separate listing on a 
stock exchange in the Prc. there will be no change in the definition of advanced distribution operations (ado) 
segment.

therefore the group’s revised reportable and operating segments are as follows:

(a) Power advanced metering infrastructure segment, which engages in the development, manufacturing and sale 
of smart power meters as well as the provision of respective system solution;
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(b) communication and fluid advanced metering infrastructure segment, which engages in the development, 
manufacturing and sale of communication terminals and water, gas and heat metering products as well as the 
provision of respective system solution;

(c) advanced distribution operations segment, which engages in the manufacturing and sale of smart power 
distribution devices as well as providing smart power distribution solution and energy efficiency solution 
services.

power ami Business

the group’s power aMi business serves grid companies, non-grid companies and overseas markets. during the year 
under review, state grid organized three centralized smart meter tenders and the group successfully won 
rMB481.28 million worth of contracts. the group also outperformed in the first tender organized by southern grid 
by winning a framework contract of rMB110 million. the results of southern grid’s second tender in 2016 were 
announced in March 2017. the group won a contract of rMB215 million.

during the year under review, supported by the “one Belt one road” strategy launched by the government, the 
group’s power aMi business continued to excel in the international market and achieved a turnover of rMB397.6 
million, a significant increase of 31% over last year. in addition to leveraging the brand advantage for achieving 
continuous business growth in egypt, tanzania, republic of Bangladesh, indonesia and south african market, the 
group also aggressively explored expansion opportunities and made remarkable progress in entering into austria, the 
european smart grid construction pioneer. at the same time, the enhanced strategic cooperation with siemens and 
with other international companies furthered strengthened the group’s overall competencies in terms of technology, 
marketing and branding.

during the year under review, the group’s power aMi business recorded a turnover of rMB1,590.68 million (2015: 
rMB1,919.46 million), representing a decrease of 17% and accounting for 61% (2015: 65%) of the group’s total 
turnover. the decrease in revenue is mainly due to the delay of tenders and reduction of tender volume by power grid 
companies during the year.

excluding the revenue of the non-standardised smart power metering business from the group’s power aMi 
business, the revenue from the previous sM segment amounted to rMB632.63 million (2015: rMB853.52 million), 
representing a decrease of 26% as compared with last year and accounting for 24% (2015: 29%) of the group’s total 
turnover.

communication and fluid ami Business

during the year under review, benefited from china’s active promotion of water escalating pricing and one-household-
one-meter as well as the accelerating promotion of introducing running water into rural households by difference 
provinces and cities, the group’s water metering business maintained steady development. currently, the group has 
entered into the smart water metering solutions tenders for more than 80 city level water companies in core cities in 
hunan, anhui, hubei and other provinces. some water companies had launched their batch tenders during the year 
under review, bringing positive contribution for the group’s water business.
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in terms of communication terminals, the group has won contracts of rMB116 million from state grid during the 
year under review. a significant growth in contracts from non-grid clients was also recorded.

during the year under review, the group has leveraged on its brand and network in the international power aMi 
market, and successfully introduced its communication and fluid aMi services to overseas with a recorded 
satisfactory turnover. the overall turnover of communication and fluid aMi business was rMB501.87 million (2015: 
rMB622.96 million), representing a decrease of 19% and accounting for 19% (2015: 21%) of the group’s total 
turnover.

including the revenue of the non-standardised smart power metering business in the group’s communication and 
fluid aMi business, the revenue from the previous aMi segment amounted to rMB1,459.92 million (2015: 
rMB1,688.9 million), representing a decrease of 14% as compared with last year and accounting for 56% (2015: 
57%) of the group’s total turnover.

advanced Distribution operations (aDo)

after pursuing market expansion and product development during the past years, the group’s ado business 
achieved satisfactory results in 2016 despite the fact that the macroeconomic situation has still not improved. the 
group recorded a turnover of rMB514.95 million (2015: rMB426.61 million), representing an increase of 21% over 
2015, accounting for 20% (2015: 14%) of the total turnover. during the year under review, the group not only has 
successfully become the product and services provider of the power distribution network construction for more than 
20 provinces including major cities such as Beijing and shanghai, but also being invited to participate in the 
establishment of standards for the new generation power distribution system of state grid. Meanwhile, the group 
actively worked on a number of potential key industries, including railway and transportation, new energy as well as 
data centers, and successfully established long-term cooperative relationship with a number of large industrial and 
commercial clients. the group also successfully managed to provide power distribution ePc services with advanced 
distribution products and solutions as core, which laid an important foundation for future business development. 
Moreover, the group’s in-depth development in railway and transportation made it a vice director unit of the newly 
established railway transportation manufacturing innovation center in hunan. the group also initiated a cooperation 
with changsha Metro group co., ltd. to jointly work on energy management and energy saving project in metro 
stations.

in terms of new products, the group launched several well-recognized new technology systems, including new type 
power distribution fault detection system, fault isolation system, primary and secondary power equipment integration, 
smart power distribution and operation management for users, and energy efficiency management platform. during 
the year under review, the group successfully obtained a ePc qualification for power engineering, as well as grade B 
professional qualification in power industry (new energy generation), which together equipped the group with 
designing and contracting qualifications in both power distribution and new energy generation. it laid a solid 
foundation for the group to further explore ado business.

research and Development

the group has been working strenuously in the research and development of the know-how of each aMi and ado 
product in order to grasp market demand and technology development in the industry. during the year under review, 
the group received 194 patents for its new products and energy saving services and 89 patents for its software. the 
number of effective patents for new products and energy saving services increased to 894 and 587 respectively.
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for the power metering business, the group continued to upgrade its products by developing higher efficient 
components, such as anti-tampering system and external circuit breaker, to order to meet the demand for product 
personalization from grid companies, non-grid companies as well as to overseas clients.

Based on the new standards on energy consumption monitoring and centralized data collection technology 
established by the chinese government and power grid companies, the group launched a number of market-leading 
systems with advanced communication technologies, and gained high market recognition. targeting the promising 
development of water metering market, the group has engaged in a series of research and development of products 
and systems serving rural areas and water companies. adhering to the group’s strategy in accelerating overseas 
development, the group has enhanced its research and development efforts in accordance with the regulations and 
technical requirements of different regions, including the european market where smart grid transformation is 
expected.

in terms of ado, the group attained satisfactory results in the research and development of primary and secondary 
power equipment integration, integration technology of hardware and software as well as energy data and service 
technology. in the newly launched smart distribution power management and operation systems, and energy 
efficiency management platform, the group integrated the mobile internet, including advanced internet 
communication technology, big data and cloud computing technology, with power distribution primary and secondary 
equipment. this multi-dimensional access to the cloud, terminal and client strengthened the relations among the 
management system, devices and users, as well as improved the overall security of the systems.

catching up with china’s progressive promotion of clean energy power generation and energy storage industry, the 
group has launched two research and development projects regarding brushless doubly-fed motor and liquid metal 
battery since last year. during the year under review, these two projects were in good condition and were well 
prepared for marketization.

“Made in china 2025” (“中國製造2025”) is an initiative by the government to comprehensively revamp the 
manufacturing industry. Based on the existing foundation of informatization and automation, the group has also 
developed a smart manufacturing construction plan. having recognized by Miit of 2016 intelligent Manufacturing 
comprehensive standardization and new Model application Project on 3 June 2016, the group also received an 
approval of intelligent Manufacturing experimental and demonstration Project on 17 June. With the great support of 
government policy, the group will accelerate the smart manufacturing construction to further strengthen its core 
competitiveness, and become a role model for the industry. Wasion electric company limited, the group’s ado 
platform, was recognized as one of the 15 smart manufacturing demonstrating companies in hunan in 2016.

in July 2016, the group won the 2016 national Quality Benchmarking enterprise rewards in the national Quality 
Benchmarking assessment organized by Miit. upholding high quality products and systems as the value of the 
group, stringent quality control was imposed to ensure the provision of the most innovative and suitable products 
and services to users. Winning yet another national honor serves as the high recognition for the group’s core values 
and efforts.
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prospEcts

continuing the political and economic destabilizing factors of 2016, the global economy would continue to stumble 
ahead, with increasing downward pressure on china’s economy. despite the not so ideal macroeconomic 
environment, china still has a strong determination to subvert the traditional energy market and thereby build an 
efficient and safe energy system through a series of energy reform measures. government departments, grid 
companies, energy companies, and the group’s equipment suppliers, will inevitably need to re-examine the 
development approach to meet the future trend of the energy market. since the beginning of 2015, the group has 
gradually adjusted its development strategy to develop the aMi and ado business at a sound pace. the group is 
convinced that energy reform is not only the way out for china’s energy market and is also an opportunity for the 
group’s long-term development. the group will continue adhering to the “steady progress” principle, followed by the 
pace of development of the energy market.

in terms of aMi business, according to “implementing opinions about accelerating energy development and 
construction in Poor regions from Poverty” (《關於加快貧困地區能源開發建設推進脫貧攻堅的實施意見》) 
announced by nea, china will gear up the upgrading of rural power grid in the western region and poverty area, 
enhancing the level acceptance of distributed energy and promoting water-saving irrigation in order to achieve the 
target of having full power coverage in rural area by 2020. therefore, the group will cater for the demand from users 
in the rural power grid area in order to promote quality products and services for capturing the huge market demand 
in smart meter products and systems. on the other hand, the group will continue focusing on the growing demand 
on power big data monitoring and analysis and actively expand the clientele to public infrastructures such as school 
and hospitals, as well as new property development projects. Meanwhile, the group will keep a close eye on the 
development of water metering in china, utilizing the advantages as a smart metering market leader and a finalist on 
the tender list of numerous water companies, to accelerate water metering business development. in order to 
effectively grasp the market demand, the group leverages on its own advantage as a local enterprise to penetrate 
into changsha, hunan and successfully extended the successful experience to other key cities. on the other hand, 
the group believes the gas and heat market will undergo a rapid growth in future under the support of gas escalating 
pricing policy and heat metering reform respectively, which is favorable to the long-term development of the group’s 
corresponding businesses.

under the support of the favorable policies, the construction of distribution power grid has become one of the future 
development focuses in the china’s power industry. the group’s intensive development of ado business aims at 
seizing the market demand for power distribution upgrade by integration, intellectualization and systemization. in the 
future, the group will take advantage on the network being built and marketing efforts being done in the past in the 
ado industry to increase the contribution of ado business. strategically, the group will accelerate market expansion 
by maintaining the relationship with power grid clients, as well as further developing the power end-user market 
especially for railway and transportation, distributed energy, data centers, high-end commercials and large scale 
industrial enterprises. Meanwhile, the group will leverage the ePc qualification to develop ado business, from 
integrated equipment, systems and solutions to ePc and services, by providing diversified products and services for 
customer. Moreover, the group is going to seek for more opportunities from the power distribution incrementation 
reform, and push forward our solutions and services as well as integrated energy services in order to speed up the 
development pace of ado business.
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for international markets, the group will keep developing its own brand and channels in asia, africa, and latin 
america, by accelerating new markets expansion and increasing market penetration through current customer base. 
at the same time, the group will leverage on its strategic cooperation with international industry leaders such as 
siemens and huawei, to actively participate in the aMi transformation projects of different counties and to promote 
its comprehensive smart metering business development in developed areas.

adhere closely to its vision of “Pertaining a centennial Wasion by continual innovation”, the group has showed 
strong commitment in devoting resources in research and development to consolidate its development foundation as 
a technology company. the group will stay tuned to the latest national energy market development to continuously 
update the current products and system; as well as working side-by-side with industry experts and famous talents for 
new technologies.

looking ahead, the group will proactively respond to different economic uncertainties and actively explore market 
opportunities for energy reform, as well as uphold its mission as an expert of energy metering and energy efficiency 
management to steadily pursue for a healthy and sustainable development and establish its market leading position in 
the global market.

EvENts aftEr thE rEportiNG pErioD

from the end of the reporting period of 31 december 2016 to the result announcement date, the company has the 
following events:

(i) on 12 January 2017, hunan Wasion information technology company limited (“Wasion information 
technology”), a subsidiary of the company, has entered into two investment agreements with two connected 
persons, pursuant to which, the connected persons have agreed to contribute an aggregate of rMB 100.44 
million to subscribe for rMB40.02 million of the registered capital of Wasion information technology, 
representing an aggregate of 9% of the enlarged equity interest of Wasion information technology. on 13 
January 2017, Wasion information technology has entered into five additional investment agreements with five 
independent investors, pursuant to which, the independent investors have agreed to contribute an aggregate of 
rMB290.26 million to subscribe for rMB115.63 million of the registered capital of Wasion information 
technology, representing 26% of the enlarged equity interest of Wasion information technology. upon 
completion of the above capital increase, Wasion information technology will be held as to 65% by the group, 
and will remain as a subsidiary of the group.

(2) the company has passed an ordinary resolution in an extraordinary general meeting held on 20 March 2017 to 
acquire 50.053% of the share capital of Zhuhai Zhonghui Microelectronics co., ltd. (“Zhuhai Zhonghui”) at an 
aggregate consideration of rMB52,105,200. Zhuhai Zhonghui is a company established in the Prc which 
provides professional measurement chip, gPrs wireless module, Mcu, reset chip and other embedded 
software products mainly used in the electric energy metering and information automation area.
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summary

it is the 3rd corporate social responsibility report presented by Wasion group holdings limited (“Wasion group” or 
the “group”), who ensures the authenticity, objectivity and timeliness of the information in the report. Based on the 
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency, the report discloses the group’s willingness and 
performances (both environmental and social) of discharging the responsibilities in 2016 as well as the commitments 
in 2017, in order to show the group’s practices and efforts in promoting energy conservation and efficient 
consumption as well as discharging its social responsibilities, and demonstrate the group’s determination to promote 
sustainable development of economy and society and continuously meet the needs and expectations of various 
stakeholders.

(1) organizations in the report

unless otherwise stated, the report covers Wasion group and its subsidiaries, of which the businesses scope 
are described in “about Wasion”.

(2) period of the report

the period of the report is from 1 January 2016 to 31 december 2016.

(3) cycle of the report

the report is presented annually and generally issued before the end of March in the following year.

(4) clarification of the data in the report

if there is any discrepancy in the economic performance data of 2016 disclosed in the report, the financial 
reports shall prevail.

(5) standard of the report

the report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide, 
appendix 27 of the rules governing the listing of securities on the stock exchange of hong kong limited (the 
“listing rules”), issued by the stock exchange of hong kong limited, the g4 edition of Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI) Sustainable Development Reporting Guidelines, and the CASS-CSR3.0.

(6) statement of change

Besides the further disclosure of key performance index from the Environmental, Social and Governance 
Reporting Guide, appendix 27 of the listing rules, the scope and other category of the report have nothing 
significant change to the Corporate Social Responsibility Report 2015 of Wasion Group Holdings Limited.

for further information of Wasion group, please visit http://www.wasion.com
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to obtain the hard copy of corporate social responsibility report 2016 of Wasion group holdings limited, please 
contact us at:

address: 468# tongzi Po West road,  
national high-tech industrial development Zone of changsha,  
hunan Province, china.

Zip code: 410205
tel: 0731-8861 9888
fax: 0731-8861 9555

i. aBout WasioN

Wasion group is a leading chinese supplier of integrated solution of smart measurement, smart power 
distribution & utilization and energy efficiency management, with the mission of being an “energy Measurement 
& energy efficiency Management expert” of china and even the world. listed successfully on the main board of 
hong kong stock exchange in december 2005, the group is the first professional group of energy 
measurement and energy efficiency management in china listed outside mainland china, and the first company 
in hunan Province listed on main board outside mainland china.

Wasion group has been focusing on the r&d, production and sales of the integrated solution of energy 
measurement and energy efficiency management while the products and services have widely applied to the 
energy supply industries such as electric power, water service, natural gas and heating power, etc. as well as 
the large energy consumption units and resident users such as large public construction, petroleum & 
petrifaction, transportation, mechanical manufacturing, metallurgy and chemical industry, etc.

the advanced smart measurement businesses of the group mainly include: a full range of smart electric energy 
meters, smart water meters, smart gas meters and ultrasonic wave heat meters, various power distribution 
instruments and power quality monitoring equipments, a full range of energy data collection terminals, load 
management terminals and user management devices, as well as automatic measuring system, various 
application systems and services, and energy data mining. the high-end measuring products of the group lead 
its competitors with more than 20% share of domestic market. the group is a unique domestic professional 
manufacturer that not only can supply the various advanced energy measuring products, systems and services 
relating to the electricity, water, gas and heat, but also covers the whole-process demands of energy 
production, transmission and distribution.
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the smart power distribution & utilization and energy management businesses of the group mainly include: a 
full range of high voltage switchgears for 40.5kv/12kv, smart switchgear for 12kv, a full range of relay 
protection devices for 35kv/10kv, automatic network distribution terminal for 10kv, power electronics 
application device for power quality improvement and new energy friendly access, smart power distribution & 
utilization systems, engineering and services, and energy conservation services, etc. the group is committed to 
become the leading integrated solution provider of china for smart system of power distribution & utilization.

facing the significant changes on the energy production & consumption pattern taking place in china and the 
world, the huge social responsibilities and development opportunities of energy conservation and emission 
reduction, and the new demands of smart grid, Wasion group will always remember the mission of “energy 
Measurement & energy efficiency Management expert”, persist in the core value of “Perfect Work with Passion, 
and success achieved with integrity” , never stop the sustainable innovation, and devote ourselves to make 
Wasion the leading enterprise in the chinese smart grid and smart measuring fields, one of the major suppliers 
of the international smart grid and smart measuring fields, and global famous brand transcending national 
borders.

ii. WiLLiNGNEss of DischarGiNG thE rEspoNsiBiLitiEs

1. concept of social responsibility

MISSION

Energy Metering & 
Energy 

Saving Expert

VISION

Continual innovation
contributing to Wasion’s

Centennial History

MOTTO

Perfect Work with 
Passion & Success 

Achieved with Integrity

nowadays energy and environmental issue has become the major social responsibility subject that 
constrains human sustainable development. as the forerunner in the energy measurement and energy 
efficiency management field, Wasion group has been working hard in its skilled field. We do believe that 
using more accurate energy measuring technologies and more lean energy efficiency management 
services, we can help the whole society to gradually improve energy efficiency and reduce the 
environmental pollution generated in the process of energy utilization. therefore, in the coming years the 
group will be focusing on the measurement of electricity, water, gas and heating and energy efficiency 
management, and include “to make irreplaceable outstanding contributions for human energy 
conservation and efficient utilization” in our missions.
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Meanwhile, insisting on the Purpose of Wasion, “Perfect Work with Passion, and Success Achieved 
with Integrity”, the group actively discharges social responsibilities, pays full attention to the interests of 
all stakeholders, actively seek the economic, social and environmental comprehensive value maximization, 
strive to achieve the maximized contribution to sustainable development, and make unremitting efforts to 
realize the great vision of “continual innovation contributing to Wasion’s centennial history”.
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2. Development strategy of social responsibility

in the medium and long term strategic development plan of Wasion group, Four Actions have been 
determined, including “zero environmental pollution incident, zero major safety accident, significant 
improvement of stakeholders’ satisfaction, and significant improvement of compliance of public welfare 
investment strategy”. focusing on the “six major stakeholders”, through Four Steps, including 
systematically setting up a social responsibility management system, creating occupational health 
management demonstration enterprises, promoting the project of stakeholders’ satisfaction, and planning 
public service marketing model, we will implement Three Projects orderly and firmly, including “value of 
Wasion, responsibility of Wasion and Public Welfare of Wasion” , to achieve the social responsibility 
strategy overall goal of “Being the industry benchmark of proposing harmonious development and 
discharging the social responsibility” and practice the enterprise purpose of “Perfect Work with Passion, 
and success achieved with integrity”.
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3. management mechanism of social responsibility

3.1 Organization chart of social responsibility
in order to achieve the strategy goal of social responsibility, continuously improve the social 
responsibility performance, and full play the role of organization to put the goal into practice, Wasion 
group establishes the organization framework of social responsibility.

3.2 Responsibilities of social responsibility working group
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3.3 Management system of the Group for social responsibility
At the beginning of its establishment, Wasion Group established the quality management system, 
and a management system integrating the environmental management system and the occupational 
health and safety management system, through years of implementation, which laid the foundation 
for the Group to construct the management system for social responsibility. In 2015, SA8000:2008, 
the social responsibility management system certification, was obtained successfully, while in 2016, 
the management system of the Group for social responsibility had been continuously improved 
through a series of methods, such as in-depth training, special projects, management optimization 
and documents completing, etc.

 Documentation management system for social responsibility

 List of management documents for social responsibility (selected according to 
the reference standard of the report)

[Environmental]

No. File name

1 Control Program for Identification and Evaluation of Environmental Factors

2 Control Program for Monitoring and Measurement

3 Control Program for Laws, Regulations and Other Requirements

4 Control Program for Compliance Evaluation

5 Management Measures of the Responsibility Administration for Health, Safety and 
Environmental

6 Management Measures for Energy Conservation

7 Management Measures for the Waste
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[Social]

No. File name

1 Control Program for Human Resources

2 Control Program for Extension Education

3 Management Measures for Job Qualification and Performance Evaluation

4 Management Measures for Training

5 Management Measures for Human Resources Deployment

6 Control Program for Hazard Identification

7 Management Program for Safety Production

8 Control Program for Labor Protection

9 Control Program for Non-Forced Labor

10 Control Program for Incident Investigation and Processing

11 Control Program for Customer Satisfaction Measurement

12 Control Program for Services Provided for Hardware

13 Control Program for Products Monitoring and Measurement

14 Management Measures for Identification and Evaluation of Occupational Hazards

15 Management Measures for Using Electricity

16 Management Measures for Fire Safety

17 Management Measures for Staffs’ Complaints

18 Management Measures for Intellectual Property

19 Management Measures for Suppliers

 Continuous improvement system of social responsibility management system
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4. stakeholders’ communication

Wasion group attaches importance to strengthening communication with stakeholders, establishes 
Communication Control Procedures, determines the scope of stakeholders, and plans the method and 
frequency of their communication and participation according to their influence and importance, as well 
as their respective concerns to ensure the participation of stakeholders and the effective implementation 
of communication mechanisms.
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5. Evaluation of materiality

complying with the principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency, by the participation of 
Wasion group and major stakeholders, the relating environmental, social and governance categories 
(environmental and social) of the group in 2016 were identified and evaluated, aimed at the key 
performance index set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide. 

Abstract of the Environmental, Social 
and Governance Reporting Guide

Material Environmental, Social and Governance 
Matters

A. Environmental

a1. emissions •	 Polluted	water
•	 Greenhouse	gases
•	 Exhaust
•	 Solid	waste

a2. use of resources •	 Use	of	energy
•	 Use	of	water

a3. the environment and natural 
resources

•	 Monitoring	of	environmental	performance
•	 Energy	conservation	and	emission	reduction

B. Social

B1. employment •	 Compensation	 and	 dismissal,	 recruitment	 and	
promotion, working hours, rest periods

•	 Equal	opportunity,	diversity,	anti-discrimination

B2. health and safety •	 Occupational	health	and	safety

B3. development and training •	 Employees’	development	and	draining

B4. labour standards •	 Preventing	child	and	forced	labour

B5. supply chain Management •	 Quality	 of	 supply	 chain	 and	 effects	 to	 social	
responsibility

B6. Product responsibility •	 Quality	management	level
•	 Monitoring	and	measurement	of	product
•	 Measurement	of	customer	satisfaction
•	 Customer	privacy

B7. anti-corruption •	 Principles	of	honesty	and	integrity

B8. community investment •	 Public	welfare
•	 Activities	investment	in	the	reporting	period
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iii. pErformaNcEs of DischarGiNG thE rEspoNsiBiLitiEs

1. Environmental

1.1 Emissions
Wasion group has been committed to environmental protection. on the one hand, we pay attention 
to the sustainable construction, optimization, transformation and regular maintenance of 
environmental infrastructure to improve the efficiency of equipment and facilities; on the other hand, 
we reduce waste in daily operations through publicity, education and training to the staffs. 
Meanwhile, we take a number of effective measures and monitoring processes to require all 
departments to strictly comply with the internal environmental management system and ensure its 
compliance with laws and regulations and the discharge of responsibilities to protect the environment.

the group has formulated the Management Measures for Waste, Waste List and Processing 
Requirements to regulate and guide the disposal of waste, and implemented effective measures for 
the management and monitoring of different types of waste. at the same time, the group accurately 
monitors various emissions according to the Control Program for Monitoring and Measurement to 
keep abreast of the group’s environmental performance and develop emission reduction targets.

in the reporting period, the group had not found any case of violations relating to environmental 
laws and regulations.

 Polluted water
as early as 2008, by launching the non-cleaning technology to the products of the group, 
there is no industrial wastewater generated in the production process.

the group built an advanced sewage treatment station to deal with domestic sewage from 
the plant in the industrial development zone and obtained the sewage discharge permission 
issued by local environmental protection authority. according to the requirements from the 
permission, the group has standardized the discharge at class iii standard every year.

the maintenance mechanism has been formulated, under which the responsible departments 
and external agencies regularly repair the sewage treatment facilities to ensure the normal 
operation, and the equipments operation have been daily inspected and monitored to record 
the sewage treatment situation. Meanwhile as one of the measures, water-saving tanks have 
been installed in the toilets in order to reduce the discharge of domestic sewage.

in 2016, total sewage discharge from the plant was 360,000 tons, and the emissions by 
annual turnover were 138 tons per rMB1.00 million.
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 Exhaust
the major air emissions of the group are smoke generated in wave soldering and reflow 
soldering, and cooking exhaust, of which both the quantity are tiny and qualified to be 
discharged. the air emissions of the group in 2016 complied with the requirements in the Air 
Pollution Prevention Law of the P.R.C. and be inspected by relating management authorities. 
the standardized cooking exhaust from our canteen, which has been purified by fume 
purification devices certified by the provincial environmental protection authority, is discharged 
into high-altitude air.

the standardized tiny smoke generated in wave soldering and reflow soldering is discharged 
into high-altitude air after being collected and filtered according to the requirements from the 
environmental protection authority.

the group has established a daily maintenance system to regularly clean the discharge 
pipelines.

 Greenhouse gases
the production activities of the group need electricity to maintain the machine operation, daily 
lighting and indoor temperature conditioning, etc. in addition, sometimes the group needs to 
use natural gas to maintain a comfortable indoor temperature. therefore, our carbon 
emissions are mainly resulted from the greenhouse gases generated in electricity and 
seasonal natural gas consumption. during the reporting period, the energy-related carbon 
dioxide equivalent was 11,625 tons1, and the carbon emissions by annual turnover were 4.5 
tons per rMB1.00 million. for specific emission reduction measures, please refer to section 1.2 
use of resources and section 1.3 the environment and natural resources.

 Solid waste
the group sets up the garbage can according to the type of waste and puts it in a reasonable 
area. the waste generated by each department is classified according to the Waste List and 
Processing Requirements and put into the designated garbage can or stacking site.

the recyclable wastes are recycled, and the hazardous wastes are stored in special site and 
regularly delivered to qualified contractors to process.

the group promotes and continuously implements various e-flows in office software to 
reduce the use of paper. in 2016, the online e-flows, such as management system 
documents, work approval and cost approval, etc., further expand the coverage of paperless 
network and mobile office.

1 the calculation of carbon emissions is based on the Greenhouse Gases Protocol published by WBcsd and Wri, Environmental Key Performance 

Index Reporting Guide issued by the hkex, and the China Regional Grid Baseline Emission Factor and Guidelines for the Accounting and 

Reporting of Greenhouse Gases Emissions in Electronic Equipment Manufacturing Enterprises (for Trial Implementation) published by the climate 

change office of national development and reform commission of china.
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the major hazardous waste is solder splash generated in production processes. in the 
reporting period, total solder splash was 6 tons and recycled through qualified recycling units.

as for the non-hazardous waste, in the reporting period, total waste paper was 25 tons, and 
the quantity by annual turnover was 0.01 ton per rMB1.00 million, while total daily garbage, 
mainly from kitchen waste and staffs’ household refuse, was 500 tons, and the quantity by 
annual turnover was 0.19 ton per rMB1.00 million.

1.2 Use of resources
Wasion group has formulated the Management Approaches for Energy Conservation to guide the 
rational use of resources. as the energy efficiency management experts, we take the lead in taking 
measures to reduce energy consumption and reduce the negative impact on the environment.

a series of technology methods are increasingly invested in, such as the use of renewable energy, 
the transformation of energy-saving equipment and facilities, the enhanced maintenance and 
the use of energy-saving materials, etc. the energy efficiency is improved by the scheduled 
temperature control system in central air conditioning system and the standardized working 
environment temperature range. Meanwhile, the internal energy-saving education is continuously 
carried out to develop the sense of conservation. once the pipeline leaks, the report and repair is 
timely. Water-saving, energy-saving and other visual energy-saving logos are posted in the 
office, drinking room, toilet and other places to create energy-saving atmosphere. Without the issue 
of seeking water supply, the group has made reasonable use of water obtained adequately from 
the municipal water supply system.

 Key performance index

Category Total

Average consumption 
per million of annual 

turnover Unit

electric energy 16,610,000 6,370 kWh

natural gas 380,000 145 cubic meter

tap water 460,000 176 ton

Packing material2 8,550 3 ton

1.3 The Environment and Natural Resources
Wasion group has formulated a series of management documents, such as Control Program for 
Identification and Evaluation of Environmental Factors, Control Program for Laws, Regulations and 
Other Requirement, Control Program for Monitoring and Measurement, and Control Program for 
Compliance Evaluation, to identify environmental factors, evaluate environmental impacts, monitor 
environmental performance and reduce negative environmental impacts, and scientifically and 
systematically implement the environmental protection works.
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in 2016, under the co-ordination and guidance of the social responsibility working group, various 
energy saving and emission reduction activities were carried out through encouragement, active 
advocacy and targeted measures. in the sense of emission reduction, “hiking” activity was 
carried out to encourage green travels. in waste reduction, the new e-flow office was implemented 
through the office automatic system transformation, including human resources module, financial 
reimbursement module and system file management module, and greatly reduced the office paper. 
in the monitoring of major environmental factors, besides monthly safety inspection, special 
inspection before the holidays was organized to eliminate fire risks, protect the life and property and 
prevent the air from pollution.

2. social

2.1 Employment
the development of the group is inseparable from the contribution and creation of all staffs. 
through providing a broad career development space and establishing perfect compensation and 
welfare packages, we earnestly respect the value of staff and strives to provide a good working 
environment for each of them and grow up together to an ideal behaving and professional 
performing.

the group strictly comply with the requirements of the laws and regulations such as the Labor Law 
of the P.R.C. and the Law on the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests of the P.R.C. relating 
to recruitment, promotion, compensation, welfare, performance evaluation, training and staff 
relations and communication, we formulated the Control Program for Human Resources, 
Management Measures for Job Qualification and Performance Evaluation, Management Measures 
for Human Resources Deployment and Management Measures for Training to make rules for 
“selection, positioning, education and retaining” of human resources based on the principles of fair, 
just and open. “equal pay for equal work” and “anti-discrimination” has been put deep into practice 
as well. as for the protection of staffs’ rest and leave, the policies are strictly implemented, such as 
holiday leave, paid annual leave, three periodic protection leave for female staffs, etc. in order to 
expand and deepen the scope of welfare and beneficiary, various welfare policies has been 
formulated, such as cash and material welfare on holiday, pregnant women’s restaurants, free 
working meals, free shuttle, annual physical examination, commercial accident insurance and high 
temperature subsidies for manufacturer, sales, engineering and technical staffs, etc.

2 the main packing materials are hard paper cases.
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in 2016, the group won the 8th consecutive “china’s best employer”, and was awarded the “toP 
10 best employer in changsha”.

in the reporting period, the group had not found any case of significant violations relating to hr 
laws and regulations.

as at 31 december 2016, total employees of the group was 3,6663 with distribution as follows:

Gender Subtotal

Male 2,138

female 1,528

Age Subtotal

under 30 1,407

30–49 2,210

over 50 49

Position Subtotal

senior 45

Middle 320

Basic 3,301

Region Subtotal

domestic 3,666

overseas —

3 total employees represent the aggregation of all full-time contractual employees.
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2.2 Health and Safety
through the comprehensive import of ohsas18001 occupational health and safety Management 
system, the group formulated 20 management documents to implement occupational health and 
safety management scientifically and systematically, including the Control Program for Hazard 
Identification, Management Program for Safety Production, Control Program for Labor Protection, 
Control Program for Incident Investigation and Processing, and Management Measures for Fire 
Safety, etc.

Based on the analysis of the occupational health, safety production and environmental management 
works in 2015, the improvement direction of those works in 2016 had been further determined, 
following the successful experiences of last year: new requirements for safety management of test 
area were formulated to further standardize its safety management; various contingency plans and 
drills were established and implemented according to occupational health, safety production 
management situation, including chemical leakage drills and fire evacuation drills, etc., and fire 
evacuation drill in the night was carried out in 2016 as well; the self-saving knowledge education 
was enhanced by organizing the staffs to participate in outsource training to learning first-aid 
knowledge; special publicities and inspections for summer and winter were implemented, and the 
monthly security inspection and inspection before the holidays for the status of infrastructure and 
departmental electricity consumption were organized and implemented by the social responsibility 
working group, in which the notice of rectification were issued to irregularities, which were supposed 
to regularly report on the improvement.

in the reporting period, the group had not found any case of violations relating to health and safety 
laws and regulations, and there were no staff killed or seriously injured in work.

2.3 Development and Training
the group has established the diversified career development channels to help staffs grow, 
expressly stated in the Control Program for Human Resources, Management Measures for Job 
Qualification and Performance Evaluation, and Management Measures for Training, and 
implemented in a continuous improvement model to promote the training implementation: training 
needs analysis — design training methods and courses — training — results evaluation and review. 
the training methods of the group include teacher lectures, conference discussions, technical 
exchanges, industry forums and documents learning, etc.

in 2016, the “Wasion college” was developed in the office automatic platform, which realized the 
function of online selection, online training and massive downloading of electronic books, and 
greatly improved the training rate of relating courses.

a total of 2,572 training courses had been carried out in 2016, increased by 125.6% compared to 
2015, and 61,604 persons were covered, increased by 189.7% compared to 2015.
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Training subject: Value of Wasion

Gender Participating Ratio Average training time (hours)

Male 83.2% 9.4

Female 87.6% 11.7

Position Participating Ratio Average training time (hours)

Senior 100% 43.5

Middle 95.3% 30.4

Basic 95% 34.8

2.4 Labor Standards
In accordance with the requirements of SA8000 Social Responsibility Management System, the 
Group has formulated a series of documents such as Control Program for Extension Education, 
Control Program for Non-Forced Labor and Management Measures for Staffs’ Complaints, etc. to 
ensure that no child labor and forced labor incidents occur. In order to avoid misuse of child labor, 
at the beginning of the recruitment, HR checks identity information of each candidate with the 
police, and a social responsibility training course is carried out at their entry to let the new staffs 
understand the labor policy and clear the rights and interests. Meanwhile, in order to early prevent 
and avoid forced labor events, the regularization, standardization and transparency of 
democratic management are promoted through social responsibility management review, internal 
audit, staff forum and operation express, etc. The measure for misuse of child labor was also clear 
in the relevant documents, including reporting to the competent authorities and providing assistance 
if necessary.

In the reporting period, the Group had not found any case of violations relating to child and forced 
labor laws and regulations.
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2.5 Supply Chain Management
in order to ensure that the performance of social responsibility of the suppliers comply with the 
purpose of the group and gradually expand the scope of the impacts of social responsibility by 
influencing the suppliers, the relevant evaluation clause of the social responsibility performance is 
formulated in the Management Measures for Suppliers to evaluate the suppliers’ social responsibility 
performance in the introduction of new supplier, the daily supervision and regular evaluation, to 
ensure that the supplier with good performance of social responsibility is selected. the concept of 
social responsibility of the group is delivered to our suppliers by “notification of social responsibility” 
as an influence.

the distribution of suppliers of Wasion group in 2016 is as follows:

Region Total Suppliers

domestic 210

overseas 68

2.6 Product Responsibility
“Quality is the life of Wasion, the dignity of every Wasioner”. in order to continuously deliver the 
qualified products and services to the customers, we have been committed to build and improve 
the quality management system. using process methods, system approach and the Plan-do-
check-action management cycle (Pdca), the management system has been formulated 
accordingly and systematically, including Control Program for Products Monitoring and 
Measurement, Control Program for Services Provided for Hardware and Control Program for 
Customer Satisfaction Measurement. the life cycle quality control of the product from design to 
service has been implemented to ensure the quality of products and the safety in use.

the honors of quality obtained in 2016 included: national Quality Benchmarking enterprise, national 
Quality trustworthy Product, national instrument industry Quality leading Brand, national Quality 
honesty Benchmarking enterprise, hunan Provincial governor Quality award, hunan industrial 
Quality Benchmarking enterprise, changsha high-tech Zone Quality award, etc.

in the reporting period, the group had not found any case of violations relating to laws and 
regulations for quality of product and service.
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 Chart of product quality management departments:
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 Monitoring and measurement process of product

 Measurement of customer satisfaction in 2016
the Control Program for Customer Satisfaction Measurement has been formulated to find out 
whether the group understands and continuously meets the current and future needs and 
expectations of our customers, and grasp our level and ability to meet the needs of the 
market by the quality of products and services. the customer’s quality management 
department has planned the survey of measurement annually, including but not limited to: the 
issue of customer satisfaction surveys, on-site visits, visiting customer quality interviews, 
telephone interviews, exhibition exchanges and commissioning of third parties for evaluation. 
the results of the survey are analyzed and the organization is improved to promote the 
continuous improvement of product quality and service quality.

the survey of customer satisfaction in 2016 was assisted by marketing and technology 
service departments to obtain relating comments and suggestions, and accounted by 
customer’s quality management department according to the index calculating method. the 
results are as follows:

Item 2016 2015

customer comprehensive satisfaction 93.26% 92.78%
Product Quality satisfaction 92.85% 93.21%
service Quality satisfaction 95.44% 94.37%

note: the customer comprehensive satisfaction in 2016 increased by about 0.48% compared to 2015.
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in order to protect internal and external intellectual properties, the Management Measures for 
Intellectual Property had been formulated to regulate the requirements of protection and 
inspection, according to The Patent Law of the P.R.C., the Detailed Rules for the 
Implementation of the Patent Law of the P.R.C. and the Provisions of Patent of Hunan 
Province, etc.

in 2016, Wasion group and the optoelectronics department of state intellectual Property 
office jointly organized the “intellectual property rights exchange in Wasion group” for the 
issues of “intellectual property protection”, “risk assessment”, “overseas patent applications”, 
“intellectual property incentive policy”, etc.

summary of intellectual properties of Wasion group in 2016:

Categories of patent Approved in 2016 Subtotal

invention 11 50
utility model 97 546
Product design 85 297
integrated circuit layout 1 1

total 194 894

furthermore, Wasion group attaches great importance to the privacy protection of customers, 
employees and suppliers, and is committed to maintaining and safeguarding its relevant 
information, including brand-related intellectual property and confidential information and any 
form of confidential information of potential property or economic value. at the same time, 
cooperating suppliers are required to sign relating provisions to protect confidential 
information and prevent the relevant information from unauthorized use through appropriate 
technical means and processes. any information leakage of the supplier or staff will be strictly 
investigated and processed in accordance with the signed effective provisions or internal 
regulations.

2.7 Anti-corruption
according to the 10 principles in un “global compact”, anti-corruption of Wasion group is definite 
and determined. the supervision system of Wasion group has been formulated to regulate the 
processes and requirements of supervision, and the special risk control center has been set up to 
implement corruption prevention and supervision, accept corruption reports, and carry out anti-
corruption investigation. Meanwhile, in the Wasion Values and Code of Conduct Manual, three anti-
corruption provisions have been defined among ten prohibitions of commercial activities to improve 
the awareness of corruption of all staffs by continuous training and promoting. a reporting process 
has also been set up to encourage and assist whistleblowers to report misconduct, fraud or 
irregularities through confidential channels in the operation express or internal office platform. We 
are committed to process and review the representations fairly and justly, and define the appropriate 
investigation and corrective actions based on specific needs.

in the reporting period, the group had not found any case of violations relating to laws and 
regulations for bribery and corruption, and there was no any prosecuted and concluded corruption 
case against the group or its employee.
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on the other hand, the group focuses on cooperation with 
universities, not only being committed to the market-

oriented conversion from research to production, but 
a lso of fer ing internships and employment 

opportunities for the university. With an open, 
tolerance, mutual benefit and win-win attitude, the 
group receives the undergraduates for internship 
in finance, r&d, technical support departments. 
in 2016, 660 short-term internships were 
arranged while 315 students were employed.

2.8 Community Investment
since its establishment, Wasion actively participates in public welfares, and cares for and 
contributes to the community friendly and cooperatively.

the group has set up the special “staff support fund” and “staff innovation fund”, as well as the 
supporting management measures as its “normal”. in 2016, under the subject of “grateful inside, 
tempered forward”, “thanks for you, tomorrow for us”, “sail in dream, love to help”, the support 
fund granted 78 times at the total amount of rMB5.18 million, and 1,748 beneficiaries were 
benefited from it. the “staff innovation fund” insists on the principle of helping the staff success 
together, creates a platform for innovation and innovator, and provides financial supports for all 
kinds of innovative ideas and solutions. in 2016, the group received 362 applications for various 
types of innovation funds, 87% of which i.e. 315 applications were awarded at the total amount of 
rMB1.19 million.

in order to propose the healthy and progressive way of life and transmit the social welfare, internal 
football league, hiking, photography, chess and other activities have been held to enrich the staff’s 
cultural life and improve their physical quality, meanwhile basketball friendly matches with other 
company has been held and community long-distance running for public welfare has been 
participated in to show the spirit of volunteer service, “dedication, friendship, mutual help and 
progress” , and attract more people who love the public welfare to join in.

in job creation, in 2016 a total of nearly 4,000 direct employment opportunities were offered and 
more than 4,000 families were benefit from it. at the same time, estimated according to the 
purchase amount, nearly 30,000 employment opportunities were created indirectly for the suppliers.
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iv. EvaLuatioN aND DEvELopmENt DirEctioN of commitmENts of 
DischarGiNG thE rEspoNsiBiLitiEs

Based on the commitments for actions made in 2016 under the 10 principles of “global compact”, we will 
further enhance and continuously improve them in 2017 to implement the purpose of “Perfect Work with 
Passion, and success achieved with integrity”.

10 principles of “Global 
Compact” Commitments for actions

Evaluation of discharging the 
responsibilities in 2016 Development direction in 2017

Human Rights

1. Businesses should support 
and respect the protection 
of internationally proclaimed 
human rights.

2. Make sure that they are not 
complicit in human rights 
abuses.

comply with the international 
conventions and international 
practices signed and recognized 
by the chinese government, 
comply with the laws and 
regulations of the host country, 
and undertake to respect and 
support human rights within the 
group’s operations and 
influence.

full compliance. to maintain and review whether 
there is a deviation and 
continuously improve.

never complicit in human rights 
abuses.

full compliance. to maintain and review whether 
there is a deviation and 
continuously improve.

offer job opportunities for a 
number of disabled people to 
protect their rights and interests.

the company is against 
discrimination and fair to the 
disabled people in recruitment, 
and employ people only by 
abilities.

to undertake the initiatives to 
offer appropriate jobs to the 
disabled people.

Labor

3. Businesses should uphold 
the freedom of association 
and the effective recognition 
of the right to collective 
bargaining.

ensure the free exercise of 
trade unions, and actively 
support the trade union 
activities to protect the right to 
collective bargaining.

activities to enrich the staffs’ 
spare time were planned and 
organized more than 10 times, 
including football, chess, 
soliciting articles, photography 
and knowledge contest.

to continuously inspect and 
improve according to the 
formulated policies.

4. the elimination of all forms 
of forced and compulsory 
labor.

Promote the regularization, 
standardization and 
transparency of democratic 
management through staff 
congress, staff forum and 
operation express.

continue to hold the monthly 
staff forum for specific subject, 
be close to the staffs’ life and 
listen to their hearts.

to continuously inspect and 
improve according to the 
formulated policies.

5. the effective abolition of 
child labor.

eliminate child and forced labor. it is definite in the recruitment 
system and strictly 
implemented, and there was no 
child labor found.

to continuously inspect and 
improve according to the 
formulated policies.
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10 principles of “Global 
Compact” Commitments for actions

Evaluation of discharging the 
responsibilities in 2016 Development direction in 2017

6. the elimination of 
discrimination in respect of 
employment and 
occupation.

eliminate discrimination in 
respect of ethnic, gender, age, 
disease, race and religion, pay 
upon the position and 
performance, and implement 
equal pay for equal work.

the relating management 
requirements, including 
compensation policy and staffs’ 
manual had been completely 
reviewed to unify the thoughts 
and strictly carried out.

to continuously inspect and 
improve according to the 
formulated policies.

ensure decent employment, 
provide compensation suitable 
to national conditions and the 
actual situation of the company, 
balance the work and life, 
establish a reasonable paid 
leave system, and be perfect 
100% at labor contract signing 
rate, five insurance-one fund 
coverage and employment 
compliance.

the survey of the minimum 
living needs of staff was carried 
out to verify the level of 
compensation.

the labor contract signing rate, 
five insurance-one fund 
coverage and employment 
compliance are all 100%.

to implement a project to 
improve the working efficiency.

Environment

7. Businesses should support 
a precautionary approach 
to environmental challenges.

develop of alternative and new 
energy products.

Photovoltaic power generation 
of the group increased by 29% 
compared to 2015.

continue to promote and 
improve energy conservation 
management.

8. undertake initiatives to 
promote greater 
environmental responsibility.

continue to tap the potential 
consumption, reduce 
comprehensive energy 
consumption of the plant by 
more than 5%.

comprehensive energy 
consumption of the plant 
decreased by 23.7%.

9. encourage the development 
and diffusion of 
environmentally friendly 
technologies.

upgrade the office automatic 
system, realize the paperless 
office.

the e-flows of business 
applications for financial 
module, hr module, system 
management module were 
online.

Anti-corruption

10. Businesses should work 
against corruption in all its 
forms, including extortion 
and bribery.

continuously train and promote 
the new edition of Wasion 
values and code of conduct 
Manual and ten prohibitions of 
commercial activities of Wasion.

the training for value of Wasion 
was fully covered, and senior 
management, middle managers 
and basic staffs were evaluated 
respectively by “3 dimensions”.

to continuously implement 
corporate culture advocacy 
project.

enhance prevention and 
supervision of the risk control 
center, accept corruption 
reports, and carry out anti-
corruption investigation.

the group had not found any 
case of violations relating to 
laws and regulations for bribery 
and corruption.

to carry out publicity for 
relevant laws and regulations, 
and maintain and strengthen 
the supervising efforts.

Promote transparent operation, 
strengthen the governance by 
of laws, improve the internal 
control system, undertake 
initiatives to accept the 
supervision of the community, 
and prevent the risk of 
corruption.

there was no any prosecuted 
and concluded corruption case 
against the group or its 
employee.
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ExEcutivE DirEctors

Mr. Ji Wei (吉為), aged 60, is an executive director, the chairman of the company and the founder of the group. Mr. 
Ji is responsible for the group’s overall strategic planning and the formulation of corporate policies. Prior to founding 
the group in 2000, Mr. Ji was a business manager of hunan Province Minerals import and export company (湖南省
五金礦產進出口公司) between 1980 and 1985 and the import and export manager of hunan international economic 
development (group) company (湖南省國際經濟開發(集團)公司) between 1985 and 1989. Mr. Ji is also a director of 
hunan classic investment co., ltd. (湖南經典投資有限公司). Mr. Ji was appointed as an executive director of the 
company with effect from 20 July 2004. Mr. Ji was appointed as a member of the chinese People’s Political 
consultative conference of hunan Province from 2007 to 2012 and he was re-elected in 2013. he was awarded with 
several honourary titles such as “Most socially responsible entrepreneur”, “Most caring entrepreneur on staff 
development”, “excellent entrepreneur of changsha hi tech Zone”, “the sixth top ten educational entrepreneur 
award in china” and “special recognition award for occupational technology creation in hunan Province”.

Ms. Cao Zhao Hui (曹朝輝), aged 49, is an executive director and the chief executive officer. Ms. cao graduated 
from hunan commerce college with a bachelor degree in economics. she also obtained a degree in executive 
master of business administration (eMBa) from the university of hunan (湖南大學). Ms. cao joined the group in 2000 
and was appointed as an executive director of the company with effect from 3 March 2005.

Mr. Zeng Xin (曾辛), aged 46, is an executive director and general Manager of Wasion electric limited. Mr. Zeng 
graduated from the national university of defense technology with a bachelor’s degree in system engineering in 
1992. during 1992 to 1993, he studied in the Qinghua university for a postgraduate degree programme. in 1995, Mr. 
Zeng obtained a master degree in engineering from the china academy of space technology (中國空間技術研究院). 
in 2012, he graduated from the advanced Management in the energy sector of cheung kong graduate school of 
Business. he participated in several research projects in the china academy of space technology (中國空間技術研
究院) during his studies and after graduation. Mr. Zeng was a general manager for domestic sales of Wasion group 
limited, a general manager of Weisheng energy industrial technology co., ltd., and vice president of the group 
since 2006. Mr. Zeng joined the group in July 2004 and was appointed as an executive director of the company with 
effect from 1 september 2005.

Ms. Zheng Xiao Ping (鄭小平), aged 53, is an executive director and the President. Ms. Zheng graduated from the 
taiyuan university of technology with a bachelor’s degree in industrial automation in 1984. she obtained a master 
degree of engineering in automation from the north china institute of technology in 1987 and holds the qualification 
of senior engineer. Between 1987 and 1988, Ms. Zheng was a teaching assistant at the north china institute of 
technology. she lectured at the taiyuan university of technology between 1988 and 1993 and was appointed as the 
research director of hunan Weisheng electronics co.,ltd. (湖南威勝電子有限公司) from 1993 to 2000 being 
responsible for the research and development work. she joined the group in 2000 and was responsible for the 
research and development work of the group. Ms. Zheng was appointed as the executive director of the company 
with effect from 1 september 2005. Ms. Zheng was appointed as a director of changsha Weisheng electronics co., 
ltd. (長沙威勝電子有限公司) in March 2004 and an executive director in september 2005. Ms. Zheng was also 
awarded with various honourary titles such as “individual with advanced technology creation in hunan”, “excellent 
entrepreneur of changsha hi tech Zone”, “excellent Management of Quality control in Machinery (automobile) 
industry of hunan Province”, “the seventh group of outstanding experts in changsha”, “top ten Women 
entrepreneurs with outstanding achievement in changsha city”, “awarded Women with contribution and 
improvement in changsha hi tech Zone”, “national labour day Medal” and “national top ten technological Worker 
in electronic devices and Meters industry”.
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Mr. Tian Zhongping (田仲平), aged 36, is an executive Director as well as the Vice President and General Manager 
of the Overseas Sales Department of the Group. Mr. Tian graduated from Xiangtan University (湘潭大學) with a 
bachelor degree in Engineering in 2002, and obtained a master degree in Control Engineering from Zhongnan 
University (中南大學) in 2008. Mr. Tian joined the Group in 2002 from graduation and had held positions as 
Development Engineer for firmware, Project Manager, Product Development Manager, Deputy Chief Engineer and 
Deputy General Manager of the Overseas Sales Department of the Group. During the period when he was a 
Development Engineer of the Group, Mr. Tian has obtained more than ten patents for products and technology. Mr. 
Tian was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 26 January 2017.

NoN-ExEcutivE DirEctor

Mr. Kat Chit (吉喆), aged 33, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Kat graduated from the University of British Columbia 
of Canada with a bachelor degree in economics in 2007. From 2007 to 2011, he was an executive of the equity 
capital markets division of Macquarie Group Limited and was a director and the general manager of Guangdong 
Ruiding Power Technology Company Limited (廣東銳頂電力技術有限公司) since November 2014. Mr. Kat was 
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 12 August 2014. Mr. Kat is the son of Mr. Ji Wei, the 
chairman, executive Director and controlling shareholder of the Company.

iNDEpENDENt NoN-ExEcutivE DirEctors

Mr. Huang Jing (黃靖), aged 60, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Huang graduated from Sichaun 
University with a bachelor degree in English. He obtained his master degree in history from Shanghai Fudan 
University, and his doctor of philosophy degree in political science from Harvard University. Mr. Huang is currently a 
Lee Foundation chair professor of US-China Relations and director of Centre on Asia and Globalisation at the Lee 
Kuan Yew School of Public Policy, National University of Singapore. Prior to joining the Lee Kuan Yew School of 
Public Policy, Mr. Huang had taught at Harvard University, University of Utah and Stanford University. Mr. Huang had 
also been a senior research analyst at the Brookings Institution. Mr. Huang is a Richard Von Weizsäcker fellow from 
the Robert Bosch Stiftung, a senior overseas economic analyst for China’s Xinhua News Agency, a board member of 
the Fujitsu-JAIMS Foundation in Japan, a board member of the Advisory Board of the Center on China and 
Globalization, a member of the Advisory Board of European-House Ambrosetti, China, a member of the Steering 
Committee of the National University of Singapore Research Institute in Suzhou, and a member of the Global Agenda 
Council at the World Economic Forum. Mr. Huang is an independent non-executive director of Keppel Land Limited 
(SGX:K17), a company listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange. Mr. Huang was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 18 October 2016.
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Mr. Luan Wenpeng (欒文鵬), aged 52, was an independent non-executive director with doctor’s degree in electrical 
engineering. Mr. luan is a Peng in British columbia, canada, a senior member of ieee and a member of cigre. he 
has been engaged in the works as well as the research of systematic planning of the electrical power system, smart 
power grids, smart metering infrastructure, distribution automation, data analysis, distributed energy resources 
integration, asset management etc. for more than 16 years. as a distinguished expert of state level for the central 
government’s “1000 Plan”, Mr. luan is currently a chief expert in smart metering of the china electric Power 
research institute, an international convenor of the iec systems evaluation group of non-conventional distribution 
networks/microgrids (seg6), the chairman of the ieee working group for microgrids planning and design (ieee 
2030.9 Wg). Mr. luan was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the company on 16 May 2016.

Mr. Cheng Shi Jie (程時杰), aged 71, is an independent non-executive director. Mr. cheng graduated from the Xi’an 
Jiaotong university with a bachelor degree in electronic engineering in 1967, the huazhong university of science and 
technology with a master degree in electrical engineering in 1981 and the university of calgary, canada with a 
doctoral degree in philosophy in 1986, respectively. he has been a professor in the huazhong university of science 
and technology since 1991 and a visiting professor in the nanyang technological university in 1995 and 1996. Mr. 
cheng was granted the qualification of doctoral tutor by the academic degrees committee of the state council in 
1993 and was elected as an academician of the chinese academy of sciences and a fellow of the institute of 
electrical and electronics engineers (美國電子電氣工程師協會) in 2007 and 2010 respectively. Mr. cheng was 
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the company on 12 august 2014.

Mr. Hui Wing Kuen (許永權), aged 68, is an independent non-executive director and an australian by nationality. Mr. 
hui has extensive financial and taxation experience in hong kong and australia. he is a member of the hong kong 
institute of certified Public accountants, the hong kong institute of chartered secretaries and cPa australia. he 
obtained his Master of Business administration degree from the university of south australia. Mr. hui was previously 
an independent non-executive director of the company from september 2005 to May 2014. Mr. hui was appointed 
as an independent non-executive director of the company on 15 May 2015.

sENior maNaGEmENt of thE Group

Mr. Choi Wai Lung Edward (蔡偉龍), aged 48, is the chief financial officer and company secretary of the company. 
Mr. choi is a fellow member of the hong kong institute of certified Public accountants and the association of 
chartered certified accountants with over 26 years of experience in accounting, auditing and finance.
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the directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the group for the year 
ended 31 december 2016.

priNcipaL activitiEs

the company is an investment holding company. the activities of its principal subsidiaries and an associate are set 
out in notes 37 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BusiNEss rEviEW

further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by schedule 5 to the companies ordinance, including 
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group and an indication of likely future developments in 
the group’s business, can be found in the “Management discussion and analysis” section set out on pages 17 to 27 
of this annual report. this discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

DiviDENDs

the results of the group for the year ended 31 december 2016 and the group’s financial position at that day are set 
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to 90 of the annual report. no interim dividend was paid to 
the shareholders during the year.

the directors have proposed a final dividend of hk$0.24 (2015: hk$0.24) per share to shareholders of the company 
whose names appear in the register of members on 25 May 2017 and a resolution to this effect will be proposed and 
subject to the shareholders’ approval in the forthcoming annual general meeting. the final dividend is expected to be 
paid on or before 2 June 2017.

sharE capitaL

details of movements during the year in the share capital of the company are set out in note 26 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

DistriButaBLE rEsErvEs of thE compaNy

the company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 december 2016 comprised the share 
premium, merger reserve and retained profits of rMB2,084,476,000 (2015: rMB2,129,179,000) in aggregate.
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DirEctors

the directors of the company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Ji Wei (Chairman)
cao Zhao hui (Chief Executive Officer)
Zeng Xin
Zheng Xiao Ping
tian Zhongping (appointed on 26 January 2017)
Wang Xue Xin (resigned on 26 January 2017)
li hong (resigned on 26 January 2017)

Non-executive director:

kat chit

independent non-executive directors:

hui Wing kuen
huang Jing (appointed on 18 october 2016)
luan Wenpeng (appointed on 16 May 2016)
cheng shi Jie
Wu Jin Ming (resigned on 18 october 2016)
Pan yuan (retired on 16 May 2016)

Pursuant to article 86(3) of the articles of association of the company (the “articles”), any director appointed by the 
Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or, as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office until the next 
annual general meeting of the company (“annual general Meeting”) following their appointments, and shall then be 
eligible for re-election. Mr. huang Jing (“Mr. huang”) was appointed as independent non-executive director on 18 
october 2016 to fill the vacancy generated by the resignation of Mr. Wu Jin Ming while Mr. tian Zhongping (“Mr. 
tian”) was appointed as executive director on 26 January 2017 to fill the vacancies generated by the resignation of 
Mr. Wang Xue Xin and Ms. li hong. accordingly, Mr. huang and Mr. tian will retire at the annual general Meeting, 
and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the annual general Meeting.

Pursuant to article 87 of the articles, at each annual general meeting one third of the directors for the time being or, if 
their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to one-third, shall retire from office by 
rotation provided that every director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years. the directors to 
retire in every year shall be those who have been longest in office since their last election but as between persons 
who became directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree between themselves) be 
determined by lot. the retiring directors shall be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to article 87 of the articles, Mr. Zeng 
Xin, Mr. kat chit and Mr. cheng shi Jie will retire at the annual general Meeting, and being eligible, have offered 
themselves for election at the annual general Meeting.
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DirEctors’ sErvicE coNtracts

each of the executive directors and non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) entered 
into service agreements with the company for a term of three years and one year respectively and either the 
company or the executive director/non-executive director (including independent non-executive directors) may 
terminate the appointment by giving the other a prior notice of three months in writing before its expiration.

other than as disclosed above, none of the directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting has a service agreement with the company which is not determinable by the company within one 
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DirEctors’ iNtErEsts iN sharEs aND uNDErLyiNG sharEs

at 31 december 2016, the interests of the directors and their associates in the shares and underlying shares of the 
company and its associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained by the company pursuant to 
section 352 of the securities and futures ordinance (“sfo”), or as otherwise notified to the company and the stock 
exchange of hong kong limited (the “stock exchange”) pursuant to the Model code for securities transactions by 
directors of listed issuers, were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

Name of director Capacity

Number of 
issued ordinary

shares held

Percentage
of the issued
share capital

of the Company

Ji Wei interest of controlled corporation (note 1) 518,886,888 51.13%
Wang Xue Xin (note 3) Beneficial owner (note 2) 3,682,000 0.36%
Zheng Xiao Ping Beneficial owner (note 2) 3,682,000 0.36%
cao Zhao hui Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.20%
Zeng Xin Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.20%
li hong (note 3) Beneficial owner 350,000 0.03%
hui Wing kuen Beneficial owner 440,000 0.04%
Pan yuan (note 3) Beneficial owner 200,000 0.02%
Wu Jin Ming (note 3) Beneficial owner 200,000 0.02%

notes:

(1) the shares are held by star treasure investments holdings limited (“star treasure”), a company incorporated in the British virgin islands, the 

entire issued share capital of which is beneficially owned by Mr. Ji Wei.

(2) 1,692,000 shares and 1,990,000 shares are held by Mr. Wang Xue Xin and Ms. Zheng Xiao Ping respectively. Ms. Zheng Xiao Ping is the 

spouse of Mr. Wang Xue Xin.

(3) Mr. Wang Xue Xin and Ms. li hong resigned as a director of the company on 26 January 2017. Mr. Pan yuan retired as a director of the 

company on 16 May 2016. Mr. Wu Jin Ming resigned as a director of the company on 18 october 2016.
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other than as disclosed above, none of the directors, chief executives nor their associates had any interest or short 
positions in any shares or underlying shares of the company or any of its associated corporations, as recorded in the 
register required to be kept under section 352 of the sfo or otherwise notified to the company pursuant to the 
Model code for securities transactions by directors of listed companies as at 31 december 2016.

suBstaNtiaL sharEhoLDErs

as at 31 december 2016, the register of substantial shareholders maintained by the company pursuant to section 
336 of the sfo shows that other than the interests disclosed in the section headed “directors’ interests in shares and 
underlying shares” above, the following shareholders had notified the company of relevant interests in the issued 
share capital of the company.

Long positions — Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

Number of
issued ordinary

shares held

Percentage 
of the issued 

capital of 
the Company

Ji Wei interest in controlled corporation 518,886,888 51.13%

star treasure Beneficial owner 518,886,888 51.13%

gic Private limited investment manager 50,758,000 5.00%

other than as disclosed above, the company has not been notified of any other relevant interests or short positions 
in the issued share capital of the company as at 31 december 2016.

rELatED party traNsactioNs

related party transactions entered into for the year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

coNNEctED traNsactioNs

for the year ended 31 december 2016, the group had not entered into any connected transactions nor continuing 
connected transactions which are required to be disclosed in this report pursuant to the listing rules.
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arraNGEmENt to purchasE sharEs or DEBENturEs

save as disclosed under the section headed “share options”, at no time during the year was the company, its 
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the company to 
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the company or any other body corporate.

DirEctors’ iNtErEsts iN traNsactioNs, arraNGEmENts aND 
coNtracts of siGNificaNcE

no transactions, arrangements and contract of significance, to which the company, its holding company or any of its 
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or a connected entity of a director of the company had a material 
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

sharE optioNs

Particulars of the company’s share option scheme are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

the following table disclosed movements in the company’s share options during the year:

Number of share options
Share price of 
the Company 
as at the date 

of grant of 
share options

Name and category 
of participation

As at
1 January

2016

Exercised
during

the year

As at
31 December

2016
Date of grant of 
share options

Vesting period of
share options

Exercise period of
share options

Exercise 
price of 

share options* **

other employees 9,000,000 — 9,000,000 10 february 2014 10 february 2014 to  
 9 february 2016

10 february 2016 to  
 9 february 2024

4.680 4.680

other employees 9,000,000 — 9,000,000 10 february 2014 10 february 2014 to  
 9 february 2017

10 february 2017 to  
 9 february 2024

4.680 4.680

total 18,000,000 — 18,000,000

* the exercise price of share options is subject to adjustment made in respect of the alteration in capital structure of the company.

** the share price of the company as at the date of the grant of share options was the closing price as quoted on the stock exchange of the 

trading day on the date of the grant of share options.

save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any 
arrangement to enable the directors or chief executive of the company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of 
shares in or debentures of the company or any other body corporate.
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appoiNtmENt of iNDEpENDENt NoN-ExEcutivE DirEctors

the company has received from each of the independent non-executive directors an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the listing rules. the company considers that all of the independent non-
executive directors are independent.

corporatE GovErNaNcE

the company is committed to maintain the high standard of corporate governance practices. information on the 
corporate governance practices adopted by the company is set out in the corporate governance report on pages 
63 to 82 of the annual report.

purchasE, saLE or rEDEmptioN of thE compaNy’s ListED sEcuritiEs

during the year, the company repurchased certain of its own shares through the stock exchange of hong kong 
limited, details of which are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements. the directors considered 
that, as the company’s shares were trading at a discount to the net asset value per share, the repurchases would 
increase the net asset value per share of the company.

prE-EmptivE riGhts

there are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s articles of association, or the laws of the 
cayman islands, which would oblige the company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

maJor customErs aND suppLiErs

during the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the group’s five largest customers and the aggregate purchases 
attributable to the group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the group’s total sales and total 
purchases of the group respectively.

none of the directors, their associates or any shareholders of the company which, to the knowledge of the directors, 
owned more than 5% of the company’s issued share capital, had any interest in any of the five largest customers or 
suppliers of the group.

sufficiENcy of puBLic fLoat

Based on the information that is publicly available to the company and within the knowledge of the directors of the 
company, there was a sufficient prescribed public float of the issued shares of the company under the listing rules 
throughout the year ended 31 december 2016.
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fivE yEar fiNaNciaL summary

a summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the group for the past five financial years is set out on page 
176 of the annual report.

auDit committEE

the audit committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the group for the year ended 31 
december 2016.

auDitor

a resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint Messers. deloitte touche 
tohmatsu as auditor of the company.

on behalf of the Board

Ji Wei
CHAIRMAN

hong kong
21 March 2017
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the company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the company’s healthy growth and has 
devoted considerable efforts to identifying and formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the needs 
of its business.

the company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles of the code provisions as set out in the 
corporate governance code contained in appendix 14 of the listing rules.

during the year ended 31 december 2016, the company has applied the principles of and has complied with all code 
provisions of the corporate governance code as set forth in appendix 14 of the listing rules (“corporate 
governance code”).

code Provision a.6.7 of the corporate governance code provides that independent non-executive directors and 
non-executive directors of the company should attend general meetings of the company. Mr. Wu Jin Ming, Mr. Pan 
yuan and Mr. cheng shi Jie, being independent non-executive directors of the company, failed to attend the annual 
general meeting of the company (“2016 agM”) held on 16 May 2016 due to conflicts with their schedules.

save as disclosed, there has been no deviation from the code provisions of the corporate governance code for the 
year ended 31 december 2016.

the company regularly reviews its organisational structure to ensure that operations are conducted in accordance 
with the standards of the corporate governance code.

moDEL coDE for sEcuritiEs traNsactioNs

the company has adopted the Model code for securities transactions by directors of listed issuers (the “Model 
code”) as set out in appendix 10 to the listing rules.

specific enquiry has been made of all the directors of the company (the “directors”) and the directors have confirmed 
that they have complied with the Model code throughout the year ended 31 december 2016.

the company has also established written guidelines on terms no less exacting than the Model code (the “employees 
Written guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside 
information of the company.

no incident of non-compliance of the employees Written guidelines by the employees was noted by the company.
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BoarD of DirEctors

responsibilities

the overall management of the company’s business is vested with the board of directors of the company (the “Board”), 
which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the company and is collectively responsible for 
promoting the success of the company by directing and supervising its affairs.

the Board makes decisions on all major matters of the company, including: the approval and monitoring of all policy 
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material transactions (in 
particular those may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other significant 
financial and operational matters.

all directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of the company 
secretary of the company (the “company secretary”), with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all 
applicable rules and regulations are followed.

each director is normally able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the 
company’s expenses, upon making request to the Board.

the day-to-day management, administration and operation of the company are delegated to the chief executive 
officer of the company (the “chief executive officer”) and the senior management. the delegated functions and work 
tasks are periodically reviewed. approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions 
entered into by the abovementioned officers.

the Board has the full support of the chief executive officer and the senior management to discharge its 
responsibilities.

Board composition

the composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and experience necessary for its independent judgement 
and fulfilling its business needs.

the Board currently comprises ten members, consisting of five executive directors, one non-executive director and 
four independent non-executive directors. their biographical details are set out on pages 53 to 55 of this annual 
report.
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the Board comprises the following directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ji Wei, chairman of the Board and the nomination committee of the company (the “nomination committee”), and 
member of the remuneration committee of the company (the “remuneration committee”)

Ms. cao Zhao hui, chief executive officer
Mr. Zeng Xin, member of the internal control and risk management committee of 
 the company (the “internal control and risk Management committee”)
Ms. Zheng Xiao Ping*
Mr. Wang Xue Xin* (resigned on 26 January 2017)
Ms. li hong, member of the internal control and risk Management committee (resigned on 26 January 2017)
Mr. tian Zhongping (appointed on 26 January 2017)

Non-executive Director:

Mr. kat chit, member of the internal control and risk Management committee**

independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. hui Wing kuen, chairman of the audit committee of the company (the “audit committee”), the remuneration 
committee and the internal control and risk Management committee, and member of the nomination committee

Mr. huang Jing, member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the 
internal control and risk Management committee (appointed on 18 october 2016)

Mr. Wu Jin Ming, member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the 
internal control and risk Management committee (resigned on 18 october 2016)

Mr. luan Wenpeng, member of the audit committee and the internal control and risk Management committee 
(appointed on 16 May 2016)

Mr. Pan yuan, member of the audit committee and the internal control and risk Management committee (retired on 
16 May 2016)

Mr. cheng shi Jie, member of the audit committee and the internal control and risk Management committee

the list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the company pursuant 
to the listing rules from time to time.

during the year under review, the Board at all times met the requirements of rule 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10a the 
listing rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least one 
independent non-executive director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related 
financial management expertise.

* Ms. Zheng Xiao Ping is the spouse of Mr. Wang Xue Xin

** Mr. kat chit is the son of Mr. Ji Wei
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the company has received written annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director of his 
independence pursuant to the requirements of the listing rules. the company considers all independent non-
executive directors to be independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the listing rules.

the independent non-executive directors bring a wide range of technical, business and financial expertise, 
experiences and independent judgement to the Board. through their active participation in Board meetings, taking 
the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, all independent 
non-executive directors make various contributions to the effective direction of the company.

the company is of a view that Board diversity is an essential element to achieve sustainable and balanced 
development. Board diversity has been considered and practiced by the company with reference to a number of 
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience and 
other qualities of directors. the company has adopted a policy on Board diversity (the “Board diversity Policy”) 
setting out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board. the existing Board is considered well-balanced with a 
diverse mix appropriate for the business of the company. the nomination committee will review the Board diversity 
Policy on a regular basis to determine an appropriate composition of the Board.

appointment and succession planning of Directors

the company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures for the appointment and succession 
planning of directors.

each of the executive directors is engaged in a service contract for a term of three years. the appointment may be 
terminated by not less than three months’ written notice. all the non-executive director and independent non-
executive directors are appointed for a specific term. the terms of their appointments are as follows:

Mr. kat chit : up to the 2017 annual general meeting
Mr. hui Wing kuen : up to the 2017 annual general meeting
Mr. huang Jing : up to the 2017 annual general meeting
Mr. luan Wenpeng : up to the 2017 annual general meeting
Mr. cheng shi Jie : up to the 2017 annual general meeting

Pursuant to the articles, all directors are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years and any new 
director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election by 
shareholders at the next following general meeting and the next following annual general meeting respectively.

training for Directors

according to code Provision a.6.5 of the corporate governance code, all directors should participate in continuous 
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. this is to ensure that their contribution to 
the Board remains informed and relevant. the company should be responsible for arranging and funding suitable 
training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the directors.
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the company encourages the directors to attend any relevant programme to further enhance their knowledge to 
enable them to discharge their duties and responsibilities more effectively. there are also arrangements in place for 
providing continue briefing and professional development to directors whenever necessary such as continuously 
update the directors on the latest developments of the listing rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, to 
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

each newly appointed director receives comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her 
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the 
company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the listing rules and relevant 
regulatory requirements.

during the year ended 31 december 2016, the training participated by each director is set out below:

Directors Training received

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ji Wei a, c, d
Ms. cao Zhao hui a, c, d
Mr. Zeng Xin a, c, d
Ms. Zheng Xiao Ping a, c, d
Mr. Wang Xue Xin* a, c, d
Ms. li hong* a, c, d

Non-executive Director:

Mr. kat chit a, c, d

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. hui Wing kuen a, d
Mr. huang Jing** a, B, d
Mr. Wu Jin Ming*** a, B, d
Mr. luan Wenpeng**** a, B, d
Mr. Pan yuan***** a, B, d
Mr. cheng shi Jie a, B, d

a: attending conferences, seminars and forums

B: giving talks at conferences, seminars and forums

c: participation in in-house seminars

d: private study of materials relevant to the company’s business or director’s duties and responsibilities

*: resigned on 26 January 2017

**: appointed on 18 october 2016

***: resigned on 18 october 2016

****: appointed on 16 May 2016

*****: retired on 16 May 2016
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Board meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance
in 2016, the company has held twelve board meetings. the company will endeavour to hold at least four regular 
board meetings a year.

the attendance of the directors at board meetings held during the year is set out below:

Directors
Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ji Wei (Chairman) 12/12
Ms. cao Zhao hui 12/12
Mr. Zeng Xin 9/12
Ms. Zheng Xiao Ping 8/12
Mr. Wang Xue Xin* 9/12
Ms. li hong* 9/12

Non-executive Director:

Mr. kat chit 8/12

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. hui Wing kuen 9/12
Mr. huang Jing** 1/1
Mr. Wu Jin Ming*** 5/10
Mr. luan Wenpeng**** 4/5
Mr. Pan yuan***** 3/7
Mr. cheng shi Jie 5/12

*: resigned on 26 January 2017

**: appointed on 18 october 2016

***: resigned on 18 october 2016

****: appointed on 16 May 2016

*****: retired on 16 May 2016
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practices and conduct of Board meetings

annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available to directors in advance.

notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least 14 days before the meetings. for other Board 
and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all directors at 
least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors appraised of the latest 
developments and financial position of the company and to enable them to make informed decisions. the Board and 
each director also have separate and independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

the chief executive officer, chief financial officer of the company and company secretary attend all regular Board 
meetings and when necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on business developments, financial 
and accounting matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the company.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by the company secretary. draft minutes are 
normally circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open 
for directors’ inspection.

according to the current Board practice, any material transaction, which involves a conflict of interests for a 
substantial shareholder or a director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board 
meeting. the articles also contain provisions requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the 
quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such directors or any of their associates have a material 
interest.

chairmaN aND chiEf ExEcutivE officEr

the company fully supports the division of responsibility between the chairman of the Board (the “chairman”) and the 
chief executive officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. so, the posts of the chairman and chief 
executive officer are held separately by Mr. Ji Wei and Ms. cao Zhao hui respectively. their respective responsibilities 
are clearly defined and set out in writing.

the chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with 
good corporate governance practices. With support of the senior management, the chairman is also responsible for 
ensuring that the directors receive adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner and appropriate 
briefing on issues arising at the Board meetings.

the chief executive officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved and delegated by 
the Board. she is in charge of the company’s day-to-day management and operations. the chief executive officer is 
also responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating the organizational structure, control systems and 
internal procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.
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BoarD committEEs

the Board has established four committees, namely, the nomination committee, the remuneration committee, the 
audit committee, and the internal control and risk Management committee for overseeing particular aspects of the 
company’s affairs. all committees of the company are established with defined written terms of reference. the terms 
of reference have been posted on the websites of stock exchange and the company.

the majority of the members of each committee are independent non-executive directors and the list of the chairman 
and members of each committee is set out under “Board composition” of this report on pages 64 to 65.

the committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are 
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the company’s expenses.

NomiNatioN committEE

the duties of the nomination committee include the following:

(a) to review the structure, size and composition of the Board (including the skills, knowledge and experience) at 
least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the 
company’s corporate strategy.

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations to 
the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships.

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re appointment of directors and succession 
planning for directors in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

(d) to assess the independence of independent non-executive directors.

(e) to review the policy on Board diversity Policy and any measurable objectives for implementing such Board 
diversity Policy as may be adopted by the Board from time to time and to review the progress on achieving the 
objectives; and to make disclosure of its review results in the annual report of the company annually.

(f) Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an independent non-executive director at the 
general meeting, the committee should set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement 
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting why they believe the individual should be elected and 
the reasons why they consider the individual to be independent.
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the nomination committee carries out the process of selecting and recommending candidates for directorships by 
making reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of such 
individuals, the company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. an external recruitment 
agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment and selection process when necessary.

four nomination committee meetings have been held during the year to review the structure, size and composition 
of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of the 
business of the company. during the year, the nomination committee nominated Mr. luan Wenpeng as independent 
non-executive director to fill up the position of Mr. Pan yuan who retired as independent non-executive director upon 
the conclusion of the 2016 annual general meeting held on 16 May 2016. the nomination committee has also 
nominated Mr. huang Jing as independent non-executive director to fill up the vacancy generated by Mr. Wu Jing 
Ming who resigned as independent non-executive director on 18 october 2016. Moreover, the nomination 
committee has nominated Mr. tian Zhongping as executive director to fill up the vacancy generated by Mr. Wang 
Xue Xin and Ms. li hong who resigned as executive directors on 27 January 2017.

the attendance of individual members at nomination committee meetings held during the year is set out below:

Attendance/
Number of Meetings

Mr. Ji Wei (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. hui Wing kuen 4/4
Mr. huang Jing* 1/1
Mr. Wu Jin Ming** 1/3

*: appointed on 18 october 2016

**: resigned on 18 october 2016

in accordance with the articles, Mr. tian Zhongping and Mr. huang Jing, being directors elected to fill a casual 
vacancy, will hold office until the next annual general meeting following their appointments, and will retire and being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the next annual general meeting while Mr. Zheng Xin, Mr. kat chit and Mr. 
cheng shi Jie shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the next forthcoming annual 
general meeting.

the nomination committee recommended the re-appointment of the directors standing for re-election at the next 
forthcoming annual general meeting of the company.

rEmuNEratioN committEE

the duties of the remuneration committee include the following:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the company’s policy and structure for all directors and senior 
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policy.
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(b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to corporate goals and 
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.

(c) to determine the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior management, including 
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss or 
termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of 
non-executive directors. the committee should consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time 
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions elsewhere in the group. a significant proportion 
of executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual 
performance.

(d) to review and approve compensation payable to executive directors and senior management for any loss or 
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair 
and not excessive.

(e) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct 
to ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

(f) to ensure that no director or any of his associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

(g) the committee shall advise shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service contracts of directors that 
require shareholders’ approval under rule 13.68 of the listing rules.

the remuneration committee normally meets quarterly of each year for reviewing the remuneration policy and 
structure and determination of the annual remuneration packages of the executive directors and the senior 
management and other related matters. the human resources department is responsible for collection and 
administration of the human resources data and making recommendations to the remuneration committee for 
consideration. the remuneration committee shall consult the chairman about these recommendations on 
remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages.

four remuneration committee meetings have been held during the year to review the remuneration policy and 
structure of the company and remuneration packages of the executive directors and the senior management.

the attendance of individual members at remuneration committee meetings held during the year is set out below:

Attendance/
Number of Meetings

Mr. hui Wing kuen (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Ji Wei 4/4
Mr. huang Jing* 1/1
Mr. Wu Jin Ming** 1/3

*: appointed on 18 october 2016

**: resigned on 18 october 2016



 Annual Report 2016 73

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTiNuEd)

auDit committEE

the audit committee comprises four independent non-executive directors (including one independent non-executive 
director who possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management 
expertise). none of the members of the audit committee is a former partner of the company’s existing external 
auditors.

the duties of the audit committee include the following:

(a) to be primarily responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and 
removal of external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, 
and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit 
process in accordance with applicable standard;

(c) to discuss with the external auditor before the audit commences, the nature and scope of the audit and 
reporting obligations, and ensure co-ordination where more than one audit firm is involved;

(d) to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to supply non-audit services. the audit 
committee should report to the Board, identifying and making recommendations on any matters where action 
or improvement is needed;

(e) to monitor the integrity of financial statements of the company and the annual report and accounts, half-year 
report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports and to review significant financial judgements contained 
in them. in reviewing these reports before submission to the Board, the audit committee should focus 
particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgmental areas;

(iii) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv) the going concern assumption;

(v) compliance with accounting standards; and

(vi) compliance with the listing rules and other legal requirements in relation to financial reporting.

(f) to liaise with the Board, senior management and the chief financial officer of the company and to meet, at least 
twice a year, with the company’s auditors and to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may 
need to be, reflected in such reports and accounts and must give due consideration to any matters that have 
been raised by the company’s chief financial officer, compliance officer or auditors;

(g) to review the company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management systems;
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(h) to discuss the internal control system with management to ensure that the management has performed its duty 
to have an effective internal control system. the discussion should include the adequacy of resources, staff 
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the accounting and financial reporting 
function of the company;

(i) to consider major investigation findings on internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own 
initiative and management response; findings of internal investigations and management’s response to these 
findings;

(j) (where an internal audit function exists) to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors, and 
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the 
company, and to review and monitor its effectiveness;

(k) to review the group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;

(l) to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to management 
about accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s response;

(m) to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues raised in the external auditor’s 
management letter;

(n) to review arrangements employees of the company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. the audit committee should ensure that 
proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate 
follow-up action;

(o) to act as the key representative body for overseeing the company’s relations with the external auditor;

(p) to report to the Board on the matters set out in the code on corporate governance Practices in appendix 14 
of the listing rules;

(q) to establish a whistle blowing policy and system for employees and those who deal with the company (e.g. 
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence, with the audit committee about possible 
improprieties in any matter related to the company; and

(r) to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

the audit committee held four meetings during the year to review and discuss the financial results and reports, 
financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal control and risk management systems, and the re-
appointment of the external auditors.
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the attendance of individual members at audit committee meetings held during the year is set out below:

Attendance/
Number of Meetings

Mr. hui Wing kuen (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. huang Jing* 1/1
Mr. Wu Jin Ming** 1/3
Mr. luan Wenpeng*** 2/3
Mr. Pan yuan**** 1/1
Mr. cheng shi Jie 1/4

*: appointed on 18 october 2016

**: resigned on 18 october 2016

***: appointed on 16 May 2016

****: retired on 16 May 2016

there is no material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.

there is no disagreement between the Board and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment, 
resignation or dismissal of external auditors.

the company’s annual results for the year ended 31 december 2016 have been reviewed by the audit committee.

iNtErNaL coNtroL aND risK maNaGEmENt committEE

the Board has established an internal control and risk Management committee to take effect from 24 May 2016 
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board on 24 May 2016.

the duties of the internal control and risk Management committee include the following:

(a) to consider the group’s internal control and risk management strategies, review and approve internal control 
and risk management policies and guidelines.

(b) to assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems established by 
the management of the group and report any findings, including any deficiencies, failures or risks noted to the 
Board via the audit committee at least twice a year or as and when any material deficiency, failure or risk is 
noted. Particular attention should be paid to the compliance with the listing rules.

(c) to decide on risk levels and related resource allocation, to approve major decisions affecting the group’s risk 
profile and exposure, and to oversees formal reviews of activities associated with the effectiveness of risk 
management processes.
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(d) to review the group’s procedures for detecting fraud and whistle blowing and ensure that arrangements are 
properly in place and a comprehensive system of control should be established to ensure such risks are 
mitigated.

(e) to consider issues raised by external auditor, audit committee or any member of the Board who has lodged a 
request for a meeting.

(f) to provide the Board, as and when consider fit, its opinion relating to any matters concerning the internal 
control and risk management of the group and to recommend any changes or improvements thereto to the 
Board, if necessary.

(g) to invite any employee of the group, through the company secretary of the company, to attend its meeting as 
and when required;

(h) to provide the Board, on a half-yearly basis, assessment reports on the group’s internal control and risk 
management systems.

(i) the committee shall be provided with sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its duties, including but not 
limited to obtaining advice and assistance from internal or external legal, accounting or other advisors at the 
expensive of the company if necessary. the committee shall have access to such information, whether from 
sources within or outside the group, as it deems necessary.

one internal control and risk Management committee meeting has been held during the year to discuss the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems established by the management of 
the group and the findings of the internal control reviews performed by internal audit department of the group.

the attendance of individual members of the internal control and risk Management committee meeting during the 
year is set out below:

Attendance/
Number of Meeting

Mr. hui Wing kuen (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. huang Jing* 1/1
Mr. Wu Jing Ming** 0/1
Mr. luan Wenpeng*** 0/1
Mr. Pan yuan**** 0/1
Mr. cheng shi Jie 0/1
Mr. Zeng Xin 1/1
Ms. li hong***** 1/1
Mr. kat chit 1/1

*: appointed on 18 october 2016

**: resigned on 18 october 2016

***: appointed on 16 May 2016

****: retired on 16 May 2016

*****: resigned on 26 January 2017
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corporatE GovErNaNcE fuNctioN

the Board will be responsible for performing the following corporate governance duties:

(a) to develop and review the company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make 
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior 
management;

(c) to review and monitor the company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees 
and directors; and

(e) to review the company’s compliance with the corporate governance code as set out in appendix 14 of the 
listing rules and disclosure in the corporate governance report in the annual report of the company.

the Board may delegate the corporate governance duties to a committee of the Board.

during the year ended 31 december 2016, the Board has reviewed the company’s corporate governance practices.

auDitors’ rEmuNEratioN

the statement of the external auditor of the company about its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is 
set out in the “independent auditor’s report” on pages 83 to 87 of this annual report.

the company’s external auditor is deloitte touche tohmatsu. total auditor’s remuneration paid and payable by the 
group for the year ended 31 december 2016 amounted to rMB2.9 million, which comprises rMB2.4 million for the 
audit of the group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 december 2016 and rMB0.5 million for 
the review of the group’s interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2016.

rEspoNsiBiLitiEs iN rEspEct of thE fiNaNciaL statEmENts

the Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of annual and interim 
reports, price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the listing rules and other regulatory 
requirements.

the directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the company for the year 
ended 31 december 2016 on a going concern basis.
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risK maNaGEmENt aND iNtErNaL coNtroL

the Board acknowledges its overall responsibility to maintain appropriate and effective risk management and internal 
control systems in order to safeguard the group’s assets and shareholders’ interests, as well as oversee and review 
the implementation and effectiveness of the systems.

the group’s risk management and internal control systems are featured with a defined management structure with 
reasonable delegated authority so as to identify and manage potential risks, to safeguard its assets against 
unauthorized use or disposition, to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations. the systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the group’s 
business objectives, with main purpose of providing reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

in order to assist the Board to discharge its duties, the audit committee is delegated with the authority and 
responsibility for reviewing and monitoring of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems 
on a regular basis to ensure the systems in place are adequate. a sub-committee, the internal control and risk 
Management committee (“icrM committee”), was established on 24 May 2016. the main objective of the icrM 
committee is to assist the audit committee to discharge its oversight responsibility over the risk management and 
internal control systems of the group. the icrM committee works closely with the risk control department which is 
supervised by the audit committee.

the group has established an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks 
associated with the achievement of its strategic objectives. different business units are responsible for identifying, 
assessing and monitoring risks during their daily operations. their risk responses including control measures 
implemented to mitigate risk identified will be reported to the risk control department through regular internal 
meetings. risk control department will prepare risk assessment reports on quarterly basis for the Board and the 
audit committee to discuss and evaluate the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems 
during Board meetings and audit committee meetings.

during the year ended 31 december 2016, the audit committee with the assistance of icrM committee, has 
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the group’s risk management and internal control systems. the review 
covers major areas, including financial, operational and compliance controls, risk management functions, and the 
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the company’s 
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions. no significant areas of concern that may affect the group 
to achieve its strategic goals have been identified and the audit committee accepts that the existing risk management 
and internal control systems have been functioning effectively to meet the respective financial reporting, operational 
and compliance needs.

the company’s internal audit department is responsible for providing independent assurance that the group’s risk 
management, governance and internal control procedures are operating effectively. during the year under review, the 
group’s internal audit department conducted on-going reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control systems of 
the group. the reviews covered major financial and operational controls. the reports of its findings have been 
submitted to the audit committee for review. no significant deficiency but areas for improvement was identified 
during the course of review and the systems have been operating effectively and adequately.
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Based on the results of the review as reported by the audit committee, the Board is of the opinion that the risk 
management and internal control systems which address the group’s financial, operational and compliance risks, are 
effective and adequate and the group has duly complied with the provisions of the corporate governance code 
regarding risk management and internal control code provisions during the year ended 31 december 2016.

the Board has established policy and internal control procedures for the handling and dissemination of insider 
information in compliance with the requirements under Part Xiva of the securities and future ordinance and the 
listing rules to ensure that disclosures are made on a timely and accurate manner. such policy has been 
communicated to all directors and senior management of the group. every director and senior management must 
take all reasonable measures from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of 
disclosure requirement. the chief financial officer works closely with directors and senior management in identifying 
potential inside information and assessing the materiality thereof, and if appropriate, will escalate to the attention of 
the Board to take appropriate action promptly to ensure compliance of the applicable laws and regulations.

the company has also taken all reasonable measures from time to time to ensure proper preservation of 
confidentiality of inside information until disclosure to general public, including restrictive access to inside information 
to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know basis, ensure the relevant employees who are in possession of 
inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve confidentiality and ensure appropriate 
confidentiality agreements are in place when the group enters into significant negotiations.

compaNy sEcrEtary

during the year ended 31 december 2016, Mr. choi Wai lung edward was the company secretary. Mr. choi is a 
full-time employee of the company, and has the day-to-day knowledge of the company’s affairs. his biographical 
details are set out in the “Biographical details of directors and senior Management” section of this annual report. for 
the year ended 31 december 2016, Mr. choi had complied with rule 3.29 of the listing rules by taking no less than 
15 hours of relevant professional training.

sharEhoLDErs’ riGhts

rights and procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting 
(“EGm”) (including putting forward proposals/moving a resolution at the EGm)

Pursuant to article 58 of the articles, any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition 
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the 
company (the “eligible shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the 
company secretary, to require an egM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in 
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at the egM.

eligible shareholders who wish to convene an egM for the purpose of making proposals or moving a resolution at 
the egM must deposit a written requisition (the “requisition”) signed by the eligible shareholder(s) concerned to the 
principal place of business of the company in hong kong at unit 2605, 26/f West tower, shun tak centre, 168–200 
connaught road central, sheung Wan, hong kong, for the attention of the company secretary.
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the requisition must state clearly the name of the eligible shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the 
company, the reason(s) to convene an egM, the agenda proposed to be included the details of the business(es) 
proposed to be transacted in the special general meeting, signed by the eligible shareholder(s) concerned.

the company will check the requisition and the identity and the shareholding of the eligible shareholder will be 
verified with the company’s branch share registrar. if the requisition is found to be proper and in order, the company 
secretary will ask the Board to convene an egM within 2 months and/or include the proposal or the resolution 
proposed by the eligible shareholder at the egM after the deposit of the requisition. on the contrary, if the 
requisition has been verified as not in order, the eligible shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome 
and accordingly, the Board will not call for an egM and/or include the proposal or the resolution proposed by the 
eligible shareholder at the egM.

if within 21 days of the deposit of the requisition the Board has not advised the eligible shareholders of any outcome 
to the contrary and fails to proceed to convene such egM, the eligible shareholder(s) himself/herself/themselves may 
do so in accordance with the M&a, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the eligible shareholder(s) concerned as 
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the eligible shareholder(s) concerned by the company.

procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

shareholders of the company (the “shareholders”) may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing 
them to the principal place of business of the company in hong kong at unit 2605, 26/f West tower, shun tak 
centre, 168–200 connaught road central, sheung Wan, hong kong by post or email to enquires@wasiongroup.
com.hk for the attention of the company secretary.

upon receipt of the enquiries, the company secretary of the company will forward:

•	 communications	relating	to	matters	within	the	Board’s	purview	to	the	executive	directors	of	the	Company;

•	 communications	 relating	 to	matters	within	a	Board	committee’s	area	of	 responsibility	 to	 the	chairman	of	 the	
appropriate committee; and

•	 communications	 relating	 to	 ordinary	 business	 matters,	 such	 as	 suggestions,	 inquiries	 and	 consumer	
complaints, to the appropriate management of the company.

procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a director

•	 If	a	shareholder	wishes	to	propose	a	person	other	than	a	director	of	the	Company	(the	“Director”)	for	election	as	
a director, the shareholder must deposit a written notice (the “notice”) to the principal place of business of the 
company in hong kong at unit 2605, 26/f West tower, shun tak centre, 168–200 connaught road central, 
sheung Wan, hong kong or the branch share registrar of the company, Boardroom share registrars (hk) ltd., 
at 31/f, 148 electric road, north Point, hong kong for the attention of the company secretary of the 
company.

•	 The	Notice	must	state	clearly	the	name	of	the	shareholder	and	his/her/their	shareholding,	the	full	name	of	the	
person proposed for election as a director, including the person’s biographical details as required by rule 
13.51(2) of the listing rules, and be signed by the shareholder concerned (other than the person to be 
proposed). the notice must also be accompanied by a letter of consent signed by the person proposed to be 
elected on his/her willingness to be elected as a director.
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•	 The	period	for	lodgment	of	the	Notice	will	commence	no	earlier	than	the	day	after	the	despatch	of	the	notice	by	
the company of the general meeting appointed for election of directors of the company and end no later than 
seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting. if the notice is received less than 15 days prior to the 
general meeting, the company will need to consider the adjournment of the general meeting in order to give 
shareholders 14 days’ notice of the proposal.

•	 The	 Notice	 will	 be	 verified	 with	 the	 Company’s	 branch	 share	 registrar	 and	 upon	 their	 confirmation	 that	 the	
request is proper and in order, the company secretary of the company will ask the nomination committee and 
the Board to consider to include the resolution in the agenda for the general meeting proposing such person to 
be elected as a director.

iNvEstor rELatioNs

the Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy which aims to set out the provisions with the 
objective of ensuring the shareholders are provided with equal and timely access to information about the company, 
in order to enable the shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to allow them to engage 
actively with the company.

the Board will maintain an on-going dialogue with the shareholders and will review this policy regularly to ensure its 
effectiveness. information will be communicated to the shareholders through the company’s financial reports, annual 
general meetings and other general meetings that may be convened, as well as all the disclosures submitted to the 
stock exchange. effective and timely dissemination of information to the shareholders will be ensured at all times.

a dedicated investor relations section is available on the company’s website www.wasion.com. information on the 
company’s website is updated on a regular basis. information released by the company to the stock exchange is 
also posted on the company’s website immediately thereafter. such information includes financial statements, results 
announcements, circulars and notices of general meetings and associated explanatory documents etc. all 
presentation materials provided in conjunction with the company’s annual general meeting and results announcement 
each year will be made available on the company’s website. all press releases and shareholders’ newsletters will 
also be made available on the company’s website.

shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings 
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Board members, in particular, the chairmen of the 
Board committees or their delegates, appropriate senior management and external auditors will attend annual general 
meetings to answer shareholders’ questions.

during the year ended 31 december 2016, the 2016 agM was held on 16 May 2016. all the resolutions proposed at 
the 2016 agM were duly passed by the shareholders by way of poll and the results of the poll have been published 
on the websites of the stock exchange and the company. Mr. Ji Wei, the chairman of the Board and nomination 
committee, chaired the 2016 agM to answer shareholders’ questions. Mr. Wu Jin Ming, an independent non-
executive director and member of nomination committee, remuneration committee, audit committee and internal 
control and risk Management committee, Mr. Pan yuan, an independent non-executive director and member of 
audit committee and internal control and risk Management committee and Mr. cheng shi Jie, an independent non-
executive director and member of audit committee and internal control and risk Management committee, failed to 
attend the 2016 agM due to conflicts with their schedules. the external auditor of the company, deloitte touche 
tohmatsu, attended the 2016 agM to answer shareholders’ questions about the conduct of the audit, the 
preparation and content of the independent auditor’s report and independence of auditor.



Wasion Group Holdings Limited82

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTiNuEd)

the attendance of the directors at the 2016 agM is set out below:

Directors
AGM

Attended/held

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ji Wei (Chairman) 1/1
Ms. cao Zhao hui 0/1
Mr. Zeng Xin 0/1
Ms. Zheng Xiao Ping 0/1
Mr. Wang Xue Xin* 0/1
Ms. li hong* 0/1
Mr. tian Zhong Ping** 0/1

Non-Executive Director:

Mr. kat chit 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. hui Wing kuen 1/1
Mr. huang Jing*** 0/1
Mr. Wu Jin Ming**** 0/1
Mr. luan Wenpeng***** 0/1
Mr. Pan yuan****** 0/1
Mr. cheng shi Jie 0/1

*: resigned on 26 January 2017

**: appointed on 26 January 2017

***: appointed on 18 october 2016

****: resigned on 18 october 2016

*****: appointed on 16 May 2016

******: retired on 16 May 2016

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the company will be held on 18 May 2017 (“2017 agM”). the notice 
convening the 2017 agM together with the circular will be published on the websites of the stock exchange and the 
company and dispatched to shareholders before 30 april 2017.

shareholders are also encouraged to attend shareholders’ activities organized by the company, where information 
about the company, including its latest strategic plan, products and services will be communicated.

siGNificaNt chaNGEs iN coNstitutioNaL DocumENts

there was no significant change in the company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31 december 
2016.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF WASION GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
威勝集團控股有限公司
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

opiNioN

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wasion group holdings limited (the “company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “group”) set out on pages 88 to 175, which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 december 2016 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
group as at 31 december 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with hong kong financial reporting standards (“hkfrss”) issued by the hong kong institute of 
certified Public accountants (the “hkicPa”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 
requirements of the hong kong companies ordinance.

Basis for opiNioN

We conducted our audit in accordance with hong kong standards on auditing (“hksas”) issued by the hkicPa. our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the hkicPa’s code of 
ethics for Professional accountants (the “code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

KEy auDit mattErs

key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current year. these matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recoverability of trade and bills receivables

We identified the recoverability of trade and bills receivables, 
amounting to rMB2,543,287,000 as at 31 december 2016 
as set out in note 21(ii) to the consolidated financial 
statements as a key audit matter due to magnitude of the 
amount and the significant judgement by the management 
is required in determining the appropriate level of provision 
to be made in respect of irrecoverable amounts, if any.

as disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the management determined the carrying 
amount of trade and bills receivables, taken into 
consideration the ages of the amounts, creditworthiness of 
the customers and the historical settlement records and 
subsequent settlements of the amounts.

our procedures in relation to recoverability of trade and bills 
receivables included:

•	 Checking	 the	 agreed	 credit	 terms	 with	 customers	 to	
the signed sales contracts, on a sample basis;

•	 Checking	the	accuracy	and	completeness	of	the	aged	
analysis;

•	 Evaluating	 the	 reasonableness	 and	 adequacy	 of	 the	
provisions provided for the irrecoverable amounts with 
reference to the aged analysis, creditworthiness of the 
customers, historical settlement records and 
subsequent settlements of trade receivables; and

•	 Comparing	the	aged	analysis	results	with	competitors	
in the same industry. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Capitalisation of development costs

We identified the capitalisation of development costs, 
amounting to rMB291,513,000 as at 31 december 2016 
as set out in note 16(b) to the consolidated financial 
statements as a key audit matter due to magnitude of the 
amount and the significant judgement involved. 

the group capitalises certain costs incurred during 
development phase of internal projects for development of 
new technology and new products. in order to determine 
the amount of cost that should be capitalised, the group 
must assess whether the cost meets the capitalisation 
criteria set out in the significant accounting policies per note 
3 to the consolidated financial statements, especially on 
how the intangible asset will generate probable future 
economic benefits. the group must also apply judgement 
in determining whether the group can demonstrate the 
existence of a market for the output of the intangible asset 
or the intangible asset itself or, if it is to be used internally, 
the usefulness of the intangible asset.

our procedures in relation to capitalisation of development 
costs included:

•	 Assessing	 and	 testing	 the	 key	 controls	 over	 the	
capitalisation of development costs, on a sample basis;

•	 Performing	substantive	test,	on	a	sample	basis,	on	the	
addition amount in the development costs during the 
year, for the occurrence and accuracy of development 
costs and assessing whether it meets the capitalisation 
criteria set out in the significant accounting policies per 
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements;

•	 Inquiring	 project	 managers	 from	 the	 development	
department of the group for details of material 
development projects; and

•	 Evaluating	 the	 Group’s	 assessment	 on	 the	 expected	
future economic benefits brought by the intangible 
asset by checking the budgeted benefits in 
development project proposals and comparing with 
the related benefits incurred subsequent to the 
completion of the project, on a sample basis.

othEr iNformatioN

the directors of the company are responsible for the other information. the other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

in connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. if, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.
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rEspoNsiBiLitiEs of DirEctors aND thosE charGED With GovErNaNcE 
for thE coNsoLiDatED fiNaNciaL statEmENts

the directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with hkfrss issued by the hkicPa and the disclosure requirements of the hong kong 
companies ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the group’s financial reporting process.

auDitor’s rEspoNsiBiLitiEs for thE auDit of thE coNsoLiDatED 
fiNaNciaL statEmENts

our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to 
you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with hksas will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

as part of an audit in accordance with hksas, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	 an	 understanding	 of	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 audit	 in	 order	 to	 design	 audit	 procedures	 that	 are	
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s 
internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	related	
disclosures made by the directors.
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•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	 the	directors’	use	of	 the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and,	based	on	the	
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. if we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. however, future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	 the	 overall	 presentation,	 structure	 and	 content	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements,	 including	 the	
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	 sufficient	 appropriate	 audit	 evidence	 regarding	 the	 financial	 information	 of	 the	 entities	 or	 business	 activities	
within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

the engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is tse fung chun.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

hong kong

21 March 2017
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2016 2015
notes rmB’000 rMB’000

revenue 5 2,607,504 2,969,033
cost of sales (1,790,744) (2,072,834)

gross profit 816,760 896,199
other income 6 111,133 145,189
other gains and losses 7 16,150 (18,338)
administrative expenses (148,264) (136,978)
selling expenses (247,841) (244,570)
research and development expenses (147,047) (143,330)
finance costs 8 (52,564) (25,389)
share of results of an associate 17 1,062 (3,108)

Profit before taxation 9 349,389 469,675
income tax expense 10 (41,484) (47,856)

Profit for the year 307,905 421,819

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to
— owners of the company 307,265 423,533
— non-controlling interests 640 (1,714)

307,905 421,819

Other comprehensive income (expense) 
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:

exchange difference arising on translation 21,582 (6,339)
fair value changes on available-for-sale investments (1,204) 4

other comprehensive income (expense) for the year 20,378 (6,335)

total comprehensive income for the year 328,283 415,484

Total comprehensive income (expense)  for the year attributable to
— owners of the company 327,643 417,198
— non-controlling interests 640 (1,714)

328,283 415,484

Earnings per share 13
Basic rmB30 cents rMB42 cents

diluted rmB30 cents rMB42 cents
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2016 2015
notes rmB’000 rMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14(a) 1,267,972 1,182,303
Prepaid lease payments 14(b) 392,604 400,571
investment properties 15 19,752 16,098
goodwill 16(a) 297,919 300,537
other intangible assets 16(b) 361,695 296,236
investment in an associate 17 1,063 1
available-for-sale investments 18 150,878 83,816
amounts due from related parties 30(b) — 20,956
other non-current assets 19 60,138 162,111

2,552,021 2,462,629

CURRENT ASSETS
inventories 20 344,075 334,104
trade and other receivables 21 3,260,764 2,800,166
Prepaid lease payments 14(b) 7,918 7,870
loan receivables 22 205,000 205,000
Pledged bank deposits 23(a) 183,297 241,489
Bank balances and cash 23(b) 940,016 1,171,836

4,941,070 4,760,465

CURRENT LIABILITIES
trade and other payables 24 2,166,141 2,133,520
tax liabilities 36,816 54,452
Borrowings — due within one year 25 532,967 300,839

2,735,924 2,488,811

NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,205,146 2,271,654

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,757,167 4,734,283
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2016 2015
notes rmB’000 rMB’000

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
share capital 26 10,078 10,180
reserves 4,138,541 4,090,980

equity attributable to owners of the company 4,148,619 4,101,160
non-controlling interests 29,095 38,412

4,177,714 4,139,572

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings — due after one year 25 562,307 576,248
deferred tax liability 27 17,146 18,463

579,453 594,711

4,757,167 4,734,283

the consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to 175 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors 
on 21 March 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ji Wei Cao Zhao Hui
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Share
capital

Share
premium

Merger
reserve

Exchange
reserve

PRC
statutory
reserves

Share
option

reserve

Investment
revaluation

reserve

Shares 
held for 

share 
award

scheme
Other

reserve
Retained

profits Total

Non-
controlling

interests Total
rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000
(note 26) (note i) (note ii) (note iii) (note iv & v)

at 1 January 2015 9,588 1,299,957 49,990 (72,563) 224,823 9,881 — — 32,391 1,691,442 3,245,509 60,732 3,306,241

Profit for the year — — — — — — — — — 423,533 423,533 (1,714) 421,819
other comprehensive (expense) 

income for the year — — — (6,339) — — 4 — — — (6,335) — (6,335)

total comprehensive (expense) 
income for the year — — — (6,339) — — 4 — — 423,533 417,198 (1,714) 415,484

subscription of shares 591 638,337 — — — — — — — — 638,928 — 638,928
transaction costs attributable to 

subscription of shares — (15,453) — — — — — — — — (15,453) — (15,453)
recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payment — — — — — 11,461 — — — — 11,461 — 11,461
issue of shares upon exercise  

of share options 1 76 — — — — — — — — 77 — 77
transfer to Prc statutory reserves — — — — 37,577 — — — — (37,577) — — — 
acquisition of additional interests in  

a subsidiary (note v) — — — — — — — — (4,809) — (4,809) (31,292) (36,101)
acquisition of a subsidiary (note 28) — — — — — — — — — — — 2,128 2,128
capital injection by non-controlling 

interests — — — — — — — — — — — 8,558 8,558
dividend recognised as distribution  

(note 12) — — — — — — — — — (191,751) (191,751) — (191,751)

at 31 december 2015 10,180 1,922,917 49,990 (78,902) 262,400 21,342 4 — 27,582 1,885,647 4,101,160 38,412 4,139,572

Profit for the year — — — — — — — — — 307,265 307,265 640 307,905
other comprehensive income (expense) 

for the year — — — 21,582 — — (1,204) — — — 20,378 — 20,378

total comprehensive income (expense) 
for the year — — — 21,582 — — (1,204) — — 307,265 327,643 640 328,283

recognition of equity-settled 
share-based payment — — — — — 5,816 — — — — 5,816 — 5,816

transfer to Prc statutory reserves — — — — 34,540 — — — — (34,540) — — — 
shares repurchased and cancelled 

 (note 26) (102) (37,381) — — — — — — — — (37,483) — (37,483)
transaction cost attributable to shares 

repurchased — (160) — — — — — — — — (160) — (160)
Purchase of shares under share 

award scheme (note 31) — — — — — — — (25,119) — — (25,119) — (25,119)
acquisition of additional interests in  

a subsidiary (note v) — — — — — — — — (17,103) — (17,103) (10,497) (27,600)
disposal of a subsidiary (note 29) — — — — — — — — 1,563 (1,563) — — — 
capital injection by non-controlling 

interests — — — — — — — — — — — 540 540
dividend recognised as distribution  

(note 12) — — — — — — — — — (206,135) (206,135) — (206,135)

at 31 december 2016 10,078 1,885,376 49,990 (57,320) 296,940 27,158 (1,200) (25,119) 12,042 1,950,674 4,148,619 29,095 4,177,714
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notes:

(i) Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of shares of the subsidiary acquired over the nominal value of the shares used by 

the company in exchange thereafter.

(ii) Prc statutory reserves are reserves required by the relevant laws in the People’s republic of china (the “Prc”) applicable to the group’s Prc 

subsidiaries.

(iii) shares held for share award scheme represents the own shares of the company repurchased by a trustee for an employees’ share award scheme.

(iv) other reserve of rMB12,042,000 includes an amount of rMB33,164,000 representing the excess of the balance of plan asset over the carrying amount 

of shares held under share award plan of the company, which was recognised upon termination of the plan in prior years.

(v) the group accounts for changes in the group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the group losing control over those 

subsidiaries as equity transactions and recognises any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair 

value of the consideration paid or received in other reserve.

during the year ended 31 december 2016, the group acquired an additional 24% equity interest in an existing subsidiary from the non-controlling 

interests. the difference between the amount of consideration and the carrying value of the interests acquired amounting to rMB17,103,000 is recorded 

in other reserve.

during the year ended 31 december 2015, the group acquired an additional 23.08% equity interest and 36% equity interest in two existing subsidiaries, 

respectively, from the non-controlling interests. the difference between the amounts of consideration and the carrying values of the interests acquired 

amounting to rMB4,809,000, in aggregate, is recorded in other reserve.
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2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation 349,389 469,675 
adjustments for:

amortisation of intangible assets 60,091 44,766
Bank interest income (11,957) (6,513)
depreciation of investment properties 304 230
depreciation of property, plant and equipment 41,410 45,215
dividend income from available-for-sale investments (3,485) (3,485)
finance costs 52,564 25,389
gain on disposal of a subsidiary (740) — 
interest income from available-for-sale investments (3,832) (3,003)
interest income from consideration receivable for disposal of a subsidiary (906) (1,344)
interest income from loan receivables (24,383) (24,536)
net loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 32 (101)
net foreign exchange (gain) loss (15,442) 18,439
release of prepaid lease payments 7,918 6,204
share of results of an associate (1,062) 3,108
share-based payment expenses 5,816 11,461

operating cash flows before movements in working capital 455,717 585,505 
(increase) decrease in inventories (9,489) 2,648
increase in trade and other receivables (425,135) (427,621)
increase in trade and other payables 44,857 658,683

cash generated from operations 65,950 819,215
income tax paid (60,437) (50,866)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 5,513 768,349
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2016 2015
notes rmB’000 rMB’000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Placement of pledged bank deposits (435,230) (496,292)
Placement of short-term bank deposits (150,000) (150,000)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (124,773) (226,899)
expenditure on intangible assets (125,550) (99,497)
investment in available-for-sale investments (68,266) (54,000)
disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash and cash equivalents disposed of 29 (1,346) — 
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 493,422 498,022
Withdrawal of short-term bank deposits 150,000 — 
deposit refunded (paid) for purchase of a piece of land and certain properties 81,950 (75,554)
interest received 37,260 43,702
repayment from related parties 20,956 — 
interest income received from available-for-sale investments 3,832 3,003
dividends received from available-for-sale investments 3,485 3,485
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 169 1,023
advances of short-term loan receivables under entrusted loan contracts — (105,000)
repayment of advances of short-term loan receivables under  

entrusted loan contracts — 105,000
acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 28 — 2,468

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (114,091) (550,539)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
repayment of borrowings (854,581) (1,526,563)
dividends paid (206,135) (191,751)
interest paid on borrowings (62,316) (25,389)
shares repurchased and cancelled (37,483) — 
acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries (27,600) (36,101)
shares repurchased for share award scheme (25,119) — 
transaction cost attributable to shares repurchased and cancelled (160) — 
new borrowings raised 1,071,850 1,614,627
Proceeds from subscription of shares — 638,928
capital injection by non-controlling interests — 8,558
Proceeds from issue of shares upon exercise of share options — 77
transaction costs attributable to subscription of shares — (15,453)

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (141,544) 466,933

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (250,122) 684,743

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,021,836 327,434

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 18,302 9,659

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 790,016 1,021,836

represented by:
Bank balances and cash 940,016 1,171,836
less: short-term bank deposit 23(b) (150,000) (150,000)

790,016 1,021,836
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1. GENEraL

the company is incorporated in the cayman islands as an exempted company with limited liability under the 
companies law of cayman islands and its shares are listed on the stock exchange of hong kong limited (the “stock 
exchange”). the directors consider the immediate and ultimate holding company to be star treasure investments 
holdings limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British virgin islands (the “Bvi”). the addresses of the 
registered office and principal place of business of the company are disclosed in the “corporate information” section 
of the annual report.

the consolidated financial statements are presented in renminbi (“rMB”), which is the same as the functional currency 
of the company.

the company is an investment holding company. Particulars of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and 
an associate are set out in notes 37 and 17, respectively.

2. appLicatioN of NEW aND amENDmENts to hoNG KoNG fiNaNciaL 
rEportiNG staNDarDs (“hKfrss”)

(a) amendments to hKfrss that are mandatorily effective for the current year

the group has applied the following amendments to hkfrss issued by the hong kong institute of certified 
Public accountants (the “hkicPa”) for the first time in the current year:

amendments to hkfrs 11 accounting for acquisitions of interests in Joint operations
amendments to hkas 1 disclosure initiative
amendments to hkas 16  

and hkas 38
clarification of acceptable Methods of depreciation and amortisation

amendments to hkas 16  
and hkas 41

agriculture: Bearer Plants

amendments to hkfrs 10,  
hkfrs 12 and hkas 28

investment entities: applying the consolidation exception

amendments to hkfrss annual improvements to hkfrss 2012–2014 cycle

the application of the amendments to hkfrss in the current year has had no material impact on the group’s 
financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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2. appLicatioN of NEW aND amENDmENts to hoNG KoNG fiNaNciaL 
rEportiNG staNDarDs (“hKfrss”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to hKfrss in issue but not yet effective

the group has not early applied the following new and amendments to hkfrss that have been issued but are 
not yet effective:

hkfrs 9 financial instruments1 
hkfrs 15 revenue from contracts with customers and the related amendments1

hkfrs 16 leases2

amendments to hkfrs 2 classification and Measurement of share-based Payment transactions1

amendments to hkfrs 4 applying hkfrs 9 financial instruments with hkfrs 4 insurance contracts1

amendments to hkfrs 10 
and hkas 28

sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or Joint 
venture3

amendments to hkas 7 disclosure initiative4

amendments to hkas 12 recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses4

1 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
2 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
3 effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
hkfrs 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, financial 
liabilities, general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for financial assets.

key requirements of hkfrs 9 which are relevant to the group are:

•	 All	 recognised	 financial	 assets	 that	 are	 within	 the	 scope	 of	 HKFRS	 9	 are	 required	 to	 be	 subsequently	
measured at amortised cost or fair value. specifically, debt investments that are held within a business 
model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at 
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. debt instruments that are held within a 
business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial 
assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“fvtoci”). all other debt investments and equity investments are measured 
at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. in addition, under hkfrs 9, entities may 
make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that 
is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognised in 
profit or loss.

•	 In	 relation	 to	 the	 impairment	 of	 financial	 assets,	 HKFRS	 9	 requires	 an	 expected	 credit	 loss	 model,	 as	
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under hkas 39. the expected credit loss model requires an 
entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting 
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. in other words, it is no longer necessary for a 
credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.
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2. appLicatioN of NEW aND amENDmENts to hoNG KoNG fiNaNciaL 
rEportiNG staNDarDs (“hKfrss”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to hKfrss in issue but not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)
Based on the group’s financial instruments and risk management policies as at 31 december 2016, application 
of hkfrs 9 in the future may have a material impact on the classification and measurement of the group’s 
financial assets. the group’s available-for-sale investments, including those currently stated at cost less 
impairment, will either be measured as fair value through profit or loss or be designated as fvtoci (subject to 
fulfillment of the designation criteria). in addition, the expected credit loss model may result in early provision of 
credit losses which are not yet incurred in relation to the group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
hkfrs 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for 
revenue arising from contracts with customers. hkfrs 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition 
guidance including hkas 18 “revenue”, hkas 11 “construction contracts” and the related interpretations when 
it becomes effective.

the core principle of hkfrs 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to 
revenue recognition:

•	 Step	1:	Identify	the	contract(s)	with	a	customer

•	 Step	2:	Identify	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract

•	 Step	3:	Determine	the	transaction	price

•	 Step	4:	Allocate	the	transaction	price	to	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract

•	 Step	5:	Recognise	revenue	when	(or	as)	the	entity	satisfies	a	performance	obligation

under hkfrs 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
’control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. 
far more prescriptive guidance has been added in hkfrs 15 to deal with specific scenarios. furthermore, 
extensive disclosures are required by hkfrs 15.

in 2016, the hkicPa issued clarifications to hkfrs 15 in relation to the identification of performance obligations, 
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

the directors of the company anticipate that the application of hkfrs 15 in the future may have an impact on 
the amounts reported as the timing of revenue recognition may be affected and the amounts of revenue 
recognised are subject to variable consideration constraints, and more disclosures relating to revenue are 
required. however, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of hkfrs 15 until the 
group performs a detailed review. in addition, the application of hkfrs 15 in the future may result in more 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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2. appLicatioN of NEW aND amENDmENts to hoNG KoNG fiNaNciaL 
rEportiNG staNDarDs (“hKfrss”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to hKfrss in issue but not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”
hkfrs 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting 
treatments for both lessors and lessees. hkfrs 16 will supersede hkas 17 “leases” and the related 
interpretations when it becomes effective.

hkfrs 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a 
customer. distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced 
by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by 
lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

the right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain 
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease 
liability. the lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that 
date. subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease 
modifications, amongst others. for the classification of cash flows, the group currently presents upfront prepaid 
lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified as 
investment properties while other operating lease payments are presented as operating cash flows. under the 
hkfrs 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion 
which will be presented as financing cash flows.

in contrast to lessee accounting, hkfrs 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in 
hkas 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by hkfrs 16.

as at 31 december 2016, the group as lessee has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of 
hk$6,670,000 as disclosed in note 35. a preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet 
the definition of a lease under hkfrs 16, and hence the group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a 
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the 
application of hkfrs 16. in addition, the application of new requirements may result changes in measurement, 
presentation and disclosure as indicated above. however, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate 
of the financial effect until the directors complete a detailed review.

the directors of the company anticipate that the application of the other new and amendments to hkfrss will 
have no material impact on the group’s consolidated financial statements.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with hkfrss issued by the hkicPa. in 
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the rules governing the 
listing of securities on the stock exchange (the “listing rules”) and by the hong kong companies ordinance.

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial 
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies 
set out below.

historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods or services.

fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. in estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the group takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions 
that are within the scope of hkfrs 2 “share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope of hkas 
17 “leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
value in hkas 2 “inventories” or value in use in hkas 36 “impairment of assets”.

in addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value measurements are categorised into level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level	1	inputs	are	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	that	the	entity	can	
access at the measurement date;

•	 Level	2	inputs	are	inputs,	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1,	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.

the principal accounting policies are set out below.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

Basis of consolidation

the consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and entities controlled by 
the company and its subsidiaries. control is achieved when the company:

•	 has	power	over	the	investee;

•	 is	exposed,	or	has	rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee;	and

•	 has	the	ability	to	use	its	power	to	affect	its	returns.

the group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the group 
loses control of the subsidiary. specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the 
group gains control until the date when the group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the company and to the 
non-controlling interests. total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the company and 
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with the group’s accounting policies.

all intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members 
of the group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
changes in the group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the group losing control over 
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. the carrying amounts of the group’s relevant components of 
equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests 
in the subsidiaries. any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-
attribution of the relevant equity components, and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the company.

When the group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the 
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 
attributable to the owners of the company. all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of 
the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by 
applicable hkfrss). the fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost 
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under hkas 39, when applicable, the cost 
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. the consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets 
transferred by the group, liabilities incurred by the group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests 
issued by the group in exchange for control of the acquiree. acquisition related costs are generally recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred.

at the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, 
except that:

•	 deferred	tax	assets	or	liabilities,	and	assets	or	liabilities	related	to	employee	benefit	arrangements	are	recognised	
and measured in accordance with hkas 12 “income taxes” and hkas 19 “employee Benefits” respectively;

•	 liabilities	 or	 equity	 instruments	 related	 to	 share-based	 payment	 arrangements	 of	 the	 acquiree	 or	 share-based	
payment arrangements of the group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree 
are measured in accordance with hkfrs 2 “share-based Payment” at the acquisition date (see accounting 
policy below); and

•	 assets	(or	disposal	groups)	that	are	classified	as	held	for	sale	in	accordance	with	HKFRS	5	“Non-current	Assets	
held for sale and discontinued operations” are measured in accordance with that standard.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over 
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. if, after re-
assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds 
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value 
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as 
a bargain purchase gain.

non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. the 
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. other types of non-controlling interests 
are measured at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from 
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and 
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. changes in the fair value of the contingent 
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding 
adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional 
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about 
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

if the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities 
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date 
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

Goodwill

goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the 
business (see accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

for the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the group’s cash-generating units (“cgu”) (or 
groups of cgus) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level at 
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

a cgu (or groups of cgus) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. for goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting 
period, the cgu (or groups of cgus) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of 
that reporting period. if the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to the other assets of the 
unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or groups of cgus).

on disposal of the relevant cgu, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of 
profit or loss on disposal.

investment in an associate

an associate is an entity over which the group has significant influence. significant influence is the power to participate 
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

the results and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting. the financial statements of an associate used for equity accounting purposes are 
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the group for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances. appropriate adjustments have been made to conform the associate’s accounting policies to those of 
the group. under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the group’s share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of the associate. When the group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the group’s 
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s net 
investment in the associate), the group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. additional losses are 
recognised only to the extent that the group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the associate.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

investment in an associate (continued)

the requirements of hkas 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with 
respect to the group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment 
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with hkas 36 “impairment of assets” as a single asset by 
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. 
any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. any reversal of that impairment 
loss is recognised in accordance with hkas 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment 
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with 
the associate are recognised in the group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the 
associate that are not related to the group.

revenue recognition

revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable 
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related tax.

revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to the group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the group’s activities, as described 
below.

revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and the titles have passed.

deposits and instalments received from customers prior to meeting the above criteria on revenue recognition are 
included in the consolidated statement of financial position under current liabilities.

service income is recognised when services are provided.

interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to 
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.

dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payments have been 
established (provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the amount of revenue 
can be measured reliably).
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings, leasehold land (classified as finance leases) held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as 
described below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any 
recognised impairment loss. costs include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in 
accordance with the group’s accounting policy. such properties are classified to the appropriate categories of 
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. depreciation of these assets, on the same 
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other than construction in progress less their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. the estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
accounted for on a prospective basis.

an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property when there is a change of use, as 
evidenced by end of owner-occupation. the cost and accumulated depreciation of that item at the date of transfer is 
recognised as the cost and accumulated depreciation of the investment property respectively.

investment properties

investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment properties over their estimated 
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method.

an investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from 
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

Leasing

leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. all other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease.

The Group as lessee
operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held under operating leases, are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of 
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building
When a lease includes both land and building elements, the group assesses the classification of each element as a 
finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to the group, unless it is clear that both elements are 
operating lease in which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease. specifically, the minimum lease 
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the building elements in 
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the lease at 
the inception of the lease.

to the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for 
as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately
intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives. the estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis (see the accounting policy in respect of 
impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets below).
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

intangible assets (continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development expenditure
expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

an internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development phase of an 
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

•	 the	technical	feasibility	of	completing	the	intangible	asset	so	that	it	will	be	available	for	use	or	sale;

•	 the	intention	to	complete	the	intangible	asset	and	use	or	sell	it;

•	 the	ability	to	use	or	sell	the	intangible	asset;

•	 how	the	intangible	asset	will	generate	probable	future	economic	benefits;

•	 the	availability	of	adequate	technical,	financial	and	other	resources	to	complete	the	development	and	to	use	or	
sell the intangible asset; and

•	 the	ability	to	measure	reliably	the	expenditure	attributable	to	the	intangible	asset	during	its	development.

the amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the 
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible 
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives are carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets 
that are acquired separately.

an intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is 
derecognised.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

inventories

inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. cost of inventories are determined on a weighted 
average method. net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

financial instruments

financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (“fvtPl”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as 
appropriate, on initial recognition. transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at fvtPl 
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets
the group’s financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“fvtPl”), loans and 
receivables or available-for-sale investments. the classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial 
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. all regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of 
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace.

Effective interest method
the effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL
financial assets are classified as at fvtPl when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at 
fvtPl.

a financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•	 it	has	been	acquired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	selling	in	the	near	future;	or

•	 on	initial	recognition	it	is	a	part	of	a	portfolio	of	identified	financial	instruments	that	the	Group	manages	together	
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it	is	a	derivative	that	is	not	designated	and	effective	as	a	hedging	instrument.

a financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at fvtPl upon initial recognition if:

•	 such	 designation	 eliminates	 or	 significantly	 reduces	 a	 measurement	 or	 recognition	 inconsistency	 that	 would	
otherwise arise; or

•	 the	financial	asset	forms	part	of	a	group	of	financial	assets	or	financial	liabilities	or	both,	which	is	managed	and	its	
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the group’s documented risk management or 
investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

•	 it	forms	part	of	a	contract	containing	one	or	more	embedded	derivatives,	and	HKAS	39	“Financial	Instruments:	
recognition and Measurement” permits the entire combined contract to be designated as at fvtPl.

financial assets at fvtPl are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in 
profit or loss. the net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial 
assets.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables
loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including the deposit component of the life 
insurance products, consideration receivable for disposal of a subsidiary, trade and other receivables, loan receivables, 
amounts due from related parties, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment (see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets 
below).

retention amounts billed for sale of goods but not yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement 
of financial position under trade and other receivables.

interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Available-for-sale investments
available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not 
classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss.

equity and debt securities held by the group that are classified as available-for-sale investments and are traded in an 
active market are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. changes in the carrying amount of 
available-for-sale monetary financial assets relating to interest income calculated using the effective interest method, 
and changes in foreign exchange rates, if applicable, are recognised in profit or loss. dividends on available-for-sale 
equity investments are recognised in profit or loss when the group’s right to receive the dividends is established. other 
changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is 
determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity 
investments are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting period (see the 
accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets
financial assets other than those at fvtPl, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial assets have been affected.

for available-for-sale equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its 
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

for loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	counterparty;	or

•	 breach	of	contract,	such	as	default	or	delinquency	in	interest	or	principal	payments;	or

•	 it	becoming	probable	that	the	borrower	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	financial	re-organisation;	or

•	 disappearance	of	an	active	market	for	that	financial	asset	because	of	financial	difficulties.

for certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. objective evidence of impairment for a 
portfolio of receivables could include the group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of 
delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local 
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

for financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate.

for financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate 
of return for a similar financial asset. such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods (see the 
accounting policy below).

the carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance accounts. 
changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is 
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off are credited to profit or loss.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
When an available-for-sale investments is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in that period.

for financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

in respect of available-for-sale equity investments, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not 
reversed through profit or loss. any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified either as financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
the group’s financial liabilities, including trade and other payables and borrowings, are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method
the effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments
an equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of 
its liabilities. equity instruments issued by the group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

repurchase of the company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. no gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the company’s own equity instruments.

Derecognition
the group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity.

on derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

the group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expire. the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees
equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

the fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period, based on the group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a 
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

at the end of each reporting period, the group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to 
vest. the impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative 
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to 
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, 
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

Awarded shares granted to employees
When trustee of the share award scheme purchases the company’s shares from the open market, the consideration 
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs, is presented as shares held for share award scheme and 
deducted from total equity. no gain or loss is recognised on the transactions of the company’s own shares.

the fair value of services received is determined by reference to the fair value of share awards granted at the grant date 
and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share award 
reserve).

foreign currencies

in preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions. at the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at that date. non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

for the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the group (i.e. rMB) using exchange rate prevailing at the 
end of the reporting period. income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, 
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rate prevailing at the dates 
of transactions are used. exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

Government grants

government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of 
giving immediate financial support to the group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they become receivable.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

all other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident fund scheme are recognised 
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

short-term employee benefits

short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and 
when employees rendered the services. all short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another 
hkfrs requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

a liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees after deducting any amount already paid.

taxation

income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

the tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as 
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. the group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

taxation (continued)

deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. deferred 
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. deferred tax assets are generally recognised 
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in 
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. in addition, deferred tax liabilities are not 
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
an associate, except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there 
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected 
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities.

current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.
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3. siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLiciEs (continued)

impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

at the end of the reporting period, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. if any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. 
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cgu to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be 
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cgus, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group 
of cgus for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. in assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

if the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cgu) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset (or a cgu) is reduced to its recoverable amount. in allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata 
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. the carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below 
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. the amount 
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets 
of the unit. an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cgu) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cgu) in prior 
years. a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

4. criticaL accouNtiNG JuDGEmENt aND KEy sourcEs of EstimatioN 
uNcErtaiNty

in the application of the group’s accounting policies described in note 3, the directors of the company are required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. the estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. actual results may differ from these estimates.

the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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4. criticaL accouNtiNG JuDGEmENt aND KEy sourcEs of EstimatioN 
uNcErtaiNty (continued)

critical judgements in applying accounting policies

the following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the 
company have made in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Capitalisation of development cost
careful judgement by the group’s management is applied when deciding whether the recognition requirements for 
intangible assets arising from development costs have been met. this is necessary as the economic success of any 
product development is uncertain and may be subject to future technical problems at the time of recognition. 
Judgements are based on the best information available at the time of incurrence of such costs.

Key sources of estimation uncertainly

the following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Estimated impairment of trade and bills receivables, retentions held by trade customers and 
loan receivables
the provision policy for bad and doubtful debts of the group is based on the evaluation of collectability and aged 
analysis of accounts and management’s judgement. a considerable amount of judgement is required in 
assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, with reference to the ages of the amounts, current 
creditworthiness, past collection history and subsequent settlement of each customer. if the financial conditions 
of customers of the group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, 
additional allowance may be required.

as at 31 december 2016, the carrying amounts of (a) trade and bills receivables is approximately rMB2,543.3 
million (2015: rMB2,297.8 million), net of allowance for doubtful debts of approximately rMB19.7 million (2015: 
rMB19.7 million), (b) retentions held by trade customers is approximately rMB284.4 million (2015: rMB215.5 
million) and (c) loan receivables is approximately rMB205.0 million (2015: rMB205.0 million).
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4. criticaL accouNtiNG JuDGEmENt aND KEy sourcEs of EstimatioN 
uNcErtaiNty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainly (continued)

(ii) Estimated carrying amounts of goodwill
determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cgus to which 
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. the value 
in use calculation requires the group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cgu and a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than 
expected or changes in facts and circumstances which result in downward revision of future cash, a material 
impairment loss may arise. the carrying amount of goodwill of approximately rMB297.9 million (2015: 
rMB300.5 million) as at 31 december 2016 was allocated to the power advanced metering infrastructure, 
communication and fluid advanced metering infrastructure and advanced distribution operations segments. 
details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 16(a).

(iii) Estimated impairment of other intangible assets
the group tests whether other intangible assets have suffered any impairment in accordance with its accounting 
policy whenever there is any indication that the assets may have been impaired. the recoverable amounts of 
other intangible assets have been determined based on discounted cash flows method. the directors consider 
that the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount of the other intangible assets and no impairment was 
recognised during the year. Where the actual future cash flows is different from the original estimate, an 
impairment loss/further impairment loss may arise. as at 31 december 2016, the carrying amount of other 
intangible assets is approximately rMB361.7 million (2015: rMB296.2 million).

5. rEvENuE aND sEGmENt iNformatioN

information reported to the group’s chief executive officer, being the chief operating decision maker (the “codM”), for 
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on business lines of the group.

in previous years, the group’s reportable and operating segments under hkfrs 8 are as follows:

(a) smart meter segment, which engages in the development, manufacture and sale of standardised smart meter 
products to power grids in china;

(b) advanced metering infrastructure segment, which engages in the development, manufacture and sale of non-
standardised smart meter products and providing system solution and communication terminals solution 
services; and

(c) advanced distribution operations segment, which engages in the manufacture and sale of smart power 
distribution devices and providing smart power distribution solution and energy efficiency solution services.
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5. rEvENuE aND sEGmENt iNformatioN (continued)

during the current year, management of the group has restructured its segment reporting in accordance with the 
future development strategy of the group. codM has used the new segment information for the decision making, 
resources allocation and segment performance assessment and the group’s reportable and operating segments under 
hkfrs 8 are changed to below:

(a) Power advanced metering infrastructure segment, which engages in the development, manufacture and sale of 
smart power meters and provision of respective system solution;

(b) communication and fluid advanced metering infrastructure segment, which engages in the development, 
manufacture and sale of communication terminals and water, gas and heat metering products and provision of 
respective system solution; and

(c) advanced distribution operations segment, which engages in the manufacture and sale of smart power 
distribution devices and providing smart power distribution solution and energy efficiency solution services.

the power advanced metering infrastructure segment includes development, manufacturing and sale of standardised 
and non-standardised smart meter products, each of which is considered as a separate operating segment by the 
codM. for segment reporting, these two operating segments have been aggregated in to a single reportable segment 
due to their similar nature of products and production processes.

segment revenue and results

the following is an analysis of the group’s revenue and results by reportable and operating segment:

For the year ended 31 December 2016

power
advanced metering

infrastructure

communication
and fluid 

advanced metering
infrastructure

advanced
distribution
operations consolidated

rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000

segment revenue 1,590,680 501,873 514,951 2,607,504

segment profit 261,041 65,105 76,607 402,753

unallocated income and gains/losses 48,581
share of results of an associate 1,062
central administration costs (50,443)
finance costs (52,564)

Profit before taxation 349,389
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5. rEvENuE aND sEGmENt iNformatioN (continued)

segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (restated)

Power
advanced metering

infrastructure

communication
and fluid 

advanced metering
infrastructure

advanced
distribution
operations consolidated

rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000

segment revenue 1,919,462 622,959 426,612 2,969,033

segment profit 296,124 108,323 111,880 516,327

unallocated income and gains/losses 27,323
share of results of an associate (3,108)
central administration costs (45,478)
finance costs (25,389)

Profit before taxation 469,675

the accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the group’s accounting policies described in note 3. 
segment profit represents the profit attributable to each segment without allocation of certain other income, other 
gains and losses, share of results of an associate, central administration costs, directors’ salaries, finance costs and 
taxation. this is the measure reported to the group’s codM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance 
assessment.
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5. rEvENuE aND sEGmENt iNformatioN (continued)

segment assets and liabilities

the following is an analysis of the group’s assets and liabilities by reportable and operating segment:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

(restated)
SEGMENT ASSETS
Power advanced metering infrastructure 2,941,869 2,685,787
communication and fluid advanced metering infrastructure 1,283,115 1,147,259
advanced distribution operations 1,320,361 1,145,366

total segment assets 5,545,345 4,978,412
unallocated assets 1,957,746 2,244,682

consolidated assets 7,503,091 7,223,094

SEGMENT LIABILITIES
Power advanced metering infrastructure 1,196,035 1,243,564
communication and fluid advanced metering infrastructure 441,824 490,737
advanced distribution operations 414,461 334,441

total segment liabilities 2,052,320 2,068,742
unallocated liabilities 1,273,057 1,014,780

consolidated liabilities 3,325,377 3,083,522

for the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources between segments:

•	 all	assets	are	allocated	to	operating	segments	other	than	certain	property,	plant	and	equipment,	prepaid	 lease	
payments, investment in an associate, available-for-sale investments, life insurance products, loan receivables, 
other receivables, amounts due from related parties, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash; and

•	 all	liabilities	are	allocated	to	operating	segments	other	than	certain	other	payables,	tax	liabilities,	borrowings	and	
deferred tax liability.
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5. rEvENuE aND sEGmENt iNformatioN (continued)

other segment information

amounts included in the measure of segment profit or segment assets and liabilities:

For the year ended 31 December 2016

power

advanced

metering

infrastructure

communication

and

fluid advanced

metering

infrastructure

advanced

distribution

operations

segment

total unallocated consolidated

rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000

additions to non-current assets (note) 77,800 49,445 129,972 257,217 2,858 260,075

depreciation and amortisation of  

property, plant and equipment and  

intangible assets 51,329 24,309 18,104 93,742 11,028 104,770

release of prepaid lease payments 547 266 1,727 2,540 5,378 7,918

(gain) loss on disposal of property,  

plant and equipment (26) 3 55 32 — 32

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (restated)

Power

advanced

metering

infrastructure

communication

and

fluid advanced

metering

infrastructure

advanced

distribution

operations

segment

total unallocated consolidated

rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000

additions to non-current assets (note) 65,353 25,637 322,013 413,003 11,080 424,083

depreciation and amortisation of  

property, plant and equipment and  

intangible assets 46,055 17,410 15,845 79,310 10,671 89,981

release of prepaid lease payments 544 252 30 826 5,378 6,204

gain on disposal of property,  

plant and equipment (60) (37) (4) (101) — (101)

note: non-current assets exclude financial instruments.
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5. rEvENuE aND sEGmENt iNformatioN (continued)

revenue from major customers

the directors are not aware of any external customer that individually contributed over 10% of the consolidated 
revenue in any of the two years ended 31 december 2016.

Geographical information

the group’s operations are mainly located in the Prc.

the following table provides an analysis of the group’s revenue by geographical location of customers, irrespective of 
the origin of the goods, and information about its non-current assets by geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current
assets (Note)

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015 2016 2015

rmB’000 rMB’000 rmB’000 rMB’000

Prc 2,209,900 2,665,771 2,345,825 2,304,713
africa 347,096 194,822 — —
other overseas countries 50,508 108,440 — — 

2,607,504 2,969,033 2,345,825 2,304,713

note: non-current assets exclude financial instruments.
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6. othEr iNcomE

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

other income comprises:

Bank interest income 11,957 6,513
change in fair value of financial assets classified 

as held for trading 9,686 3,304
dividend income from available-for-sale investments 3,485 3,485
government grants (note i) 32,283 78,924
interest income from available-for-sale investments 3,832 3,003
interest income from consideration receivable for 

disposal of a subsidiary 906 1,344
interest income from loan receivables (note ii) 24,383 24,536
refund of value-added tax (“vat”) (note iii) 20,942 20,879
rental income from investment properties 1,678 1,235
others 1,981 1,966

111,133 145,189

notes:

(i) government grants mainly comprise financial subsidies from the Prc governments for the immediate rewards of the group’s contribution to the 

relevant provinces and the continuous technological advancements of the group in its products with no future related costs or obligations.

(ii) the amount represents the interest income from short-term loans advanced by the group to certain independent third parties under entrusted 

loan contracts. details of the loans are disclosed in note 22.

(iii) Pursuant to the relevant regulations in the Prc, certain subsidiaries of the group operating in the Prc are entitled to refunds of certain 

percentage of vat on the sale of specified high technology products. the amount represents such vat refund which is recognised upon the 

approval by the relevant tax authorities.
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7. othEr GaiNs aND LossEs

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

other gains (losses) comprises:

net foreign exchange gain (loss) 15,442 (18,439)
net (loss) gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (32) 101
gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 29) 740 — 

16,150 (18,338)

8. fiNaNcE costs

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

interest on borrowings 54,756 32,204
interest on factoring of trade receivables 7,560 — 
less: amounts capitalised in the cost of qualifying assets (9,752) (6,815)

52,564 25,389

for the year ended 31 december 2016, the borrowing costs capitalised of rMB9,752,000 (2015: rMB6,815,000) 
arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 4.12% (2015: 3.2%) to 
expenditures on qualifying assets.
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9. profit BEforE taxatioN

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging:

staff costs (including directors’ emoluments):
salaries and benefits 248,245 250,956
retirement benefit scheme contributions 18,601 16,822
share-based payment expenses 5,816 11,461

272,662 279,239
capitalised in development costs (60,102) (62,565)
capitalised in inventories (22,090) (21,550)

190,470 195,124

auditor’s remuneration 2,915 2,829
depreciation of property, plant and equipment 44,679 45,215
depreciation of investment properties 304 230
release of prepaid lease payments 7,918 6,204
amortisation of intangible assets (included in selling expenses, administrative 

expenses and research and development expenses) 60,091 44,766

total depreciation and amortisation 112,992 96,415
capitalised in inventories (3,269) (3,207)

109,723 93,208

cost of inventories recognised as expense 1,790,744 2,072,834
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10. iNcomE tax ExpENsE

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

the charge comprises:

Prc enterprise income tax (“eit”)
— current year 59,327 67,892 
— overprovision in prior years (16,526) (18,372)

42,801 49,520
deferred taxation (note 27)

— current year (1,317) (1,664)

41,484 47,856

notes:

(i) Hong Kong

 no provision for hong kong Profits tax has been made as the group did not earn any income that was subject to hong kong Profits tax during 

both years.

(ii) PRC

 Prc eit was calculated based on the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable profit for those subsidiaries established in the Prc, as determined 

in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and regulations in the Prc, except that certain Prc subsidiaries which are approved as 

enterprises that satisfied the condition as high technology development enterprises and obtained the certificate of high new technology 

enterprise continue to enjoy the preferential tax rate of 15% for a consecutive three years from year 2014 to 2016, year 2015 to 2017 or year 

2016 to 2018, respectively.

(iii) Other jurisdictions

 taxation arising in other jurisdictions was calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. under the decree law no. 58/99/M, 

chapter 2, article 12, dated 18 october 1999, a Macao company incorporated under that law (“58/99/M company”) is exempted from Macao 

complementary tax as long as the 58/99/M company does not sell its products to a Macao resident company.
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10. iNcomE tax ExpENsE (continued)

the income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

Profit before taxation 349,389 469,675

tax at the income tax rate of 25% 87,347 117,419 
tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 19,601 23,771
tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (2,588) (4,634)
tax effect of share of results of an associate (265) 777
tax effect of tax losses not recognised 2,798 4,273
utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (1,092) (1,732)
effect of tax concessions/exemption granted to Prc and Macao subsidiaries (47,791) (73,646)
overprovision in prior years (16,526) (18,372)

income tax expense for the year 41,484 47,856
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11. DirEctors’ aND EmpLoyEEs’ EmoLumENts

(a) Directors’ and employees’ emoluments

details of emoluments paid or payable to each of the thirteen (2015: twelve) directors are set out as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Directors’
fees

salaries
and other

benefits
Discretionary

bonuses

retirement
benefit

scheme
contributions total

rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000
(Note i)

Executive directors:
Ji Wei — 518 — 15 533
cao Zhao hui (note ii) — 560 50 23 633
Zeng Xin — 538 — 23 561
Zheng Xiao Ping — 558 — 23 581
Wang Xue Xin — 560 — 23 583
li hong — 380 — 23 403

Non-executive director:
kat chit — 260 — — 260

Independent non-executive  
directors:

hui Wing kuen (note iii) 398 — — — 398
huang Jing (note iv) 42 — — — 42
luan Wenpeng (note iv) 39 — — — 39
cheng shi Jie 158 — — — 158
Wu Jin Ming (note v) 158 — — — 158
Pan yuan (note v) 98 — — — 98

893 3,374 50 130 4,447
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11. DirEctors’ aND EmpLoyEEs’ EmoLumENts (continued)

(a) Directors’ and employees’ emoluments (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

directors’
fees

salaries
and other

benefits
discretionary

bonuses

retirement
benefit

scheme
contributions total

rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000
(note i)

Executive directors:
Ji Wei — 488 — 14 502
cao Zhao hui (note ii) — 544 50 24 618
Zeng Xin — 522 — 20 542
Zheng Xiao Ping — 542 — 24 566
Wang Xue Xin — 544 — 24 568
li hong — 364 — 24 388

Non-executive director:
kat chit — 244 — — 244

Independent non-executive  
directors:

Wu Jin Ming 139 — — — 139
Pan yuan 139 — — — 139
cheng shi Jie 139 — — — 139
hui Wing kuen (note iii) 141 — — — 141
chan cheong tat (note vi) 82 — — — 82

640 3,248 50 130 4,068

notes:

(i) discretionary bonuses are recommended by the remuneration committee and is decided by the board of directors having regard to the 

group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

(ii) Ms. cao Zhao hui is also the chief executive of the company and her emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered 

by her as the chief executive.

(iii) Mr. hui Wing kuen was appointed as a director of the company on 15 May 2015.

(iv) Mr. huang Jing and Mr. luan Wenpeng were appointed as directors of the company on 18 october 2016 and 16 May 2016, respectively.

(v) Mr. Wu Jin Ming and Mr. Pan yuan resigned and retired as directors of the company on 18 october 2016 and 16 May 2016, respectively.

(vi) Mr. chan cheong tat retired as a director of the company on 15 May 2015.
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11. DirEctors’ aND EmpLoyEEs’ EmoLumENts (continued)

(a) Directors’ and employees’ emoluments (continued)

no directors waived any emoluments for any of the two years ended 31 december 2016.

the executive director’s emoluments shown above were paid for their services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the company and the group.

the independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for their services as directors of 
the company.

(b) Employees’ emoluments

the five highest paid individuals of the group for the year ended 31 december 2016 included four (2015: four) 
directors of the company, details of whose emoluments are included above. the emoluments of the remaining 
one (2015: one) individual for the year are as follows:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

salaries and other benefits 1,815 1,415
retirement benefit scheme contributions 16 14

1,831 1,429

the number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the company whose remuneration fell 
within the following bands is as follows:

2016 2015
No. of no. of

employees employees

hk$1,500,001 to hk$2,000,000 — 1
hk$2,000,001 to hk$2,500,000 1 — 

1 1

during both years, no emoluments were paid by the group to any of the directors or the five highest paid 
individuals (including directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the group or as 
compensation for loss of office.
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12. DiviDENDs

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

dividends recognised as distribution during the year:
2015 final dividend — hk$0.24, equivalent to rMB0.201, 

per share (2015: 2014 final dividend — hk$0.24, 
equivalent to rMB0.194, per share) 206,135 191,751

subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 december 2016 of 
hk$0.24, equivalent to rMB0.212, per share (2015: final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 december 2015 of 
hk$0.24, equivalent to rMB0.201, per share), in an aggregate amount of hk$243,572,000, equivalent to 
rMB215,318,000, (2015: hk$243,572,000, equivalent to rMB206,135,000), has been proposed by the directors and 
is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.

13. EarNiNGs pEr sharE

the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the company is based on the 
following data:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

Earnings
earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share  

(profit for the year attributable to owners of the company) 307,265 423,533

2016 2015

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 

purpose of basic earnings per share 1,013,705,745 999,432,059
effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in respect of share options 41,543 8,809,140

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose  
of diluted earnings per share 1,013,747,288 1,008,241,199

the weighted average number of ordinary shares shown above has been arrived at after deducting the shares held by 
the trustee of the share award scheme of the company as set out in note 31.
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14. propErty, pLaNt aND EQuipmENt/prEpaiD LEasE paymENts

(a) property, plant and equipment

Buildings
Leasehold

improvements
Plant and

machinery

Furniture,
fixtures 

and office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Construction
in progress Total

rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000

COST
at 1 January 2015 846,115 4,367 232,706 37,542 22,031 91,747 1,234,508
additions — 143 38,731 4,058 1,986 181,981 226,899
acquisition of a subsidiary  

(note 28) — — 562 92 — — 654
transfer — — 2,157 — — (2,157) — 
disposals/written off (555) — (3,149) (66) (146) — (3,916)
exchange realignment — 118 — 59 107 — 284

at 31 december 2015 845,560 4,628 271,007 41,685 23,978 271,571 1,458,429
additions — 4 11,499 5,788 1,521 115,713 134,525
transfer 261,338 — 495 301 — (262,134) — 
transfer to investment 

properties (4,106) — — — — — (4,106)
disposals/written off — (7) (629) (19) (802) — (1,457)
disposal of a subsidiary  

(note 29) — — (235) (54) — — (289)
exchange realignment — 133 — 38 79 — 250

at 31 december 2016 1,102,792 4,758 282,137 47,739 24,776 125,150 1,587,352

DEPRECIATION
at 1 January 2015 62,235 3,885 124,047 30,818 12,644 — 233,629
Provided for the year 15,326 200 22,538 5,185 1,966 — 45,215
eliminated on disposals/ 

written off (151) — (2,681) (34) (128) — (2,994)
exchange realignment — 116 — 56 104 — 276

at 31 december 2015 77,410 4,201 143,904 36,025 14,586 — 276,126
Provided for the year 15,245 252 22,937 4,365 1,880 — 44,679
transfer to investment 

properties (148) — — — — — (148)
eliminated on disposals/ 

written off — (7) (494) (10) (745) — (1,256)
eliminated on disposal of  

a subsidiary (note 29) — — (235) (26) — — (261)
exchange realignment — 131 — 34 75 — 240

at 31 december 2016 92,507 4,577 166,112 40,388 15,796 — 319,380

CARRYING VALUES
at 31 december 2016 1,010,285 181 116,025 7,351 8,980 125,150 1,267,972

at 31 december 2015 768,150 427 127,103 5,660 9,392 271,571 1,182,303
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14. propErty, pLaNt aND EQuipmENt/prEpaiD LEasE paymENts (continued)

(a) property, plant and equipment (continued)

the above items of property, plant and equipment, except for construction in progress, are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the following periods:

Buildings over the remaining period of the lease terms of the relevant land on 
which  buildings are erected, or 50 years,  whichever is the shorter

leasehold improvements over the remaining period of the relevant  lease, or 5 years, 
whichever is the  shorter

Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years
furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 10 years

all of the buildings are erected on land with medium-term land use rights outside hong kong.

(b) prepaid lease payments

the group’s prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold land outside hong kong held under medium-term 
leases and analysed for reporting purposes as:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

non-current assets 392,604 400,571
current assets 7,918 7,870

400,522 408,441
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15. iNvEstmENt propErtiEs

RMB’000

COST
at 1 January 2015 and 31 december 2015 17,098
transfer from property, plant and equipment 4,106

at 31 december 2016 21,204

DEPRECIATION
at 1 January 2015 770
Provided for the year 230

at 31 december 2015 1,000
Provided for the year 304
transfer from property, plant and equipment 148

at 31 december 2016 1,452

CARRYING VALUES
at 31 december 2016 19,752

at 31 december 2015 16,098

the above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the remaining period of the lease terms 
of the relevant land and erected on land under medium-term land use rights outside hong kong.

the fair values of the group’s investment properties at 31 december 2016 were rMB23,350,000 (2015: 
rMB18,332,000). the fair values have been arrived at based on valuations carried out by 湖南中和房地產評估諮詢有
限公司 (2015: 湖南鵬程資產評估有限責任公司), independent valuers not connected with the group.

the fair values were determined based on the direct comparison approach, which makes reference to the recent 
transactions for similar properties in the proximity and adjusted for a number of factors, including differences in 
transaction dates, building ages, floor areas, etc., between the comparable properties and the subject matters. in 
estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use and the fair 
value measurements for all of the group’s properties are categorised as level 3 (see note 3 for details). there has been 
no change from the valuation technique used in the prior year.
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16. GooDWiLL/othEr iNtaNGiBLE assEts

(a) Goodwill

RMB’000

COST
at 1 January 2015 297,919
arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (note 28) 2,618

at 31 december 2015 300,537
disposal of a subsidiary (note 29) (2,618)

at 31 december 2016 297,919

for the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising on business combinations as set out above was 
allocated, at acquisition, to individual cash-generating units (“cgus”) which are in the following segments and the 
carrying amounts are as follows:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

Power advanced metering infrastructure
cgu:

company a 128,053 128,053
company B 56,831 56,831

total goodwill under power advanced metering infrastructure 184,884 184,884

communication and fluid advanced metering infrastructure 
cgu: company c 53,495 53,495

advanced distribution operations
cgu:

company d 37,720 37,720
company e 12,250 12,250
company f 9,570 9,570
lineng technology (as defined in note 28) — 2,618

total goodwill under advanced distribution operations 59,540 62,158

297,919 300,537
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16. GooDWiLL/othEr iNtaNGiBLE assEts (continued)

(a) Goodwill (continued)

during each of the year ended 31 december 2015 and 2016, management of the group determines that there is 
no impairment of any of the cgus containing goodwill.

the recoverable amounts of the cgus have been determined based on a value in use calculation.

for the year ended 31 december 2016, the calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets 
approved by management covering a 5-year period, and discount rates ranging from 13.41% to 16.09%. the 
cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate. for the cgus of power 
advanced metering infrastructure, a rate of 3% is used. this growth rate is based on the global economic growth 
rate. for the cgu of communication and fluid advanced metering infrastructure and the cgus of advanced 
distribution operations, rates of 5% and 9% are used, respectively. these growth rates are based on the 
directors’ best estimate on the average growth rate of these specific industries.

for the year ended 31 december 2015, the calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets 
approved by management covering a 5-year period, and discount rate of 15.00%. the cash flows beyond the 
5-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate. for the cgus of power advanced metering 
infrastructure and the cgu of communication and fluid advanced metering infrastructure, a rate of 3% is used. 
this growth rate is based on the global economic growth rate. for the cgus of advanced distribution operations, 
a rate of 9% is used. this growth rate is based on the directors’ best estimate on the average growth rate of this 
specific industry.

for both years, other key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is based on the unit’s past 
performance and management’s expectations for the market development. Management believes that any 
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of any 
of the cgus to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the relevant cgus.
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16. GooDWiLL/othEr iNtaNGiBLE assEts (continued)

(b) other intangible assets

Development

costs

Acquired

patents,

copyrights

and

trademarks

Acquired

technology

Customer

relationship

and

contracts 

Premium

on land Total

rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000

COST

at 1 January 2015 399,517 73,918 95,257 63,669 46,713 679,074

additions 98,036 1,461 — — — 99,497

at 31 december 2015 497,553 75,379 95,257 63,669 46,713 778,571

additions 122,868 2,682 — — — 125,550

at 31 december 2016 620,421 78,061 95,257 63,669 46,713 904,121

AMORTISATION

at 1 January 2015 244,587 59,863 85,297 40,694 7,128 437,569

Provided for the year 34,320 2,956 2,954 3,602 934 44,766

at 31 december 2015 278,907 62,819 88,251 44,296 8,062 482,335

Provided for the year 50,001 3,876 2,954 2,326 934 60,091

at 31 december 2016 328,908 66,695 91,205 46,622 8,996 542,426

CARRYING VALUES

at 31 december 2016 291,513 11,366 4,052 17,047 37,717 361,695

at 31 december 2015 218,646 12,560 7,006 19,373 38,651 296,236
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16. GooDWiLL/othEr iNtaNGiBLE assEts (continued)

(b) other intangible assets (continued)

development costs represent expenses capitalised during development phase of internal projects for 
development of new technology and new products.

the entire balances of acquired technology, customer relationship and contracts and premium on land, and 
certain amounts of development costs and patents, copyrights and trademarks were acquired as part of 
business combinations in prior years.

the above intangible assets have finite useful lives and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following 
periods:

development costs 3 to 5 years
acquired patents, copyrights and 

trademarks
3 to 10 years

acquired technology 3 to 5 years
customer relationship and contracts 5 years
Premium on land over the remaining period of the lease terms of the relevant land
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17. iNvEstmENt iN aN associatE

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

cost of unlisted investment in an associate 20,000 20,000
share of post-acquisition losses (15,122) (15,639)
less: effect of elimination of gain on transfer of intangible assets from the group 

to an associate to the extent of the group’s interest therein (3,815) (4,360)

1,063 1

details of the group’s associate at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of entity Form of entity

Country of
establishment/
principal 
operations

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting rights
held by the Group Principal activity

2016 2015

smart Metering solution 
(changsha) co., ltd. 
(“smart Metering”)

established Prc 40% 40% research, development, 
manufacturing, and 
selling meter products, 
meter data management  
system, smart meter  
solution system and 
provide relevant 
consulting services

smart Metering is co-established by the group and an independent third party and the group is able to exercise 
significant influence over smart Metering because it has power to appoint two out of five directors.

the group’s associate is accounted for using equity method in these consolidated financial statements.
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17. iNvEstmENt iN aN associatE (continued)

summarised financial information in respect of the group’s associate is set out below. the summarised financial 
information below represents amount shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with 
hkfrss.

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

Financial information of consolidated statement of profit  or loss and  
other comprehensive income

revenue 141,241 73,587

Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense)  for the year 1,327 (9,133)

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to the group 517 (3,653)

Reconciliation to the share of results of an associate:
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to the group 517 (3,653)
amortisation of gain on transfer of intangible assets from the group to  

the associate to the extent of the group’s interest therein 545 545

share of results of an associate 1,062 (3,108)

Financial information of consolidated statement of  financial position
intangible assets 14,011 18,717
other non-current assets 13,167 13,553
current assets 30,842 35,734
current liabilities (45,827) (57,103)

net assets of the associate 12,193 10,901

Reconciliation to the carrying amount of interest in the  associate:
net assets attributable to the group’s ownership interests  in the associate 4,878 4,361
effect of elimination of gain on transfer of intangible assets from the group to the 

associate to the extent of the group’s interest therein (3,815) (4,360)

carrying amount of the group’s interest in the associate 1,063 1
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18. avaiLaBLE-for-saLE iNvEstmENts

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

available-for-sale investments comprise:

equity securities listed in hong kong measured at fair value 67,060 — 
unlisted equity securities, at cost less impairment (note i) 33,812 33,812
investment in trust fund, at fair value (note ii) 50,006 50,004

150,878 83,816

notes:

(i) amount represents unlisted equity securities issued by private entities established in the Prc. they are measured at cost less impairment at the 

end of the reporting period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the directors of the company are of the 

opinion that the fair value cannot be measured reliably.

(ii) amount represents investment in a trust fund made by the group through a security house. the trust fund invested in ranges of debt instrument 

products which were generally government bonds and corporate loans.

19. othEr NoN-currENt assEts

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

life insurance products (note i) 36,096 33,808
consideration receivable for disposal of a subsidiary (note ii) 21,000 21,000
deposit paid for purchase of a piece of land — 13,600
deposit paid for purchase of certain properties 3,042 93,703

60,138 162,111

notes:

(i) in prior years, the company entered into two life insurance policies (“Policy a” and “Policy B”) with an insurance company to insure two executive 

directors. under these policies, the beneficiary and policy holder is the company. the company is required to pay an upfront payment for each 

policy. the company may request a partial surrender or full surrender of the policy at any time and receive cash back based on the value of the 

policy at the date of withdrawal, which is determined by the gross premium paid at inception plus accumulated guaranteed interest earned and 

minus insurance premium charged (the “cash value”). if such withdrawal is made at any time during the first to the fifteen or eighteenth policy 

year, as appropriates, a pre-determined specified surrender charge would be imposed on the company.
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19. othEr NoN-currENt assEts (continued)

notes: (continued)

(i) (continued)

at the inception dates, the upfront payment is separated into deposit placed and prepayment of life insurance premium. the prepayment of life 

insurance premium is amortised to profit or loss over the insured period and the deposit placed is carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method. the insurance company will pay the company guaranteed interest rates plus a premium determined by the insurance company 

during the tenures of these policies. the effective interest rate on initial recognition was determined by discounting the estimated future cash 

receipts through the expected life of the insurance policies, excluding the financial effect of surrender charge.

Particulars of the policies are as follows:

Guaranteed interest rates

Policy Insured sum Upfront payment First year

Second year

and onward

Policy a us$7,557,000 (equivalent to 

rMB49,005,000)

us$3,421,000 (equivalent to 

rMB21,762,000)

4.25%

per annum

3%

per annum

Policy B us$10,000,000 (equivalent to 

rMB60,961,000)

us$1,771,000 (equivalent to 

rMB10,799,000)

4%

per annum

2%

per annum

the carrying amount of the life insurance products as at 31 december 2016 approximates the cash value of the insurance policies and the 

expected life of the policies remained unchanged from the initial recognition. the entire balance of the life insurance policies is denominated in 

united states dollar (“usd”), being a currency other than the functional currency of the relevant group entities.

(ii) the balance carries fixed interest of 6.4% per annum, and is repayable in June 2018. a piece of land has been pledged to the group until the full 

settlement of this balance, and the group is not permitted to sell the asset in absence of default of the acquirer.

20. iNvENtoriEs

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

raw materials 124,112 162,631
Work in progress 84,907 72,756
finished goods 135,056 98,717

344,075 334,104
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21. traDE aND othEr rEcEivaBLEs

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

trade and bills receivables, gross 2,562,979 2,317,539 
less: allowance for doubtful debts (note i) (19,692) (19,692)

trade and bills receivables, net (note ii) 2,543,287 2,297,847
retentions held by trade customers (note iii) 284,397 215,535
deposits and prepayments 254,094 195,794
other receivables (note iv) 178,986 90,990

3,260,764 2,800,166

notes:

(i) the entire balance of the allowance for doubtful debts as at 31 december 2015 and 2016 are individually impaired trade receivables which are in 

severe financial difficulties. Movements in the provision for impairment of trade and bills receivables are as follows:

rMB’000

at 1 January 2015, 31 december 2015 and 31 december 2016 19,692

(ii) included in the group’s trade receivable is trade balance with an associate of rMB27,532,000 (2015: rMB93,035,000). due to the nature of 

business, the settlement terms of trade receivables are based on the achievement of certain milestones of each sales transaction, and 

accordingly, the group generally allows credit periods ranging from 90 days to 365 days to its trade customers, except for certain customers, the 

credit periods may beyond 365 days. the following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts, 

presented based on the revenue recognition dates at the end of the reporting period:

2016 2015

rmB’000 rMB’000

0–90 days 1,430,510 1,675,389

91–180 days 277,667 204,873

181–365 days 345,692 321,461

over 1 year 489,418 96,124

2,543,287 2,297,847

Before accepting any new customer, the group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. limits 

attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. 93% (2015: 95%) of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have good credit 

rating.
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21. traDE aND othEr rEcEivaBLEs (continued)

notes (continued)

(ii)  (continued)

included in the group’s trade receivable balances are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of rMB178,050,000 (2015: rMB111,456,000) 

which are past due at the end of the reporting period for which the group has not provided for impairment loss. the directors consider no 

deterioration in credit qualities of these debtors and the settlements after the end of the reporting period from those debtors are satisfactory, the 

directors conclude that no provision for impairment loss is required. the group does not hold any collateral over these balances. the average 

age of these receivables is approximately 495 days (2015: 401 days).

ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired is as follows:

2016 2015

rmB’000 rMB’000

days overdue:

0–90 days 117,393 59,693

91–180 days 14,377 16,949

181–365 days 10,351 6,349

over 1 year 35,929 28,465

178,050 111,456

the group estimates the future discounted cash flows of those receivables with whom the group has ceased business over two years and 

considered such receivables are generally not recoverable based on historical experience.

the group’s trade and other receivables denominated in currencies other than functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out as 

follows:

2016 2015

rmB’000 rMB’000

hong kong dollars (“hkd”) 124 124

usd 234,289 50,430

(iii) included in the retentions held by trade customers is an aggregate amount of rMB96,510,000 (2015: rMB78,058,000) that is expected to be 

realised after twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

(iv) the balance includes (i) value-added-tax receivables of rMB65,818,000 (2015: rMB14,094,000) and (ii) an amount of rMB9,681,000 (2015: 

rMB9,681,000) due from an associate arising from the transferring of certain intangible assets during the year ended 31 december 2014. the 

amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest free and is expected to be repaid within one year.
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22. LoaN rEcEivaBLEs

2016 and 2015
rMB’000

fixed-rate loan receivables 205,000

the amounts represent short-term loans advanced by the group to certain independent third parties under entrusted 
loan contracts. during the year ended 31 december 2016, the maturity day of the amounts of rMB100,000,000 and 
rMB105,000,000 have been extended to september 2017 and october 2017, respectively. during the year ended 31 
december 2015, an amount of rMB105,000,000 (2016: nil) has been settled, and new loans of rMB105,000,000 (2016: 
nil) was arranged with the same borrowers.

these entrusted loans carry fixed interests at 12% (2015: 12%) per annum and are repayable within twelve months 
from the end of the reporting period.

certain land and buildings of the borrowers have been pledged to the group, and the group is not permitted to sell 
these assets in the absence of default of the borrowers. as at 31 december 2016, the fair value of the pledged assets, 
which has been assessed by the management with reference to recent market prices for similar land and buildings in 
similar locations and conditions, is greater than the respective loan balances. the pledge will be released upon 
settlement of the relevant loans.

23. pLEDGED BaNK DEposits/BaNK BaLaNcEs aND cash

(a) pledged bank deposits

the pledged bank deposits are pledged to banks to secure credit facilities granted to the group. the deposits 
were pledged to secure bills payables and short-term bank borrowings and are therefore classified as current 
assets. the deposits carry fixed interest rate ranging from 0.35% to 2.20% (2015: 0.35% to 2.55%) per annum 
and will be released upon settlement of the relevant borrowings.

(b) Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the group and bank balances that carry interest rates ranging 
from 0.01% to 1.15% (2015: 0.01% to 1.15%) per annum and have original maturity of three months or less, 
except for an amount of rMB150,000,000 (2015: rMB150,000,000) representing short-term bank deposits with 
maturity of more than three months and carrying interest of market rate ranging from 2.20% to 2.40% (2015: 
2.84%) per annum.
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23. pLEDGED BaNK DEposits/BaNK BaLaNcEs aND cash (continued)

(b) Bank balances and cash (continued)

the group’s bank balances and cash denominated in currencies other than functional currency of the relevant 
group entities are set out as follows:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

hkd 11,611 80,000
usd 214,685 218,521

24. traDE aND othEr payaBLEs

the following is an aged analysis of trade and bills payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the 
reporting period:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

trade and bills payables
0–90 days 1,413,624 1,470,814
91–180 days 460,745 333,313
181–365 days 87,320 39,305
over 1 year 38,834 37,901

2,000,523 1,881,333
other payables (note) 165,618 245,787
consideration payable on acquisition of a subsidiary (note 28(i)) — 6,400

2,166,141 2,133,520

note: included in the balance is an amount of rMB1,035,000 (2015: rMB229,000) due to an associate. the amount is non-trade in nature, unsecured, 

interest free and is repayable on demand.
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24. traDE aND othEr payaBLEs (continued)

the group’s trade and other payables denominated in currency other than functional currency of the relevant group 
entities are set out as follows:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

hkd 11,031 3,704

25. BorroWiNGs

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

unsecured bank loans and trust receipt loans 1,095,274 877,087

the group’s borrowings are repayable based on repayment schedules as follows:

2016 2015
fixed-rate

borrowings
floating-rate

borrowings total
fixed-rate

borrowings
floating-rate

borrowings total
rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000

Within one year 282,496 250,471 532,967 189,960 110,879 300,839
More than one year, but not 

exceeding two years 27,000 389,729 416,729 — 260,368 260,368
More than two years, but not 

exceeding five years — 145,578 145,578 — 315,880 315,880

309,496 785,778 1,095,274 189,960 687,127 877,087
less: amounts due within one  

  year shown under  
  current liabilities (282,496) (250,471) (532,967) (189,960) (110,879) (300,839)

amounts due after one year 27,000 535,307 562,307 — 576,248 576,248
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25. BorroWiNGs (continued)

the variable-rate borrowings carry interest at either the benchmark lending rate offered by the People’s Bank of china 
or london interbank offered rate plus certain percentages. the ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal 
to contracted interest rates) on the group’s borrowings are as follows:

2016 2015

effective interest rate:
fixed-rate borrowings 2.65% to 4.35% per annum 3.15% to 4.35% per annum
variable-rate borrowings 2.02% to 4.35% per annum 1.44% to 4.00% per annum

at 31 december 2016, borrowings of the group amounting to rMB10,257,000 (2015: rMB118,356,000) were 
denominated in usd, being a currency other than the functional currency of the relevant group entities.

at the end of the reporting period, the group has the following undrawn short-term borrowing facilities:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

expiring within one year 2,222,129 1,132,949
expiring over one year 161,810 45,912

2,383,939 1,178,861
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26. sharE capitaL of thE compaNy

ordinary shares of hk$0.01 each:

Number
of shares

Nominal
value

hk$’000

Authorised
at 1 January 2015, 31 december 2015 and 31 december 2016 100,000,000,000 1,000,000

Number
of shares

Nominal
value

rMB’000

Issued and fully paid
at 1 January 2015 951,851,675 9,588
issue of shares upon exercise of share options (note i) 30,000 1
issue of shares upon subscription of shares (notes ii and iii) 75,000,000 591

at 31 december 2015 1,026,881,675 10,180
share repurchased and cancelled (note iv) (12,000,000) (102)

at 31 december 2016 1,014,881,675 10,078

notes:

(i) during the year ended 31 december 2015, 30,000 (2016: nil) ordinary shares of hk$0.01 each in the company were issued upon the exercise 

of share options under the share option scheme of the company as set out in note 31 with proceeds of approximately hk$96,000 (equivalent to 

approximately rMB77,000) (2016: nil).

(ii) on 5 May 2015, the company entered into a subscription agreement with star treasure investments holdings limited (“star treasure”), the 

immediate and ultimate holding company of the company, pursuant to which star treasure agreed to subscribe 61,000,000 new ordinary shares 

of the company at a price of hk$10.80 per share. the total subscription price of hk$658,800,000 (equivalent to rMB519,661,000) was received 

in May 2015. the new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

(iii) on 1 June 2015, the company entered into a subscription agreement with an independent financial institution pursuant to which the financial 

institution agreed to subscribe 14,000,000 new ordinary shares of the company at a price of hk$10.80 per share. the total subscription price of 

hk$151,200,000 (equivalent to rMB119,267,000) was received in June 2015. the new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all 

respects.
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26. sharE capitaL of thE compaNy (continued)

notes: (continued)

(iv) during the year ended 31 december 2016, the company repurchased its own shares through the stock exchange as follows:

Month of

repurchase

Number of

ordinary shares

of HK$0.01

each of the

Company

Aggregate

consideration paid

Price per share 

Highest Lowest

hk$ hk$ rMB’000

february 2016 6,000,000 4.09 3.13 17,244

april 2016 4,000,000 4.08 3.91 13,603

May 2016 2,000,000 3.95 3.89 6,636

12,000,000 37,483

the above ordinary shares were cancelled upon repurchase.

none of the company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the company’s listed securities during the year.
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27. DEfErrED taxatioN

the following is the deferred tax liability recognised by the group and movements thereon during the current and prior 
years:

Fair value adjustments of 
intangible assets on 

business combinations
rMB’000

at 1 January 2015 20,127
credit to profit or loss

— release upon amortisation of intangible assets (1,664)

at 31 december 2015 18,463
credit to profit or loss

— release upon amortisation of intangible assets (1,317)

at 31 december 2016 17,146

as at 31 december 2016, the group had unused tax losses of rMB112,136,000 (2015: rMB140,375,000). no 
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of any of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit 
streams. the tax losses may be carried forward for a period of five years from the respective year of assessment.

under the eit law of the Prc, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the 
Prc subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated 
financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the Prc subsidiaries 
amounting to approximately rMB1,807 million (2015: rMB1,612 million) as the group is able to control the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

there was no other significant unprovided deferred taxation for the year or at the end of the reporting period.
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28. acQuisitioN of a suBsiDiary

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Acquisition of Hunan Lineng Technology Co., Ltd. (“Lineng Technology”)
on 28 January 2015, the group completed its acquisition of a 64% equity interest in lineng technology from an 
independent third party at a consideration of rMB6,400,000. lineng technology is principally engaged in 
manufacturing, developing and selling energy saving devices that are used in power stations and oil rigs. the group 
obtained control on the date of completion of the acquisition which has been accounted for using the purchase 
method.

on 5 august 2015, the group further acquired from the non-controlling interests for the remaining 36% equity interest 
in lineng technology at a consideration of rMB3,600,000. the group accounts for changes in the ownership interests 
in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the group losing control over those subsidiaries as equity transaction as 
detailed in note (v) of the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Lineng
Technology

rMB’000

Consideration transferred:
consideration payable (note i) 6,400

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition:
Property, plant and equipment 654
inventories 2,050
trade and other receivables (note ii) 11,745
Bank balances and cash 2,468
trade and other payables (11,007)

5,910

Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note iii)
consideration 6,400
Plus: non-controlling interests (note iv) 2,128
less: net assets acquired (5,910)

2,618

Cash inflow arising from the acquisition
Bank balances and cash acquired (2,468)
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28. acQuisitioN of a suBsiDiary (continued)

notes:

(i) the consideration payable was settled during the year ended 31 december 2016.

(ii) the fair values of trade and other receivables at the date of acquisition are the same as their gross contractual amounts at the same date.

(iii) goodwill mainly attributable to the difference between the fair values of the considerations plus non-controlling interests and the underlying assets 

and liabilities acquired, because the considerations paid for the combination effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected 

synergies arising from revenue growth and future market development of the targets. these benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill 

because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

(iv) the non-controlling interest recognised at the acquisition date were measured with reference to the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share 

of fair values of the net assets at that date.

(v) the aggregate acquisition-related costs amounting to rMB246,000 have been excluded from the consideration transferred and have been 

recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 december 2015, within the administrative expenses line item in the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

the directors of the company are of the opinion that the subsidiary acquired during the year ended 31 december 2015 
had no significant contribution to the group’s revenue or results for that year.

29. DisposaL of a suBsiDiary

on 13 september 2016, the group completed the disposal of 100% of the equity interest in lineng technology to an 
independent third party for a consideration of rMB10,000,000 for the future development strategy of the group.

the net assets of lineng technology at the date on which control was lost were as follows:

rMB’000

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment 28
goodwill 2,618
inventories 2,787
trade and other receivables 3,761
Bank balances and cash 1,346
trade and other payables (1,280)

net assets disposed of 9,260

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:
consideration received 10,000
net assets disposed of (9,260)

gain on disposal 740

Cash outflow arising from the disposal
Bank balances and cash disposed of (1,346)
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30. rELatED party DiscLosurEs

(a) transaction

Relationship Transaction 2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

an associate sales of goods by the group 29,226 96,283
consultancy fee paid by the group — 9,381
rental income received by the group 474 549

(b) Balances

Particulars of amounts due from related parties other than an associate were as follows:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

companies beneficially owned and controlled by certain directors of  
the company — 20,956

the amounts were unsecured, interest-free and fully settled during the year.

the balances with an associate as at 31 december 2016 and 2015 are set out in notes 21 and 24.

(c) the remuneration of key management (including the directors) during the year were as follows:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

short-term benefits 6,132 5,353
retirement benefit scheme contributions 146 144

6,278 5,497

the remuneration of key management is determined by the remuneration committee of the company having 
regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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31. sharE-BasED paymENt traNsactioNs

share option scheme

the company’s share option scheme (the “scheme”) was adopted for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards 
to eligible participants for their contribution to the group and/or to enable the group to recruit and retain high-calibre 
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the group and any entity in which the group holds any 
equity interest (“invested entity”). eligible participants of the scheme include directors and employees of the company, 
its subsidiaries or any invested entity, suppliers and customers of the group or any invested entity, any person or 
entity that provides research, development or other technological support to the group or any invested entity, and any 
shareholder of any members of the group or any invested entity or any holder of any securities issued by any members 
of the group or any invested entity. the scheme became effective on 26 november 2005 and, unless otherwise 
terminated or amended, will remain in force for 10 years.

the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the scheme 
and any other share option schemes of the group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the company’s shares in 
issue as at the first date of listing. the limit may be increased to 10% of the then issued share capital of the company 
from time to time upon shareholders’ approval at a general meeting of the shareholders. the maximum number of 
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the 
scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by the group shall not exceed such number of company’s 
shares as equal to 30% of the issued share capital of the company from time to time. the number of shares in respect 
of which options may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the 
company in issue at any point in time unless prior approval has been obtained from the company’s shareholders. 
options granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the 
company’s share capital or with a value in excess of hk$5 million must be approved in advance by the company’s 
shareholders.

options granted must be taken up within 30 days of the date of grant, upon payment of hk$1 per option. options may 
be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant. there is 
no minimum period for which an option must be held before the exercise of the subscription right attaching hereto 
except otherwise imposed by the board of directors. the exercise price is specified in the rules governing the share 
option scheme and shall not be lower than the highest of the official closing price of the ordinary shares of the 
company on the stock exchange on the date of the offer of grant of options, the average of the official closing price of 
the ordinary shares on the stock exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the grant of the 
options and the nominal value of an ordinary share of the company.

as at 31 december 2016, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained 
outstanding under the scheme was 18,000,000 (2015: 18,000,000), representing approximately 1.8% (2015: 1.8%) of 
the then issued share capital of the company.
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31. sharE-BasED paymENt traNsactioNs (continued)

share option scheme (continued)

the following table discloses movements of the company’s share options held by directors, employees and 
consultants during the current and prior year under the scheme:

Category

Date of 

grant

Vesting 

period

Exercisable 

period

Exercise

price

Outstanding 

at 1.1.2015

Exercised

during

the year

Outstanding 

at 31.12.2015

Exercise

during

the year

Outstanding 

at 31.12.2016

hk$

employees/

consultants

7.2.2007 7.2.2007 to 

6.2.2009

7.2.2009 to 

6.2.2017

3.200 30,000 (30,000) — — — 

10.2.2014 10.2.2014 to 

9.2.2016

10.2.2016 to 

9.2.2024

4.680 9,000,000 — 9,000,000 — 9,000,000

10.2.2014 10.2.2014 to 

9.2.2016

10.2.2017 to 

9.2.2024

4.680 9,000,000 — 9,000,000 — 9,000,000

total 18,030,000 (30,000) 18,000,000 — 18,000,000

exercisable at year end 30,000 — 9,000,000

Weighted average  

exercise price (hk$)

4.680 3.200 4.680 n/a 4.680

for the year ended 31 december 2015, the weighted average closing price of the company’s shares immediately 
before the dates on which the options were exercised was hk$11.98 (2016: n/a).

share-based payment expenses amounted to rMB5,816,000 (2015: rMB11,461,000) has been recognised in profit 
or loss for the year ended 31 december 2016.
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31. sharE-BasED paymENt traNsactioNs (continued)

share award scheme

the company’s share award scheme (the “share award scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 3 
May 2016. Pursuant to the share award scheme under which eligible employees are entitled to participate. the 
purpose of the share award scheme is to recognise the contributions by certain employees and to provide them with 
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the group and also to attract suitable 
personnel for further development of the group. the share award scheme became effective on 3 May 2016 and, 
unless otherwise terminated or amended, will remain in force for 10 years.

the share award scheme is operated through a trustee which is independent of the group and has the right to, 
among other conditions, in its sole discretion, determine whether the shares are to be purchased on or off the stock 
exchange from time to time, unless during the year at which the directors of the company are prohibited by the listing 
rules or any corresponding codes or securities dealing restrictions adopted by the company. in any given financial 
year of the company, the maximum number of shares to be purchased by the trustee for the purpose of the share 
award scheme shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares as at the beginning of that financial year.

the directors would notify the trustee of the share award scheme in writing upon the making of any award to any 
participants. upon the receipt of such notice, the trustee would set aside the appropriate number of awarded shares in 
the pool of shares. no new shares would be allotted and issued to satisfy the awards made under the share award 
scheme.

during the year ended 31 december 2016, 7,500,000 ordinary shares of the company have been acquired at an 
aggregate cost of hk$29,681,000 (equivalent to rMB25,119,000). as at 31 december 2016, no participant has been 
awarded any share under the share award scheme.
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32. capitaL risK maNaGEmENt

the group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. the group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

the capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 25 and equity 
attributable to owners of the company, comprising issued share capital, various reserves and retained profits as 
disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

the directors of the company review the capital structure on a regular basis. as part of this review, the directors 
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the recommendations of the 
directors, the group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and 
share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

33. fiNaNciaL iNstrumENts

(a) categories of financial instruments

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

Financial assets
Loans and receivables:

amounts due from related parties — 20,956
other non-current assets 55,318 53,144
trade and other receivables 2,932,947 2,588,044
loan receivables 205,000 205,000
Pledged bank deposits 183,297 241,489
Bank balances and cash 940,016 1,171,836

4,316,578 4,280,469

Available-for-sale financial assets:
available-for-sale investments 150,878 83,816

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

trade and other payables 2,074,059 1,964,125
Borrowings 1,095,274 877,087

3,169,333 2,841,212
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33. fiNaNciaL iNstrumENts (continued)

(b) financial risk management objectives and policies

the group’s major financial instruments include available-for-sale investments, the deposit component of the life 
insurance products, consideration receivable for disposal of a subsidiary, amounts due from related parties, trade 
and other receivables, loan receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other 
payables and borrowings. details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. the risks 
associated with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and equity price 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. the management 
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and 
effective manner. there has been no change to the policies on how to mitigate these risks.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

the group mainly operates in the Prc with most of the transactions denominated and settled in rMB, the 
functional currency of the relevant group entities. certain entities in the group have foreign currencies 
transactions, trade and other receivables, life insurance products, bank balances and cash, trade and other 
payables and borrowings which expose the group to foreign currency risk.

the carrying amounts of the group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2016 2015 2016 2015

rmB’000 rMB’000 rmB’000 rMB’000

hkd 11,736 80,124 11,031 3,704
usd 483,293 297,461 10,257 118,356

495,029 377,585 21,288 122,060

one of the group’s subsidiaries, gam sheng Macao commercial offshore limited, of which its functional 
currency is usd, has an aggregate amount of intra-group balances of rMB9,634,000 (2015: 
rMB49,397,000) which are denominated in rMB as at 31 december 2016.
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33. fiNaNciaL iNstrumENts (continued)

(b) financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)

sensitivity analysis
the group’s foreign currency risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of hkd and usd.

the following table details the group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in rMB against the 
relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used which represents management’s assessment of 
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. the sensitivity analysis adjusts their translation 
at the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. a (negative) positive number 
below indicates a (decrease) increase in profit where rMB strengthen 5% against the relevant foreign 
currencies. for a 5% weakening of rMB against the relevant foreign currencies, there would be an equal 
and opposite impact on the profit for the year.

HKD USD
2016 2015 2016 2015

rmB’000 rMB’000 rmB’000 rMB’000

decrease in post-tax profit  
for the year (35) (3,821) (17,739) (6,717)

in management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk 
as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(ii) Interest rate risk
the group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances (see note 
23(b)) and floating-rate borrowings (see note 25). Management monitors interest rate exposure and will 
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

the group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to consideration receivable for disposal 
of a subsidiary (see note 19), fixed-rate loan receivables (see note 22), pledged bank deposits (see note 
23(a)) and fixed-rate borrowings (see note 25).

the group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management 
section of this note.

the group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the benchmark lending 
rate offered by the People’s Bank of china and london interbank offered rate arising from the group’s 
bank balances, rMB borrowings and usd borrowings.
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33. fiNaNciaL iNstrumENts (continued)

(b) financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)

sensitivity analysis
the sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates of bank 
balances and borrowings. the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the outstanding at the end of 
the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. a 10 basis points (2015: 10 basis points) increase 
or decrease for bank balances and 50 basis points (2015: 50 basis points) for borrowings are used and 
represent management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates for the year 
ended 31 december 2016.

if interest rates had been 10 or 50 basis points higher/lower, as appropriate, and all other variables were 
held constant, the group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 december 2016 would decrease/increase 
by rMB2,869,000 (2015: rMB1,768,000). this is mainly attributable to the group’s exposure to interest 
rates on its bank balances and floating-rate borrowings.

(iii) Equity price risk
the group is exposed to equity price risk through its equity securities listed in hong kong and investment 
in trust fund, which are accounted for as available-for-sale investments (see note 18). the group’s equity 
price risk is mainly concentrated on equity instrument which operates in the public utility service provider 
industry sector quoted on the stock exchange and the underlying debt securities of the trust fund. the 
management is closely monitoring the equity price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure should 
the need arise.

sensitivity analyses
the sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end 
of the reporting period. for the year ended 31 december 2016, if the prices of the equity instrument and 
unlisted trust fund had been 5% higher/lower, investment revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by 
rMB5,853,000 (2015: rMB2,500,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of the equity instrument and 
unlisted trust fund held by the group. in the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is 
unrepresentative of the inherent equity price risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure 
during the year.
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33. fiNaNciaL iNstrumENts (continued)

(b) financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk
as at 31 december 2016, the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the 
group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties provided by the group is arising from the 
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

in order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other procedures (including frequent communication with 
customers for monitoring the progress towards each milestone for debt collection) to ensure that follow-up action 
is taken to recover overdue debts. in addition, the group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade 
and other debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for 
irrecoverable amounts. in this regard, the directors of the company consider that the group’s credit risk is 
significantly reduced.

the credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with good reputation.

the group has concentration of credit risk on liquid funds, which are deposited with several banks with good 
reputation. the loan receivables disclosed in note 22 are also concentrated in certain independent third parties, 
and the directors consider the credit risk is significantly reduced as the amounts are pledged by certain assets of 
the borrowers. as at 31 december 2015, the group also had concentration of credit risk on amounts due from 
related parties as the amounts were due from a limited number of related parties. other than the above, the 
group does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk.

the group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the Prc, which accounted for 
91% (2015: 98%) of the total trade receivables at the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity risk
in management of the liquidity risk, the group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
considered adequate by the management to finance the group’s operations and mitigate the effects of 
fluctuations in cash flows. the management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance with 
loan covenants.
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33. fiNaNciaL iNstrumENts (continued)

(b) financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
the following table details the group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on the 
agreed repayment terms. the table for non-derivative financial liabilities has been drawn up based on the 
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the group can be required to 
pay. the table includes both interest and principal cash flows. to the extent that interest flows are floating rate, 
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity risk tables

Weighted

average

interest 

rate

Less than

90 days

91 to 180

days

181 to 365

days

1 to 2

years

2 to 5

years

total

undiscounted

cash flows

carrying

amount at

31 December

2016

rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000 rmB’000

2016

Non-derivative financial 

liabilities

trade and other 

payables — 1,445,445 451,120 137,763 39,731 — 2,074,059 2,074,059

Borrowings 3.25% 217,384 213,513 111,210 443,400 159,937 1,145,444 1,095,274

1,662,829 664,633 248,973 483,131 159,937 3,219,503 3,169,333

Weighted

average

interest rate

less than

90 days

91 to 180

days

181 to 365

days

1 to 2

years

2 to 5

years

total

undiscounted

cash flows

carrying

amount at

31 december

2015

rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000

2015

Non-derivative financial 

liabilities

trade and other 

payables — 1,553,605 333,313 39,305 37,902 — 1,964,125 1,964,125

Borrowings 2.89% 193,898 1,009 110,823 274,724 342,363 922,817 877,087

1,747,503 334,322 150,128 312,626 342,363 2,886,942 2,841,212

the amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject 
to change in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the 
reporting period.
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33. fiNaNciaL iNstrumENts (continued)

(c) fair value measurements of financial instruments

(i) Fair value of financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
some of the group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. the 
following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in 
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into 
which the fair value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3 as set out in note 3) based on the degree 
to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

in estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the group uses market-observable data to the extent it 
is available. in the level 2 fair value measurements, the group derived the inputs other than quoted prices 
included within level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, either directly or indirectly with reference 
to the market information.

set out below is the information about how the fair values of the group’s financial instruments that are 
measured at fair value are determined, including the valuation techniques and inputs used:

Fair value as at 31 December fair value
hierarchy2016 2015

rmB’000 rMB’000

Financial asset
available-for-sale investments:
equity securities listed in hong kong (note 18) 67,060 — level 1
investment in trust fund, at fair value (note 18) 50,006 50,004 level 2

the fair value of the equity securities listed in hong kong was based on quoted bid prices in an active 
market.

the fair value of the trust fund was based on the redemption price provided by the fund manager, which 
was based on net assets value of the fund.

(ii) there were no significant changes in the business or economic circumstances that affect the fair value of 
the group’s financial assets or any reclassification of financial assets in the year.

(iii) Fair value of financial instruments that are recorded at amortised cost
the directors of the company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values at the end 
of the reporting period, except for the available-for-sale investments measured at cost less impairment, of 
which the directors of the company are of the opinion that the fair value cannot be measured reliably 
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant.
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34. capitaL commitmENts

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the consolidated  
financial statements in respect of
— acquisition of property, plant and equipment 22,251 69,704
— additions of construction in progress 530 930

22,781 70,634

35. opEratiNG LEasEs

(a) the Group as lessee

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases during the year  
in respect of rented premises 6,868 8,715

at the end of the reporting period, the group has commitments for future minimum lease payments for rented 
premises under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

Within one year 4,172 5,269
in the second to fifth year inclusive 2,498 512

6,670 5,781

operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the group for certain of its premises. leases are 
negotiated for a term ranging from one to five years with fixed rentals.
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35. opEratiNG LEasEs (continued)

(b) the Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was rMB1,678,000 (2015: rMB1,235,000). certain properties 
held have committed tenants for the next three years (2015: three years).

at the end of the reporting period, the group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease 
payments:

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

Within one year 1,161 474
in the second to fifth year inclusive 2,455 869

3,616 1,343

36. rEtirEmENt BENEfit pLaNs

the employees employed in the Prc are members of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the 
Prc government. the Prc subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement 
benefit schemes to fund the benefits. the only obligation of the group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes 
is to make the required contributions under the schemes.

the group also operates a Mandatory Provident fund scheme (“MPf scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in hong 
kong. the assets of the MPf schemes are held separately from those of the group, in funds under the control of 
trustees. under the rule of the MPf scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions 
to the MPf scheme at rate specified in the rules.

the total cost of rMB18,601,000 (2015: rMB16,822,000) charged to profit or loss represents contribution paid or 
payable to the above retirement benefit plans by the group for the year.

at the end of the reporting period, the group had no significant obligation apart from the contribution as stated above.
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37. particuLars of priNcipaL suBsiDiariEs of thE compaNy

details of the company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 december 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operation

Paid up/
issued/

registered
capital

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued/registered capital
held by the Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly
2016 2015 2016 2015

oceanbase group limited Bvi/ 
hong kong

us$1,000,000 100% 100% — — investment holding

Power Well creation limited hong kong hk$2 100% 100% — — investment holding

Weisheng energy industrial technology  
co., ltd. (“Weisheng energy”) (note i)

the Prc rMB50,000,000 — — 100% 100% development, manufacturing 
and sale of energy saving 
products

changsha Weisheng  import and export 
trading company limited  
(“Weisheng import and export”) (note ii)

the Prc rMB10,000,000 — — 100% 100% trading of power meters

hunan Wasion information technology 
company limited  
(“Wasion information technology”)  
(formerly known as changsha Weisheng 
information technology company limited) 
(note i)

the Prc rMB270,000,000 — — 100% 100% development, manufacturing 
and sale of power meters, 
data collection terminals 
and related services

changsha vitae Plastic  technology co., ltd 
(“vitae”) (note iii)

the Prc rMB20,000,000 — — 100% 100% development, manufacturing 
and sale of parts of power 
meters, data collection 
terminals and related 
services

gam sheng Macao commercial  
offshore limited 

Macao MoP1,000,000 — — 100% 100% trading of electronic 
components

hunan Weike Power Meters company limited 
(“hunan Weike”) (note i)

the Prc hk$100,000,000 — — 100% 100% development, manufacturing 
and sale of power meters

hunan Weiming technology 
co., ltd. (“hunan Weiming”) (note i)

the Prc rMB50,000,000 — — 100% 100% development, manufacturing 
and sale of water, gas and 
heat meters
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37. particuLars of priNcipaL suBsiDiariEs of thE compaNy (continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

Paid up/
issued/

registered
capital

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued/registered capital
held by the Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly
2016 2015 2016 2015

Wasion electric limited (“Wasion electric”)  
(note iii)

the Prc rMB200,000,000 — — 100% 100% development, manufacturing 
and sale of smart 
distribution devices

Wasion group limited (“changsha Weisheng”) 
(note iii)

the Prc rMB1,209,900,000 
(2015: 

rMB600,000,000)

— — 100% 100% development, manufacturing 
and sale of power meters

Wasion technology shenzhen 
company limited 
(“Wasion shenzhen”) (note ii)

the Prc rMB10,000,000 — — 100% 100% trading of power meters

hunan switchgear co. ltd.  
(“hunan switchgear”) (note ii)

the Prc rMB100,000,000 — — 65% 65% development, manufacturing 
and sale of switchgears

notes:

(i) Weisheng energy, Wasion information technology, hunan Weike and hunan Weiming are sino-foreign enterprises.

(ii) Weisheng import and export, Wasion shenzhen and hunan switchgear are limited liability companies established in the Prc.

(iii) vitae, Wasion electric and changsha Weisheng are wholly foreign owned enterprises established in the Prc.

the above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results 
or assets of the group. to give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of 
excessive length.

none of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the reporting period.
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37. particuLars of priNcipaL suBsiDiariEs of thE compaNy (continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests

the table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the group that have material non-controlling 
interests:

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation and
principal place
of business

Proportion 
of ownership

interest and voting
rights held by non-
controlling interest

Profit (loss) allocated to
non-controlling interests

Accumulated
non-controlling interests

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000 rmB’000 rMB’000

hunan switchgear the Prc 35% 35% 656 329 23,302 22,646

individually immaterial  
subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests (16) (2,043) 5,793 15,766

640 (1,714) 29,095 38,412

summarised financial information in respect of the group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set 
out below. the summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Hunan Switchgear
2016 2015

rmB’000 rMB’000

current assets 165,121 131,724

non-current assets 50,217 44,913

current liabilities (146,764) (109,640)

non-current liabilities (1,815) (2,114)



Wasion Group Holdings Limited172

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINuED)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

37. particuLars of priNcipaL suBsiDiariEs of thE compaNy (continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests 
(continued)

Hunan Switchgear
2016 2015

rmB’000 rMB’000

revenue 104,577 102,615

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 1,876 1,743

Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to owners  
of the company 1,220 1,414

Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to  
the non-controlling interests 656 329

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 1,876 1,743

net cash inflow from operating activities 33,849 2,001
net cash outflow from investing activities (12,967) (571)
net cash outflow from financing activities — (3,538)

net cash inflow (outflow) 20,882 (2,108)
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38. EvENts aftEr thE rEportiNG pErioD

the following significant events took place after the reporting period:

(1) on 12 January 2017, Wasion information technology, a subsidiary of the company, has entered into two 
investment agreements with two connected persons, pursuant to which, the connected persons have agreed to 
contribute an aggregate of rMB100.44 million to subscribe for rMB40.02 million of the registered capital of 
Wasion information technology, representing an aggregate of 9% of the enlarged equity interest of Wasion 
information technology. on 13 January 2017, Wasion information technology has entered into five additional 
investment agreements with five independent investors, pursuant to which, the independent investors have 
agreed to contribute an aggregate of rMB290.26 million to subscribe for rMB115.63 million of the registered 
capital of Wasion information technology, representing 26% of the enlarged equity interest of Wasion information 
technology. upon completion of the above capital increase, Wasion information technology is held as to 65% 
by the group, and remains as a subsidiary of the group. the group accounts for this as equity transaction and 
the difference between the amounts of contribution from the two connected persons and the five independent 
investors and the carrying value of the respective non-controlling interests incurred is recorded in other reserve at 
rMB48.38 million.

(2) the company has passed an ordinary resolution in an extraordinary general meeting held on 20 March 2017 to 
acquire 50.053% of the share capital of Zhuhai Zhonghui Microelectronics co., ltd. (“Zhuhai Zhonghui”) at an 
aggregate consideration of rMB52,105,200. Zhuhai Zhonghui is a company established in the Prc which 
provides professional measurement chip, gPrs wireless module, Mcu, reset chip and other embedded 
software products mainly used in the electric energy metering and information automation area. up to the date of 
approving these consolidated financial statements, the above transaction is yet to complete.
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39. statEmENt of fiNaNciaL positioN aND rEsErvEs of thE compaNy

2016 2015
rmB’000 rMB’000

non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment — 47
investments in subsidiaries 210,612 197,262
other non-current assets 36,096 33,808

246,708 231,117

current assets
other receivables 32,197 33,777
amounts due from subsidiaries 2,610,142 2,142,114
Bank balances and cash 7,983 279,040

2,650,322 2,454,931

current liabilities
other payables 12,056 4,664
Borrowings — due within one year 248,471 108,879

260,527 113,543

net current assets 2,389,795 2,341,388

total assets less current liabilities 2,636,503 2,572,305

capital and reserves
share capital 10,078 10,180
reserves 2,156,117 2,044,077

total equity 2,157,195 2,054,257

non-current liabilities
Borrowings — due after one year 479,308 518,248

total equity and non-current liabilities 2,636,503 2,572,505
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39. statEmENt of fiNaNciaL positioN aND rEsErvEs of thE compaNy (continued)

movements in the company’s reserves

RMB’000

at 1 January 2015 1,348,133
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 253,274
shares repurchased and cancelled 638,337
transaction costs attributable to shares repurchased (15,453)
Purchase of shares under share award scheme 76
recognition of equity-settled share-based payment 11,461
dividend recognised as distribution (191,751)

at 31 december 2015 2,044,077
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 375,019
shares repurchased and cancelled (37,381)
transaction costs attributable to shares repurchased (160)
Purchase of shares under share award scheme (25,119)
recognition of equity-settled share-based payment 5,816
dividend recognised as distribution (206,135)

at 31 december 2016 2,156,117
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rEsuLts

Year ended 31 December
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rmB’000

revenue 2,452,297 2,412,343 2,811,871 2,969,033 2,607,504
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:

owners of the company 323,149 401,125 482,439 423,533 307,265
non-controlling interests — — 3,735 (1,714) 640

323,149 401,125 486,174 421,819 307,905

assEts aND LiaBiLitiEs

As at 31 December
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rMB’000 rmB’000

total assets 4,265,893 4,741,215 5,618,550 7,223,094 7,493,091
total liabilities (1,669,216) (1,868,015) (2,312,309) (3,083,522) (3,315,377)

2,596,677 2,873,200 3,306,241 4,139,572 4,177,714

equity attributable to:
owners of the company 2,596,277 2,872,800 3,245,509 4,101,160 4,148,619
non-controlling interests 400 400 60,732 38,412 29,095

2,596,677 2,873,200 3,306,241 4,139,572 4,177,714
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